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Financial Highlights
BBRE

4

The revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$292.6 million and approximately HK$316.3 million
respectively for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$114.2 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 4.2% as compared to that for
the year ended 31 March 2024 while the gross profit margin
improved from approximately 37.7% for the year ended 31
March 2024 to approximately 39.0% for the year ended 31
March 2025.

The loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company was approximately HK$6.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025, represented a decrease in loss of
approximately HK$2.2 million as compared to that for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group was
approximately HK$103.1 million as at 31 March 2025,
representing an increase of approximately HK$3.0 million as
compared to that as at 31 March 2024.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25

—= —mE =
=+—HLEFE XEEHK
= 7 Al A #292,600,0007% T &
316,300,000/ JT °

\

BHE-_ZT-_AF=-A=1T—HLHF
B AEEZENL 114,200,000
AL BREBE_F_NF=_A=1—
HIEFEEZENRDK4.2%  EF
EHBEE T _WNF=A=1+—
HIEFEMNKITTRERERHE —
T _RF=ZA=1T—"HILEFENHH
39.0% °

HE-_TE-_AF=A=+—HL1HF
E ARAEEREAERBLEFAE
B4 56,100,000 0 BHZE - &
“HMEZA=Z+—BLEERLE
18 492,200,000 T

R—_ZE_RAF=ZA=+—8"
AEERSLBESESEBEBEN A
103,100,000 7t A U &F
A=+ HZzBeskBEsEEE
B 1 /043,000,000 JT °

EEgTEREZRNEBE_T -4
FZA=1— EIJJ:EFE’JEKHHHREC’



To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
eprint Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Operating Results

The external environment of Hong Kong remain complicated.
As a result of the ongoing market downturn, the Group reported
revenue of approximately HK$292.6 million for the year ended 31
March 2025, reflecting a decrease of approximately HK$23.7 million
compared with that for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group achieved a reduction in loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company, reporting a loss of approximately HK$6.1
million for the year ended 31 March 2025. This represents an
improvement of approximately HK$2.2 million compared to the loss
of HK$8.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Prospects

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group continued
to build on its investments in advanced machinery, further
solidifying its capabilities in paper printing and digital printing. These
enhancements have enabled us to better align our offerings with
customer expectations and emerging market demands, reinforcing
our position as a trusted industry leader. Our ongoing commitment
to upgrading production facilities and embracing innovative
technologies remains a cornerstone of our strategy to drive growth
and competitiveness.

Despite persistent economic uncertainties, the Group remains
vigilant in monitoring market conditions and proactively refining its
cost and risk management policies. We are prepared to respond
swiftly to shifts in the business landscape, ensuring operational
agility and financial stability. Moving forward, management is
dedicated to fortifying our core printing businesses while optimizing
resource allocation to enhance efficiency and profitability. This
approach aims to establish a resilient and sustainable operation that
delivers long-term value.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FIERE

In addition, the Group will actively pursue new business
opportunities to diversify revenue streams and unlock greater
growth potential. Our focus remains on accelerating business
development, fostering innovation, and maximizing returns for
shareholders. By combining disciplined execution with strategic
vision, we aspire to lead the Group toward a future of consistent
growth, strong performance, and enduring success, creating stable
and growing value for our shareholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | extend our heartfelt
appreciation to our shareholders, customers, and business partners
for their unwavering trust and steadfast support throughout the
year. | also wish to express my deep gratitude to our dedicated
management team and staff, whose hard work, loyalty, and talent
have been instrumental in driving our progress. Their commitment
and invaluable contributions continue to shape a bright future for
the Group, and for that, we are truly thankful.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of printing services to
a diversified customer base in Hong Kong. The Group is also
engaged in the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound
books and stationeries as well as yacht financing.

The Board presents to its shareholders (the “Shareholders”) the
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31
March 2025 and currently, the Group is principally engaged in
three business segments, paper printing business, banner printing
business and yacht financing business.

Paper printing business

For the paper printing segment, the revenue was mainly derived
from the brand “e-print”. e-print provides a wide range of paper
printing products including leaflets, booklets, business cards,
stationery, etc.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the revenue of the
Group’s paper printing segment were approximately HK$197.6
million and approximately HK$223.6 million respectively.

Banner printing business

For the Group’s banner printing segment, the revenue was mainly
derived from the brand “e-banner”. e-banner provides a large
number of digital printing products, roll-up banners, mountings
(foamboard, PVC board and hollow board, etc.), stickers, posters,
flags, promotional tables, outdoor banners etc.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group recorded
revenue from banner printing business of approximately HK$90.3
million and approximately HK$92.7 million respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R am MO

Business Review (continueq)

Yacht financing business

For the segment of yacht financing, the Group generated revenue
from the provision of financing of yacht to commercial and personal
customers.

The revenue from yacht financing segment for the year ended 31
March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$4.7 million.

Materials events occurred during the
reporting period

The Group also conducted the following transactions in the ordinary
and usual course of business during the year ended 31 March
2025:

Acquisition of Properties

On 21 March 2024, Kimley Technology (HK) Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser (the
“Purchaser”) and Blissful Sky Holdings Company Limited, as vendor
(the “Vendor”) entered into a purchase agreement, pursuant to
which, the Purchaser agreed to purchase and the Vendor agreed
to sell a property located at Unit H4, 3rd Floor, Block 4, Kwun Tong
Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-446 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong (“Property 1”) at a consideration of HK$9,156,000.

In addition, on 2 April 2024, the Purchaser and the Vendor had
entered into a provisional agreement, pursuant to which, the
Purchaser agreed to purchase and the Vendor agreed to sell a
property at Unit J4, 3rd Floor, Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-446 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong (“Property
2”) at a consideration of HK$10,404,000.

The acquisition of the Property 1 and Property 2 had already
been completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the respective agreements. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 2 April 2024.
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Materials events occurred during the
reporting period (continued)

Capital Injection into Top Success BVI

On 17 May 2024, E-Boss Co., Limited (“E-Boss”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, applied for the
subscription of 290,000 new shares in Top Success Investment
Group Limited (“Top Success BVI"), at a consideration of
HK$14,500,000, representing 72.5% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Top Success BVI whereas the other two shareholders
of Top Success BVI also applied for the subscription of 60,000
new shares and 10,000 new shares in Top Success BVI at the
respective consideration of HK$3,000,000 and HK$500,000,
representing 15.0% and 2.5% of the enlarged issued share capital
of Top Success BVI, respectively (the “Capital Injection”). Upon
completion of the Capital Injection, Top Success BVI is held as to
77.5% by E-Boss and becomes a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.

On the same date, E-Boss with the other two shareholders of Top
Success BVI entered into a shareholders agreement to set out the
rights and obligations of the shareholders of Top Success BVI which
became effective upon the completion of the Capital Injection.

The Capital Injection constituted a discloseable transaction on the
part of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 17 May 2024.

Extension of Shareholders’ Loan

On 12 September 2024, Yacht Easy International Limited, a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Top Success BVI, on behalf
of Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) Limited (“Top Success
HK”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Top Success BVI has
repaid HK$7,000,000 to E-Boss as the partial early repayment
of the shareholder’s loan in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$30,000,000 (the “Shareholder’s Loan”) advanced by E-Boss to
Top Success HK pursuant to the shareholder loan agreement dated
17 March 2020 (as amended by the supplemental agreement dated
17 May 2024) entered into between E-Boss and Top Success HK
(the “Early Repayment”). After the Early Repayment, the outstanding
principal amount of the Shareholder’s Loan was HK$15,000,000,
which would be due for repayment between July 2025 to
December 2025 based on the actual drawdown date of respective
parts of the Shareholder’s Loan. Upon the Early Repayment, the
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Cheng Hiu Man, Elliott, a
shareholder of Top Success BVI, in favour of E-Boss as security of
the Shareholder’s Loan has been released.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R am MO

Materials events occurred during the
reporting period (continueq)

Extension of Shareholders’ Loan (continuea)

On 17 September 2024, E-Boss and Top Success HK entered into
a supplemental shareholder loan agreement, pursuant to which the
parties agreed to, among others, extend the maturity date of the
Shareholder’s Loan in the principal amount of HK$15,000,000 for
five years with effect from 17 September 2024.

For further details of the extension of Shareholder’s Loan, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 September
2024.

Outlook

As we progress beyond 31 March 2025, the macroeconomic
environment remains complex. Despite recovery momentum
creating opportunities, persistent uncertainties demand adaptability
and proactive strategies. The Group remains committed to
advancing its core strengths by investing in state-of-the-art
printing production facilities and innovative technology. These
enhancements are designed to meet evolving customer demands
and align with market trends, particularly in the paper printing
and digital printing sectors. Leveraging the permanent properties
acquired in recent years, the Group is well-positioned to expand its
operational capacity, to maintain a competitive edge in the industry.

Looking ahead, the Group will prioritize operational efficiency and
resource optimization to navigate the challenges of rising costs and
competitive pressures. By implementing robust cost management
strategies and refining our operation processes, we aim to ensure
operational resilience and sustained margin improvement. By
balancing innovation with fiscal discipline, the Group is well-
prepared to navigate the complexities of the coming year and seize
opportunities for growth in the printing industry.
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Financial Review

Revenue

The revenue was mainly generated from provision of printing
services from paper printing business and banner printing business.
The Group’s revenue decreased approximately 7.5% from
approximately HK$316.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
to approximately HK$292.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$114.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 4.2% as compared to that for the year ended 31
March 2024. Although the revenue dropped, the gross profit margin
of the Group improved from approximately 37.7% for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to approximately 39.0% for the year ended
31 March 2025 which was mainly attributable by the cost control
measures implemented by the Group.

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly consisted of sales of scrap
materials. The Group’s other income decreased from approximately
HK$5.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$4.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2025, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$1.0 million.

Other gains/(losses) — net

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group reported a net
gain of approximately HK$0.4 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$6.6 million as compared to the loss of
approximately HK$6.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The significant increase in amount was mainly attributable to the
turnaround from loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$4.4 million to a gain for the year ended 31
March 2025 and the fair value gain recognised on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1.7 million.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R am MO

Financial Review continveq)

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of employee
benefits expenses, handling charges for electronic payments,
and depreciation of right-of-use assets. Selling and distribution
expenses remained stable at approximately HK$32.6 million during
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included employee benefits
expenses and outsourced customer support expenses. For the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group reported the
administrative expenses of approximately HK$90.8 million and
approximately HK$92.0 million respectively. The decrease in
expenses of approximately HK$1.2 million was mainly due to the
decrease in employee benefits expenses by approximately HK$1.5
million.

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from the other financial assets at amortised cost and bank interest
income. The amount significantly decreased by approximately
HK$3.3 million which was mainly due to the material decrease in
interest income from other financial assets at amortised cost and
fixed deposits. Since the Group further acquired Top Success BVI
by way of the Capital Injection on 17 May 2024, the Group has
not recorded the interest income from other financial assets at
amortised cost from Top Success BVI in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, and therefore the interest income from
other financial assets at amortised cost decreased as compared
with the last year.

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings and interest expenses on lease liabilities. Finance costs
remained stable at approximately HK$3.5 million for both years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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Financial Review continveq)

Share of loss of an associate

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had one associate in
Hong Kong which is Step Wise Limited.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group recorded
the share of loss of an associate of approximately HK$78,000 and
approximately HK$199,000 respectively.

Share of profits of joint ventures

Share of profits of joint ventures represented the share of results of
the Group’s joint ventures.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had one joint venture in Malaysia,
namely e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong, namely
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and Top Success Investment Group
Limited respectively.

The Group recorded the share of profits of joint ventures for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 in the amount of
approximately HK$1.6 million and approximately HK$1.2 million
respectively.

Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the
Company

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately HK$6.1
million, representing a decrease in loss of approximately HK$2.2
million.
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Financial Review continveq)

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank balances and cash was
approximately HK$103.1 million, represented an increase of
approximately HK$3.0 million when compared with that as at 31
March 2024.

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the financial ratios of the
Group were as follows:

Current ratio @ TR R

Gearing ratio @ BEBEL X

Notes:

(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total current
liabilities.

) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank borrowings and leases liabilities
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.

Borrowings

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s total bank
borrowings balance amounted to approximately HK$71.1 million
and approximately HK$41.0 million respectively, representing an
increase in bank borrowings by approximately HK$30.1 million
which was mainly arising from the mortgage loans of the new
properties acquired during the year by the Group.

All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong Kong. No
financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were
there any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.
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Financial Review continveq)

Treasury Policy

The Group has always pursued a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy
liquidity position throughout the year. The Group closely and actively
manages its liquidity position with sufficient standby banking
facilities to cope with daily operation and strategic investment
requirements.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 3 December 2013. As at 31 March 2025,
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company was
550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately HK$0.3 million and HK$9.5 million
respectively.

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
an associate, the Group also holds some investments including
debentures and equity investments. These investments were
classified as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

As at 31 March 2025, saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
the Group has no plans for any material investments or capital
assets.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review continveq)

Material Acquisition and Disposal

During the year ended 31 March 2025, save as disclosed elsewhere
in this report, there was no material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with carrying values of approximately HK$17.4 million
and approximately HK18.8 million respectively, as collaterals to
secure the Group’s leases liabilities. As at 31 March 2025 and
2024, the Group pledged the properties with the total carrying
values of approximately HK$124.4 million and approximately
HK$105.5 million respectively, as collaterals to secure the Group’s
mortgage loans.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group invested
approximately HK$49.8 million (2024: HK$27.5 million) in
property, plant and equipment, which represented an increase of
approximately HK$22.3 million in capital expenditure compared
with the last year. The significant increase in amount was mainly
because the addition of properties.

16  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25

Bt 7% [B] B8 ()

EXBRBREE

RBE_T_AF=-A=+—BILFE"
Fﬁ}ﬁ#&%ﬁi\@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁé%% AEEY
BEMMNBAR BERAARAGELEN
Eﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ’%iI?

2 M E E By

AEBITREFEEE EEXBAUNS
BOERARMBRERBT LR -ANEEH
E\EK%EJ\E%‘ELJET_E%FEE’WI\IEEL

CHRASBENRERET BB T
ﬁ PrASBIMNERBRRE HWAKEYL
I Y9 S B L B o

EEEH

RZE_RAFRER-_ZE_NF=A=+—
B - ANEBE DB ABREEZ17,400,000
7 7T & #918,800,000/8 7T B9 % & & #
REHEAERR UWERAEERE
BE-R-_ZE_AFAR_ZTE_-_WNFE=A
Tt B AEBUEBRES Y
124,400,000/% 7T & %7105,500,0007% 7T
MYEEHRERERR UERAEEDN
LB ER-

BEXRX

REE-_E_RAF=-A=+—HIFE"
7N 2 B4R & #949,800,000/ 7T ( Z & Z Y
F:27,500,0008 ) RN E - -HE K&
- BN 8 £ F1E h14922,300,0007%
T REARBENDNEEARAEDWERRN
B o



Financial Review continveq)

Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2025, the Group had 311 (31 March 2024: 340)
full time employees. The employee benefits expenses of the
Group, including Directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and
allowances, retirement benefits schemes contributions and other
benefits amounted to approximately HK$103.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$104.3 million).

There was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to
the Malaysia rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia. Share options may be granted under the
share option scheme to eligible employees as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group; to attract and retain personnel
to promote the sustainable development of the Group; and to align
the interest with those of the Shareholders of the Company to
promote the long-term financial and business performance of the
Company. In addition, the Group provides training through seminars
and forums and encourage the employees to grow with the Group
together.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant contingent
liability (31 March 2024: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review continveq)

Events after the Reporting Period

On 9 May 2025, Yacht Easy International Limited (“YEIL”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company principally
engaged in provision of finance of yacht in Hong Kong under the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of Hong Kong),
as lender, entered into a loan agreement with Deepsea Marine
HK Limited, as borrower, and Mr. Chan Kiu Lik Eric, as guarantor,
pursuant to which YEIL agreed to grant a secured loan in the
amount of HK$7,800,000 at interest rate of 8% per annum for the
first to twelfth month and 10% per annum for the thirteen to twenty-
fourth months. The above loan is secured by a charge registered in
respect of a pleasure yacht of Ferretti brand (model: Custom Line
112) located in the typhoon shelter of Kwun Tong, Kowloon and a
personal guarantee provided by the guarantor in favour of YEIL.

On 21 May 2025, YEIL, as lender, entered into another loan
agreement with Absolute Marine Limited, as the borrower, and Mr.
Tsui Wing Tak, as guarantor, pursuant to which YEIL agreed to
grant a secured loan in the amount of HK$4,000,000 at interest
rate of 12% per annum for 12 months. The above loan is secured
by a charge registered in respect of a pleasure yacht of Ferretti
brand (model: 500) located in the typhoon shelter of Shau Kei Wan,
Hong Kong and a personal guarantee provided by the guarantor in
favour of YEIL.

The above provision of loans respectively constituted a discloseable
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 May 2025 and 21 May 2025.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of eight Directors including three

executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four
independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
Mr. Leung Yat Pang

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung

Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Ms. Yu Mei Hung
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Board of Directors (continued)

Save as Mr. She Siu Kee William, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Leung
Yat Pang and Mr. Leung Wai Ming (or their controlled entities) had
entered into a deed of confirmation confirming the existence of
their acting in concert arrangement to jointly control their respective
interest in the Company held through eprint Limited, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across
the Board. The composition of the Board reflects the balanced skills
and experience for effective leadership. The biographical information
of the Directors are set out on pages 88 to 90 under the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2025 (‘FY2024/25"), five Board
meetings were held. All Directors were given an opportunity to
include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and
were also given sufficient time to review documents and information
relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director

Corporate Governance Report
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Mr. She Siu Kee William z-\ HBESLAE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki iﬁf‘ai
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Mr. Fu Chung EREAE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit FRRELE
Ms. Yu Mei Hung RELA L L
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Board Meetings (continueq)

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board adopted a mechanism for Directors to obtain
independent opinions and perspectives in order for them
to discharge their duties and responsibilities, and to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.

The Company shall arrange suitable and sufficient resources to
cover any matters relating to the obtaining of an independent
opinion by the Board, including but not limited to the engagement
of a legal team or any other professionals for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the said mechanism during FY2024/25 and considered that
it has been operating effectively and will continue to monitor its
implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Directors shall give at least three working days’ notices to the
Company Secretary to obtain an independent opinion, including but
not limited to engaging a professional team for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Board is required to review its structure, size, composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) and Board Diversity
policy (as defined below) at least annually to ensure that the
composition of the Board complies with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules, including maintaining a balanced mix of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that the Board can make and exercise
judgment independently and effectively.

If all independent non-executive Directors have served on the Board
for more than nine years, the Company should consider to appoint
a new independent non-executive Director at the next annual
general meeting.
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General Meetings

During FY2024/25, one general meeting was held, being the 2024
annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2024.

Name of Director
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Number of
attendance

H R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William //Tbi”%?ﬁi
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHAEA
Mr. Leung Yat Pang (Note)

Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R B ST A
Mr. Fu Chung BHREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BRRELE
Ms. Yu Mei Hung REAL L

Note: Mr. Leung Yat Pang was appointed on 21 August 2024 after the conclusion
of the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company. No general meeting was
held after his appointment.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meeting or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company should attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions and collect views of
Shareholders.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by way of receiving in-house briefing, taking part
in training or reading materials relating to the Listing Rules and
corporate governance matters or attending seminars relating to
their roles as a director of listed issuer. Each of the Directors has
provided a record of training they received for the FY2024/25 to the
Company.
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Directors’ Training (continueq)

Mr. Leung Yat Pang had obtained legal advice from a firm of
solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him
as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange on 22 August 2024. Mr. Leung Yat Pang has confirmed
he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors.

Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors

The four independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high caliber, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
administration, printing or management. With their experience
gained from various sectors, they provide strong support towards
the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the
Board. Each of the independent non-executive Director has
provided his/her annual confirmation of independence to the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a specific term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).
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Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference which was revised
on 25 February 2019 to conform with the provision of the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman), Mr.
Poon Chun Wai and Ms. Yu Mei Hung, and an executive Director,
namely Mr. She Siu Kee William. The functions of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to
identify qualified individuals to become members of the Board; to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer.
The Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 13 November 2013 whereby it recognises
and embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. The
Company endeavour to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board Diversity Policy during the year and considered that
it has been operating effectively and will continue to monitor its
implementation and effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity
Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will review the necessity for setting measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time to time.
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Board Level

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in
addition to educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee believes that gender diversity is a
representing manifestation of Board diversity, among all other
measurable objectives. The Company will engage more resources
in training female staff who have long and relevant experience in
the printing industry, with the aim of promoting them to the senior
management or directorship of the Group.

Workforce Level

As at 31 March 2025, approximately 61.7% of the Company’s
workforce (including the Directors and senior management) is
male and approximately 38.3% is female which is considered as
satisfactory.

Nomination Policy

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Nomination Policy (continueq)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

()  ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(9 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Policy (continueq)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During FY2024/25, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
for (1) reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board, (2)
assessing the independence of each independent non-executive
Director, (3) discussing the re-election of Directors, and (4) reviewing
the effectiveness of the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee in discharging their duties and made recommendation
on any proposed changes to the Board. The Nomination Committee
also made recommendation of new Director candidate for the
Board’s approval by way of written resolutions.

Nomination Committee member
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Number of
attendance

IR B

Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) BREE (EE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RAESLE

Mr. Poon Chun Wai % R B T A
Ms. Yu Mei Hung (Note) RELMLLZLE (HaE)

Note: Ms. Yu Mei Hung was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee
on 1 April 2025.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference, which was aligned
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised on 28 June 2023 and is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman) and
Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu Kee
William.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.
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Remuneration Committee (continueq)

During FY2024/25, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
for (i) reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration
for the Directors and senior management and (i) reviewing the
effectiveness of the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee in the discharge of their duties and recommend any
proposed changes to the Board. The Remuneration Committee
also made recommendation of the remuneration of the proposed
Director and the grant of discretionary bonus to a director of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company for the Board’s approval
by way of written resolutions.

Remuneration Committee member
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Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) BEIRBTE (F/E)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RABESLE
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will
depend on their respective contractual terms under employment
contracts or service contracts, if any, and will be fixed by the Board
based on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the
performance of the Group and the prevailing marketing conditions.
Details of the Directors’ emoluments for FY2024/25 are set out in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 falls within the following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2024/25.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai,
Mr. Fu Chung and Ms. Yu Mei Hung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor;
reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function and
their training arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk
management and the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During FY2024/25, the Audit Committee held two meetings.
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Audit Committee member HERE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit (chairman) SRNEE (/) 2/2
Mr. Poon Chun Wai BIRE A& 2/2
Mr. Fu Chung BHELE 2/2
Ms. Yu Mei Hung RELA XL 2/2
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Audit Committee continveq)

During FY2024/25, the Audit Committee reviewed, among others,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
(“FY2023/24”) and interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2024, which were in the opinion of the Audit
Committee that the preparation of such consolidated financial
statements and results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

The accounts for FY2024/25 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) whose term of office will expire upon the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (‘2025 AGM”).
The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement of
PwC, inter alias, (i) the size and structure as well as the nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, (i) the relevant audit fees
and (jii) the resources deployed by PwC in respect of the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance
with “Guidelines for the Effective Operation of Audit Committees —
Selection, Appointment and Reappointment of Auditors” published
by the Financial Reporting Council on 16 December 2021 and
recommended the Board the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor
of the Company at the 2025 AGM.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Functions continueq)

During FY2024/25, the Board had reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For FY2024/25, the remuneration payable or paid to the Company’s
auditor, PwC, was as follows:
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HK$’000
FEx

Services rendered R AR5
— Audit services — B RS 1,050
— Non-audit services (Note 1) — FETET RS (MIaE1) 98
Notes: B o
1) The non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services (1) B R EEHE R KERBEOBBER

provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Greenfield Services Limited
(“Greenfield”), to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to
cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs.

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (“Ms. Leung”), the representative of Greenfield,
was appointed as the named company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”). Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, is the primary point of contact at the
Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Ms. Leung had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for FY2024/25.

5 B2 AR TR T
DNEWE

RARZREIINBEERAWERK
f#t fE 5 Greenfield Services Limited
([Greenfield] ) BAEEREEE L E
ERARIMERY EUBBAERENT
HEBCHNEERERERTANBES
o

Greenfieldf X X 2R L (R *])
EZTARNARIEZRARWME ([RQ AW
Z2]) ARAMUBBREFERELESR
NAMERKRRABNEBEHEA -
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Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum of association and Articles,
the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves

the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the dividend policy at any time.

34  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25

IR 2R

RERIKN RS FE2RGES T
BAEHAEEARREREDBRRZ
B 2 g

MERE IR MRS EF® TME
R(EREFE)ATHEHE:

- ARBZERZSEXA MHAR-
EHNEEESTRRELAHARS
FomBE MR LR RIERE S

— ARRNFREEN R D IR #ES
ZEE

- ERLERR AEBEBOHES
BERATRER E AR ERB IR
REFAROR B E Al A SR IMNE R E
&

- EFeRA/EEmENEMEER-

ARABEREREKNBKEXAEHS QA
ECARRRABERRGE MR ETR
QI A R AE o] E b 38 PR B2 RO 2
BR ) -

AR FLMATEEREDEL R AR
A2 BERENERETTFIEET A
AR K R AT 8 R SR A 2 R 8k
TeEREE-

BREBRNEMBR IO EBXAE
BAEBERRKEZRAZXRORN 2%
ER/INREMBRATHTIEGERED
BEERNEARHEEL AT IREE

EZgRBERMREBE XREER
EREMEHRBEREASEEN BT M
& A BBR -



Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A, 4/F, Phase 3

Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-
section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at
general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2025 AGM will be voted by poll.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
Shareholders.

The Board adopted a shareholders communication policy on 13
November 2013 (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) which
sets out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders
with information about the Company and enabling them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders
in an informed manner.
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General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and potential investors. The Board shall regularly review the
Shareholders Communication Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

According to the Shareholders Communication Policy, there
are multiple channels for information of the Company to be
disseminated to Shareholders, which are included in the following
manners:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results, issue of other announcements and Shareholders’
circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules and other corporate
communications on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website; and

° General meetings of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders
shall be ensured at all times.

Communication Strategies

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.
Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable
them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Corporate Communication

Corporate communication including, but not limited to, copy of
annual reports, interim reports, notices of meeting, circulars, proxy
forms will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding.
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Communication Strategies (continueq)

Corporate Website

An “Investor Relations” section is available on the Company website
(http://www.eprintgroup.com.hk/). Information on the Company
website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is
also posted on the Company website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, results announcements
and other announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the general meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the general meetings
shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The
process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be
made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served. Board
members, in particular, either the chairmen of Board committees
or their delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

Shareholder Privacy

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy
and will not disclose Shareholders’ information without their
consent, unless required by law to do so.

The Board has conducted a review of the Shareholders
Communication Policy for FY2024/25 to ensure the effectiveness
of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the Shareholders
Communication Policy remains effective.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for FY2024/25, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
for FY2024/25, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s ESG
performance and reporting, are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

During FY2024/25, the Group appointed Smart Giraffe Consulting
Limited (“SGCL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by SGCL to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of SGCL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework
(Continued)

Principal Risks

For FY2024/25, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas Principal Risks
[ B SE 5 FERR

Strategic Risks

Corporate Governance Report

EERBRE

TrERBEEESR o

FERR

E/\\\—v—@/ ﬁﬁﬁﬂzif Zli’ilﬁuﬁk
ﬁﬁ?’kﬂ &/\%ﬁﬂ )

Impact of U.S.-China trade tensions on demand for printing products
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Operational Risks Risk of asset misappropriation by internal and external parties
=B R WINEBA LR EE SRR

Financial Risks No significant risk identified
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Compliance Risks No significant risk identified
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Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by SGCL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken to
mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continveq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business
operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during FY2024/25.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Message from the Board

In the face of ongoing global economic uncertainty, the Board
remains steadfast in its commitment to sustainable and responsible
growth. We recognise that resilience is built not only through
financial performance but also through our environmental, social,
and governance (ESG) practices. As a leading player in the printing
industry, we continue to prioritise resource efficiency, waste
reduction, and innovation in sustainable operations. At the same
time, we are dedicated to fostering a safe and inclusive workplace,
engaging meaningfully with our stakeholders, and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. Through these efforts, we aim
to create long-term value for our shareholders, employees, and the
communities we serve, while navigating the challenges of a dynamic
global landscape.

We are committed to embedding sustainability into our operations
through comprehensive management strategies that align with
global standards. Our robust ESG framework guides strategic
decision-making and ensures long-term resilience across all
departments. Transparency remains central to our engagement
with stakeholders, including employees, customers, and non-
governmental organisations (NGOs), as we proactively address
environmental and reputational risks.

Environmental protection is a key focus in our business
development. We prioritise resource efficiency, waste reduction,
and recycling to meet rising regulatory expectations and contribute
positively to society. By involving all relevant stakeholders in
our ESG processes, we ensure diverse perspectives shape our
approach, strengthening our ability to manage climate-related risks
and opportunities.

In response to global climate challenges — such as those highlighted
at COP28 — we continuously assess climate impacts and integrate
them into our annual risk management process. This enables us to
enhance our preparedness and adaptability in a rapidly changing
world.
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Our Governance Structure

With years of operational experience, the Group has established a
governance structure for managing ESG issues, employing a “top-
down” approach. We have integrated ESG factors into the decision-
making processes of the Company’s business and operations.

Our Board takes the lead in formulating strategic plans that drive
sustainable growth for the Company. They hold the responsibility
for ensuring the effectiveness of ESG strategies, decisions, and
risk management within the Group. To enhance our management
of ESG performance and identify potential risks and opportunities,
we have formed an ESG working team. This team consists of
members from middle to senior management and supports the
Board in implementing ESG-related strategies and targets. They
conduct materiality assessments of ESG issues, prioritise them,
and promote the implementation of relevant measures. Under the
authority of the Board, the ESG working team collaborates with
respective functional departments to collect ESG data, monitor
the implementation of measures, and investigate any deviations
from targets. They also facilitate prompt rectification actions when
required.

In our commitment to transparency, the Group will disclose
comprehensive details about our governance structure for ESG
issues, ESG management policies and strategies, ESG-related goals
and progress review, as well as the progress and effectiveness of
significant issues in our ESG report.
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Governance Structure

EEAEERRSE
EENEREARE

strategy and goals

ESG working team

BE  #EREATEER
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Functional department
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Our Stakeholders

The Group prioritises meeting stakeholders’ needs and has set
up a comprehensive and multi-channel communication system.
By actively engaging with stakeholders, we aim to build stronger
relationships, identify all relevant stakeholders, understand their
expectations, and address them appropriately.

B R REAHE

ERRE

Assume ultimate accountability for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting
Oversee the Group’s ESG mission, management approach and goals
Monitor and manage significant ESG-related issues and risks
Evaluate the advancements made towards ESG-related goals and targets
BWAKENRS - ' REARBNERES
e RER If’lE B ﬁ??/f& BiE
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EEREEE

e Oversee the formulation and development of the sustainability

Preview and implement ESG-related policies and practices

Identify and assess the Group’s ESG-relates issues and risks
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Identify and highlight emerging ESG-related risks and opportunities
Execute sustainability policies, procedures, and initiatives

Gather ESG information and data for the purpose of ESG disclosure
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Our Stakeholders (continuea)

We use different communication channels to keep track of changes
in stakeholder viewpoints and make proactive adjustments to
enhance collaboration between the Group, society, and the
environment as we grow. The communication channels and
expectations between the Group and its major stakeholders are
outlined below:

BHE -

BARATENBERE KA TEREN
EEHNE L Y TIFELRHE BRE
BROFE NEAEE H& MREH
- AEEETIBRHNEZRNBER
BRESHHERLLT

Communication and responses

BEKEE

Stakeholders Probable points of concern
EHE AREREEERE
The government and e Compliance with laws and
regulatory authorities regulations
BT I BB e Preventing tax evasion

e Compliance with listing rules

e Timely and accurate
announcements

o BTEAENZER

o BT

o BT LEMARA

o JERTIEMHNE

Shareholders e Corporate governance system
AR R e Business strategies and
performance

o BEERER

o XBREERKR

Employees e Employee compensation and
(== benefits

e Training and development
e Working environment

e [abour protection

o EEHMEEN

o FilkERE

o T{EIRIE

o BTIRE
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e |nteraction and visits

e Government inspections

e Tax returns

e Announcements and other
information

o HERIEAR

o HBRE

o WMWK

o RERHMER

e Financial reports

e General meetings

e (Official website of the Group
o HIBSHE

o BEEY

o REEEHEUL

e Employee performance appraisals

e Team building activities

e Trainings

e Staff meetings

e Internal memos, emails, notice
boards, and cultural activities for
employees

o RBERBFAE

s EFEREH

o 23

s BTIER
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Our Stakeholders (continuea)

Stakeholders

K0 E

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Probable points of concern
AREEESEH

RIE - e MEamE

BHE

Communication and responses
BB R EE

Customers
=P

Suppliers
HE®

Media & Public
HEBEAR

Community

el

Product quality
Reasonable prices
Delivery schedule
Customer Services

Personal data protection
EmEx

-
Bk
=R
AL B KR

Payment schedule

Stable demand

Fair and open competition
Strengthening contact and
communication

<K ER

NS ENVN L p o

G Y B

Business ethics
Corporate governance
Environmental protection
Human rights

BEER

hEER

RIR

N

Community development
Social welfare

HEERE

tEEA

Customer service hotlines and emails
Customer satisfaction surveys
BEREREE L EE
EPREERSE

Site visits
Face-to-face meetings
B528

EHE

ESG reports

Public welfare activities
Official website of the Group
RIE HEREBWSE
NIEE )

REBE T HE

Community activities

Employee voluntary activities
Community welfare subsidies and
donations

HEEE

BEETEH
HEBANE B EBR
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Materiality Assessment

The Board and management have diligently identified ESG
issues that have the potential or actual impact on the sustainable
development of the Group. These issues have been sourced
from various channels, including previous ESG reports, internal
policies, industry trends, and the Materiality Map provided by
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. To thoroughly
analyse the identified ESG issues, several factors were taken into
consideration, such as the Group’s overall strategy, development,
and goals and targets. In order to determine the significance of
these ESG issues to the Group’s business and stakeholders, a
comprehensive materiality assessment was conducted, evaluating
their respective levels of impact. The results of the materiality
assessment for the identified material ESG issues are summarised
as follows:

EEMML

f
EZgREREBE IS BRRETE Y
AEENFEERABERERTEN
RE HEREAREE BRAENRE
HEREARE ABBR TEBZR
KEGHEMZEGRENERMERL-
RRASMEEENRE L LER

H - RMHEEEZEAZ fINAEEN
ERRE ZERAMBBERER -A&E
MEETEENEZEFG UBEEUF
RE HERERFEHASEER LK
MENEEE YFBHEREESENY
ERE-CHENEARE HERER
EEMERUFGERPRIT

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

RE HEMEREER

Use of Resources

Supply Chain Management
Product Responsibility
BREA
RERLZE2HMITIERER
HrEEEE

EmAaf

Staff Development and Training
Community Investment
Anti-corruption

BT EREKEI

HERE

RES

Emissions

Climate Change
HER)
RERRAER
FIREL
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Our Environment

At our Group, we are dedicated to achieving sustainable operational
growth by carefully managing the consumption of energy and
water resources across our assets, effectively handling waste, and
safeguarding natural resources.

Our Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations
related to emissions of exhaust gases and Greenhouse Gas
(“GHG”) emissions, pollution discharge to water and land, and the
production of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. In FY2024/25,
our Group was not aware of any significant material non-compliance
with laws and regulations that may have a significant impact on the
Group or are related to environmental laws and regulations.

Emissions

Our Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulfil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.

Also, we have implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public. Below are the
measures to reduce our carbon emissions:

° Transitioning from using IPA alcohol in printing to Alcohol-
free dampening solution in order to significantly reduce safety
hazards associated with flammable liquids during storage and
usage.

° Maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

o Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

° Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during non-
office hours, and lunch time.

o Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.
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Our Environment continuea)

Emissions (continued)

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining the GHG emission intensity
between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31
March 2025 in the next reporting year.

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”,

Waste Management

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

They include but are not limited to, chemical wastewater, cloths
stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph potions, Isopropyl
alcohol (IPA) and polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Non-hazardous wastes
include but are not limited to, paper, foam board, synthesised
paper, lightbox film, cloth and stickers.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of
the PRC.

To advocate waste reduction within our workplace, we have
encouraged our employees to adopt double-sided printing, with
the single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse. A paperless
work environment has also been promoted by encouraging
employees to switch from printed documents to electronic
documents.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining both the hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of
the level of the baseline year ended 31 March 2025 in the next
reporting year.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 &
Non-hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”.
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Our Environment continveq)

Use of Resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing or maintaining the electricity and water intensity between
90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31 March
2025 in the next reporting year. The measures that reduces the use
of resources are listed below:

Water:

° Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

° Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

° Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

o Install refilters in printing machines to recycle water.

° Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.
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Our Environment continuea)

Use of Resources (continued)

Raw materials:
o Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to qualified recyclers for recycling.

Packaging materials used for finished products:
° Suggest our customers bring their own shopping bags

° Use recyclable and biodegradable elements for our packaging
materials

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”
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Our Environment continveq)

The Environment and Natural Resources

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among its
employees, such as implementing applicable systems and policies
to monitor the use of natural resources and circulating notices
regarding how to save energy and resources.

We will continue to assess the environmental risks of our business,
review the environmental practices and adopt preventive measures
as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding the Group’s emissions and
the use of resources.

Focusing on Climate Change

We have performed a climate risk assessment using the TCFD
recommendations as a reference. This involved conducting
a forward-looking analysis to evaluate the probability and
consequences of each significant climate risk. Our aim was to
assess the potential impacts on various business units and develop
comprehensive plans to both mitigate and adapt to the challenges
posed by climate change.
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Our Environment continuea)

Focusing on Climate Change (continued)

Risk Type

kbl

Acute Physical Risk

=
feh
i
G
be=n)
P

Chronic Physical
Risk

REERER

Transition Risks —
Policy and Legal

BERB-HER
B

Transition Risks —
Market

BERR- ™5

Risk Description

B 55 2R

Potential

Extreme weather o
conditions such as
flooding and typhoon

BmARERL W o
K% B,

Increased in average  ®
temperature

THELEN

Changes in .
environmental-related
regulations

RERBARZL o

Shift in consumer .
preference

to products
incorporating the

more environmentally
friendly concept

HEERFEEZAR o
ARRBCHER

Financial Impact

EERBEE

Reduced revenue due
to business and supply
chain disruptions
Damage physical
assets

B RGEEETEE
BlsR D
REEREE

Increased operating
costs for increased
cooling demands

RAOBEREMEHE
BN

Higher operating costs
to adopt new practices
or technologies

R BRREAME
BENA LT

Reduced demand
for printing and other
products, decreased
competitiveness and
create an adverse
impact on revenues

Rk EEREK
B BENTRERY
W BN E
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reporting (one to (four to
period) three years) ten years) Mitigation Strategy
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Establish an adverse
weather condition policy
Maintain or expand the
supplier base to avoid
disruption

Consider increasing
insurance coverage
HE-—BERESAR
MR
BRFIEAHEHER
DA S A
ZREMRREE
Adopt energy
conservation measures to
avoid overconsumption
of natural resources
RIETREIR LA 1R
EBRRAER
Adopt energy
conservation measures
to reduce emissions
Continue to monitor the
regulatory environment
to ensure that the Group
complied with the
environmental-related
laws and regulations
RN AR B AR B
i
FEEREERGIUMR
RAEBETRIZIEE
ERRER

Adhere to the Group’s
sustainable development
concept, strictly control
the printing production
process and commit

to producing high-
quality products to
meet the expectations
of consumers and the
market
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Our People

In our endeavor to nurture a positive and thriving corporate culture,
the Group is wholeheartedly dedicated to cultivating a friendly and
inclusive work environment. We recognise the immense importance
of this aspect in ensuring the wellbeing and overall job satisfaction
of our employees. We firmly believe that by providing a well-
organised workspace, we can empower our staff to unleash their
full potential, enhance work efficiency, and foster unwavering loyalty
towards the company.

Adhering to Employment Regulations

As of 31 March 2025, we had 311 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as of the year ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators —
B. Social - Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration and
benefits of employees. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established that helps management to comply with labour laws and
relevant regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s
internal procedures relating to recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, and etc. For example, employees should normally
work for 8-9 hours per day and they can apply for overtime claims
or compensation leave, subject to the approval of department
SUpervisors.
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Our People (Continued)

Adhering to Employment Regulations (continuea)

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

o The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of Hong Kong for
recruitment, and provision of reasonable working conditions.

° The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

° In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group
complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

° For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
the practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

e  The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our People (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

° During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstandings and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group does not select any persons aged 15 or
below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

° Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

° At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed.

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as the
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) of
Hong Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.
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Our People (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety (continueqd)

We emphasise that occupational safety is the first priority of our
Group. In this respect, we policies and procedures to standardise
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of the
Group.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to work
injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of
“Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.

Improving Talent Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of
the organization. Training is arranged for new employees during
the probation with regard to the skills required for that particular
position. For example, the Customer Service Department conveys
the knowledge about product specifications, technology for
production, workflows of order placement, and customer service
techniques, etc. to the responsible staff. Before the end of the
probation, management assesses the performance of the new
employees in order to ensure that the new employees are equipped
with the required job knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria
include but are not limited to, a sense of responsibility, interpersonal
skills and work attitude, etc.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training hours
completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please refer
to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.

Our Customers

Fostering Product Responsibility

As a printing company, we place a strong emphasis on product
responsibility. We understand the significance of producing high-
quality printed materials that not only meet the expectations of our
customers but also adhere to ethical and sustainable standards.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Customers continued)

Fostering Product Responsibility (continuea)

During the Reporting Period, our Group strictly complied with
laws and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the PRC that have a significant impact on
our business, including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance
(Chapter 528) of Hong Kong; Trademark Law of the PRC, Copyright
Law of the PRC and Rules of Protection on Information Network
Dissemination Rights of the PRC; and Consumer Protection Act
1999 of Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights. For the orders placed by
customers at the retail shops or the self-service platform or through
the customer service hotline, the Customer Service Department
is responsible for checking the files against infringement of
intellectual property rights or any other issues. If the file to be
printed is suspected of possible infringement of intellectual property
rights, the Group would not start printing unless the customer
can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual property for
verification. In case the customer fails to provide such authorization/
proof, the Group has the right to reject the order. Moreover, the
Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation in respect of
infringement of intellectual property rights arising from the printing
of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substances such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list the composition of the
ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink manufacturers
for our reference. The test reports show that no hazardous
components are contained in the printing ink. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of the products delivered, the staff of the
retail shops have to conduct the preliminary assessment and will
pass the products to the Quality Control Department for further
checking, if necessary.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of products and service-related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.
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Our Customers continued)

Placing Customer Services at First Place

Our Group places a high value on customers. Complaints received
must be recorded in the internal system and passed to senior staff
or the Customer Service Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within a few working days. However, in exceptional
cases, if the investigation is still in progress, the Group would
update the complainant about the investigation status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.

Protecting Privacy Matters

All the personal information collected by the Group is strictly used
in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and regulations,
including the “Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong Kong
and the “Personal Information Protection Law” of the PRC.

The Group has implemented several measures for protecting
the personal data collected. For example, access controls are in
place in server rooms in order to prevent unauthorised access to
confidential information. Besides, when the Group collects personal
data via the Group’s website, encryption technology is adopted to
protect the personal data from potential leakage. Firewall has also
been set up on the Group’s website to prevent unauthorised access
and abuse by third parties. According to the “Employee Handbook”,
all employees are required to protect the sensitive information and
clients’ personal information obtained when performing job duties.
Information should not be disclosed to any third parties unless and
to the extent that it is necessary to make such disclosure. If there
is any leakage of the Group’s confidential information, the Group
may impose fines, administrative penalties or pursue legal liabilities
against the parties concerned to protect the interests of the Group
and its clients.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Customers continued)

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with Our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt green
procurement practices by using printing ink that is made of
soybeans in our production. Compared to the traditional Petroleum-
based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly and
makes the paper easier to recycle.

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such as
price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery time,
and payment terms, etc. Only suppliers with satisfactory results in
the initial assessment will be added to our list of approved suppliers
and engaged in our business operations. Suppliers who take the
environmental and social concerns into account of their production
would be more favourable to be accepted as approved suppliers.
On top of that, the Group also conducts an annual assessment
of the approved suppliers to ensure that the products or services
are of consistent quality and up to the Group’s required standards.
Suppliers with unsatisfactory results in the annual assessment will
be eliminated from our list of approved suppliers. For the number of
our suppliers by geographical region during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social — Supply Chain Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Upholding Business Ethics

Anti-corruption

Our Group takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms
of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing and
upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty, fairness,
impartiality and transparency in all its business dealings at all times.

We have established Anti-Corruption Policy to require employees
promptly report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are
aware of any suspected persons or events. Employees may
report suspected fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or
the department manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g.
telephone, or formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. After the
potential fraudulent cases have been reported, the investigation
will be conducted with due care and the investigation process will
be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management will take
corrective action immediately.
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Our Customers continued)

Upholding Business Ethics (continuea)

Anti-corruption (Continuea)

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRC, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

There was no corruption case was noted and/or reported during the
Reporting Period. In addition, the Group arranged anti-corruption
training for the new employees. The Group will closely monitor the
regulatory development and will arrange relevant anti-corruption
training for our employees and directors, where necessary.

Whistle-blowing Procedures

We have implemented a comprehensive whistleblowing system to
foster a culture of transparency and combat business corruption
effectively. Our Group provides multiple channels for employees and
external parties to report any suspected misconduct, ensuring the
efficacy of our anti-corruption monitoring efforts. Whistleblowers are
encouraged to disclose their concerns orally or in writing, providing
comprehensive details and supporting evidence to their respective
department heads. To safeguard the Group’s interests, we diligently
investigate any suspicious or unlawful activities. Moreover, we
have established a mechanism to ensure the confidentiality of
whistleblowers and protect them against unfair repercussions
or dismissal. In the event of a suspected criminal offense, our
management promptly reports it to the appropriate regulatory or
law enforcement authorities as deemed necessary.

Our Community

As a printing company, we firmly believe that education is the most
powerful tool for promoting and nurturing community investments.
We recognise the transformative impact that education can have
on individuals, families, and the community as a whole. With
this understanding, we are committed to supporting educational
initiatives that empower individuals and contribute to the
development of a well-educated and skilled workforce.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Commun Ity (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, our Group sponsored a scholarship
programme at Youth College under the Vocational Training Council
(VTC) Group in Hong Kong. This initiative reflects our dedication to
nurturing future talent and supporting young people in pursuing their
academic and professional aspirations. By investing in education,
we aim to contribute to the long-term growth of the community and
promote equal opportunities for students from diverse backgrounds.

We also offered free printing support to organisations such as the
Hong Kong Federation of Business Students (&8 A 5 i 2 A Bt
&), Fook Yan Service Centre ((kEi &R+ L)), Hong Kong
Employment Development Service (B8 %2R R7%), and the
Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals (SPCA) (& & &
Y% E). These efforts reflect our dedication to using our core
business capabilities to contribute positively to society and assist
NGOs in advancing their missions. Through such initiatives, we aim
to strengthen our social impact and foster long-term partnerships
within the community.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, mainland China (‘PRC”) and Malaysia, for the
financial year ended 31 March 2025 (“Reporting Period”). It
describes the Group’s progress on its way towards creating
sustainable value for its shareholders and other stakeholders.
During the process of preparing this Report, we have conducted
thorough review and evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the
Group with the aim of achieving better performance results in the
future.
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About this report (continueq

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations.
Unless otherwise specified, the environmental disclosure in
the Report covers business in Hong Kong and the PRC. As
the production volume in Malaysia is less than 5% of the total
production volume of the Group, it is regarded as immaterial
and hence the environmental data of the Malaysia office is not
disclosed in the Report. The social disclosure in the Report covers
all locations of the operating entities of the Group, which included
Hong Kong, the PRC and Malaysia.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The ESG Report complies with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure” or “comply or explain”, as well as the principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing the
Report, we have adopted the international standards and emission
factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for computing the relevant
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change in the
way the Report has been prepared from the previous year unless
otherwise stated. The application of materiality is detailed in the
subsection headed “ESG Management — Materiality Assessment”.

Although there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders
outside the Group when this Report was being prepared, we
have included the key issues which are of different stakeholder
groups’ concerns, based on our continual communication with
them. Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7107).

64  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25

BRABRE

HEHER SR

AREFEH THMAKEEHRE HEhE
REBNEARLKEANRRBEEZEHEE
MER -BREEHRBPIN RREFAIRE
FEREEBRPEMNELK BREKRA
THEETIASEERLEENS%  HR
BYTEEZ AULSERATHEENIRE
HET AR REPIRE - REPHLEH
BEBREASBMEKEERMTH
BIEEE PEKERERAE-

ABEDREBEEBAIZIMBERRAA
Ermx EmAR (T EMmRA) K ERC2rT &
ZIRE - HEREABREESIME-

RE HERERBECETHA [RH
BEIREXTETRAERE] K A
REEM B - FHE-BENRA-
REEARER RASKATEHRAR
SRERDBEMHRT HERERE
SIME ARSI BB AR E R BE R A
SHEMEBBRRERER ([BRENE
B MESAEEBIN RBRENEHS
ABEFUARL EEMESH BEEHENE

AR RE Zi/\&%/é“‘ﬁ EEZMRF
filr ] > ERFEAL

BERGBEARERTEZTEREBR
INFMDERNEBE S BERMEBERM
HEENREBRIILTRENFEOE
BIMmETEEE . BETORREMOR
%~ﬁ@&amﬁ¢¢ﬁ& S E IR

R R IB R M % (%3
$15 - (852) 2319 7107) BB B



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HEREARE

Key Performance Indicators BREENER
Part A. Environmental E—HD RIE

Emission Indicators — KPI A1.1

BERIER - BRARIEERAL

For the year ended For the year ended

Emission Data from Vehicles Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-2-AF BE_T_NOF
BE@HOHEREE B ZA=+—BLFE ZA=+—-BLFE
Kilometres travelled kilometers 97,787.5 100,406.2
R /N=] nEB
Units of fuel Consumed
PRRENR L B (L
— Petrol Liter 7,1271 7,213.5
A 7+
Nitrogen Oxides grams 15,874.5 13,1051
=Rl I
Sulphur Oxides grams 104.8 106.0
maltay 7
Particulate Matter grams 1,376.5 1,100.8
R g I
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER
Part A. Environmental (continued) EF—HD BB 4w

Emission Indicators — KPI A1.2

BHRESR-BEENERA12

For the year ended For the year ended

Total GHG Emissions Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
E-E_HEF EF-E-NE
BERBEEHEE By ZA=+—HLEEE ZA=+—HLEE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

BEE1T  EEHREUEBRRIR

Scope 1b - GHG Emissions from Mobile Combustion Sources
EE1b- RBROBREREABNRERB IR

Units of fuel Consumed

FT R R BB AL
— Petrol Liter 7,127 1 7,213.5
- T 7t
Carbon Dioxide tonnes 19.0 19.2
— &b Hx 07

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

EE2—- seIR AP

Electricity kWh 3,031,839.4 2,804,271.8
Bt TER&

Carbon Dioxide grams 1,171.1 1,112.9
— &b I

Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide grams 1,191.1 1,132.1
Produced during the Reporting Period

RBEHAEEN—GSLHREE: =

The intensity of Carbon Dioxide tonnes per employee 3.7 3.6

Produced during the Reporting Period
(tonnes per employee):

RBEEHANEEN —ELLREE FEES M
(BEESW)
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Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part A. Environmental continueq) F—HD RE @

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3

FERRNESR-BEERERAS

For the year ended For the year ended

Total hazardous waste produced Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-Z2-AF BE_T_MOF

EEXENEERREYHRE B ZA=+—BLFE ZA=+—-BLFE

Chemical Wastewater tonnes 2,809.0 2,701.0

fEImK 07}

Cloths Stained With Chemicals tonnes 4.1 3.8

EHEBmE5RMmE WA

Wasted Zinc tonnes 132.3 162.4

% £ U7

Photograph Potions tonnes 24.4 24.9

18R BEK WA

Isopropy! Alcohol (IPA) tonnes 3.3 (Note 1) 7.8

= 10N] i WA (Bi&ET)

Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) tonnes 7.0 71

BRRLG 7
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER
Part A. Environmental (continued) EF—HD BB 4w

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3

BERRNES - BEENERAS

Hazardous waste produced per For the year ended For the year ended

tonne of product produced Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024

CESBMERELENEEREEY B EH_+ Htiﬁ ZSA=t+T—HALEE

Chemical Wastewater in tonnes/tonne 0.732 0.704
produced

{EI5K VAFTE A 0O WA EL AT

Cloths Stained With Chemicals in tonnes/tonne 0.001 0.001
produced

EHLERBISRME LA BT EE A O A B AT

Wasted Zinc in tonnes/tonne 0.034 0.042
produced

JB% ¥ LA BT EE 2 O WA B AT

Photograph Potions in tonnes/tonne 0.006 0.006
produced

Ea YN VAP A BB B AT

Isopropyl Alcohol (IPA) in tonnes/tonne 0.001 0.002
produced

4] LA BT 2 A & B 2K 5T

Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) in tonnes/tonne 0.002 0.002
produced

BRI VAP EE A WO MBS AT

Note 1: The company transitioned from using IPA Alcohol in printing to Alcohol-free  BisE1 : AR RIEEIRIA AERERE BE = 858

Dampening Solutions, leading to a substantial reduction in the consumption TR R - BB R A Tfﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁi
of IPA Alcohol.
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Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part A. Environmental (continued) F—HD RE @

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.4

BREBRRVER - BAREARERA14

Total non-hazardous waste For the year ended For the year ended

produced Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE_T_-1F BE-Z_-_F

EENEERRYEE B ZA=+—BLFE ZA=+—-HLFE

Paper tonnes 669.5 665.4

AR 7]

Foam Board tonnes 25.3 25.6

IARM Mg

Synthesised Paper tonnes 8.1 8.3

B R 7

Lightbox Film tonnes 0.4 0.4

KRB IR 7

Cloth tonnes 5.2 529

okt i

Sticker tonnes 141 ji[515

Bh A Mg

Non-hazardous waste produced
per tonne of product produced

TESHMERELNEEERY

Paper in tonnes/tonne 0.175 0.178
produced

AR ok LA B 2 A O R 2K 5T

Foam Board in tonnes/tonne 0.235 0.238
produced

SRR VAR A BB B AT

Synthesised Paper in tonnes/tonne 0.199 0.204
produced

BB LA BT 2 A & R 2R 5T

Lightbox Film in tonnes/tonne 0.009 0.010
produced

B FESE IR A BT 2 A & R 85T

Cloth in tonnes/tonne 2.797 2.962
produced

ik VA AT 72 A B W 85T

Sticker in tonnes/tonne 0.188 0.206
produced

BhAR VA BT 72 A B M 85
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BERERER 0

F—n BE®

Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part A. Environmental (continueq)

Packaging Material Indicators — KPI A2.5

BEMBESR - BRENRERA25

Total Packaging Material used for

For the year ended For the year ended

Finished Products Unit 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE_T_1F BE-_ZT_-_F

HEmTABEMBEE B ZA=+—BLFE ZA=+—-HLFE

Paper Box tonnes 0.3 0.8

e 7]

Plastic Box tonnes 3.8 3.9

BHa WE

Kraft Paper tonnes 7.7 8.2

R AR U7

Carton tonnes 61.2 65.5

W] WA

Transparent Wrap tonnes 5.8 4.5

FBIEIR i

Sealing Tape tonnes 0.4 1.0

BHE 8

Packaging material per tonne of

product produced

BMERMEENEEMR

Paper Box in tonnes/tonne 0.0001 0.0002
produced

ma VA BT 72 A B WA 85T

Plastic Box in tonnes/tonne 0.0009 0.0009
produced

BHR VA PR 72 A B WA 85T

Kraft Paper in tonnes/tonne 0.0018 0.0019
produced

A7 4 VA PR 72 4 B WA 85T

Carton in tonnes/tonne 0.0145 0.0155
produced

W] VA BT 7 A B WA 85T

Transparent Wrap in tonnes/tonne 0.0014 0.0011
produced

FEIEIR VA BT/ A B WA 85T

Sealing Tape in tonnes/tonne 0.0001 0.0002
produced

mH W VA BT/ A B WA 85T
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER
Part A. Environmental (coniinued) E—HD BB 4w

Energy and Water Consumption Indicators — KPl A2.1 & KPI A2.2

RER R AOHRIE R - BRANEFRA21RBRENERA2.2

For the year ended For the year ended

Total Consumption Source Uint 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-ZE_-HfF BE-E-pmE
BHREER HRIR B ZA=+—BLEE ZA=+—HLEFE
Electricity kWh 3,031,839.4 2,804,271.8

E= TR
Water cubic metres 4,231.0 4,194.0

7K S K

Consumption per
unit produced

BENUMELN

HIEER
Electricity kWh per tonne 691.6 665.5
E e TR &0
Water cubic metres per tonne 1.0 1.0
7K N ) AN
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER
Part B. Social EFoWo HE

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1

BEESR - BEENEEBA

Employment As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024
R-B=H%F R-B-meE

& =HA=+-—H =A=+-—H

Total number of employees 311 340

EEAH

By gender

B M5 5

Male 192 212

PR

Female 119 128

g

By age group

BF@RD

Below 25 12 17

255 AT

2510 29 33 41

257295

30 to 39 84 100

30E395%

40-49 7 76

40ZE495%

Over 50 105 106

505% JA |
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Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part B. Social (continued) FoWH LB

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1

BEESR- BRENESBA

Employment As at 31 March 2025 As at 31 March 2024

R=B-HF R-B-mE
EE =A=+—H =A=+-—H

By region

K EES

Hong Kong 263 293
e

PRC 22 25
i

Malaysia 26 22
5 2R 78 38

By Employment Type

HIEBEE S

Permanent Staff 303 326
KAKRHAE

Contract Staff 8 14
BRAER
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER

Part B. Social (continved) EF-HD =)

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2

BEESR - BRENESBI2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Employee turnover 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-2-AF BE-T-NF

BERALE ZA=+—BLEE ZA=+—BLtHEE
Total employee turnover rate 22% 21%
EHEBRALE
By gender
BMF 5
Male 24% 23%
PR
Female 19% 19%
g
By age group
BF@RD
Below 25 25% 59%
255 AT
2510 29 12% 37%
25ZE295%
30 to 39 25% 25%
30E395%
40 to 49 19% 16%
40ZE495%
Over 50 25% 9%
50m% A £
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER

Part B. Social (continuea) EF-Ho g

Employment Indicators — KPI B1.2

BREEER - BAREMNESBI2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Employee turnover 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE-T2-AF BE_ET_MOF
BERALLR ZA=t—-HLHE ZA=1+—-HLFEE
By region
BEZ S
Hong Kong 25% 24%
e
PRC 14% 4%
i
Malaysia — _
P it

Health and Safety Indicators — KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2

RERZE2ESR - BREAXESEB2IKBREANIESFB2.2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

BE-ZE-H1HF BE-Z_-_NF BE-Z—=
ZA=+—HLEE =ZA=+—HLEE ZA=+—HLEE

Fatality number S S S
BTAH

Number of reportable injuries 7 6 8
BATHRELEH=E

Number of day lost 13.5 16 205
RE R
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER

Part B. Social (continved) EF-HD =)

Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1

BERIBIER - BRARIESEB3.1

Percentage of total number of For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

employees trained 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE_E_-RF BE_T_MF

HERIBEEABRBDL ZA=+—BLEE ZA=+—BLtEE

Total 17% 23%

et

By gender

BMF 5

Male 37% 68%

PR

Female 63% 32%

g

By employee category

#IE S M55

Entry level 56% 83%

YNBL

Middle level 36% 12%

o

Management level 8% 5%

BERE
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BERERER 0

EF-Ho =)

Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part B. Social (continuea)

Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.2

BERIEIER - BRARIESEB3.2

Total number of hours of internal training

For the Year Ended
31 March 2025

For the Year Ended
31 March 2024

BE-_F-_MNF
ZEA=t+-HALFE

283.0

received by employees

& 5 P 2 ;9 B0 35 5| A9 AR B B8

Average hours of training per employee
BEEES FI9EIN R

Average hours of training per employee by
gender

B F 5 E 168 S F 1515 3 iF B

Male 1.5 4.2
Eg

Female 1.6 2.3
egiid

Average hours of training per employee by
employment category

BIERH B 7 & 618 5 -F 19 1% 3| i B

Entry level 1.8 1.9
AFIR

Middle level 1.3 4.1
-

Management level 1.0 30.1
ERE
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Key Performance Indicators (coniineq BRENER
Part B. Social (continved) EF-HD =)

Supply Chain Management Indicators - KPI B5.1

A EEE R - BEANEEBSA

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Supplier management 31 March 2025 31 March 2024
BE_E_-RF BE_T_MF

HEmER ZA=+—BLEE ZA=+—BLtEE
Total number of suppliers 174 121
HEBAY
By region
HEES
Hong Kong 132 98
i
PRC 38 3
I
Taiwan 3 3
Malaysia 1 15
F5 kP 5p
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER
Part B. Social (continued) F-HD g #

Product Responsibility Indicators — KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

EmEEESR - BREARIEEB6.1REEENIEEB6.2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

BE-ZT-AOfF BE-_S-_m#

ZA=+—-BLEFE ZA=+—HLEE

Total No. of Products sold or shipped 406,035 427,737

EEXEEREMBH

Total number of products subject to recalls for - -
safety and health reason

s KRR HEA DR EmiE
Total number of complaints received = =

EEVEEEITE

Community Investment Indicators — KPI B8.2

HEREER - BRENIEEBS.2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 Mar 2025 31 Mar 2024
BE-Z-1fF BE-—Z2-_mE
ZA=+—-BLEE ZA=t+—-HLFE
Resources contributed to education, environmental 14,456 190,811
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport
(Amount in HKS)
WHE BEMNE SHER RE - BE
BERNER (BB TEHE)
Hours spent on corporate charitable activities ) 26
ERERTARE
Number of employee volunteer participating in 14 64

corporate charitable activities
EEEB2MEERS TS AR
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

EBX R

RIEHERE

BEESIIRBRL

ESG Aspects

Related Section(s)

RE -HEREREE
Part A: Environmental

F-H2 RBE

A1. Emissions
Al. BERR

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRABRRMAZEREHN HAKRITHWOES EEREEEZYH
EESHNHRNMETHRETABEAZENHBEROERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

BB AE RUERIRATT BED IR 1R N AR B R R B

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Fﬁﬁ%%?ﬂahm2EE‘Z(ﬁﬁlﬂ&?ﬁ%ﬁ%f(%ﬁlz)ﬂlﬁa% BHERR
2 (UBAE) M (ER)ZE (MASESEN BFHEKXMTE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BAREWIEZEAMIELEEEREYRE (UHEE) R (1#EA
B (ML BESEEMN BERBETE) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

)%

FRAERIEFAMAFMELAETEEYRE (ANEE) R (WER) =
B (WABESSEN BHERMETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

RSB R IRA1.6 M PRET L HE B B R R R ESIE L B IR AT R

EXHy 258 o

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

P AERURIRA1.6 IR IB B E R EEERMN 70K R AT 3L
HBLRE B IR R A E R G L B AR FTERER A P B8 o
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Our Environment — Emissions

TAPIEIRE — BRI

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

RBERIEE - S —3 D RIE

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

s ERIERE - %

—#80 IR

it

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

FRRAMIER - F—

505 B

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

FAREBUEE -89 &R
Our Environment — Emissions

HFIVIRE — PR

QOur Environment — Waste
Management

BPIWERE —
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

RIE - e MEamE

EBXZARE -HERENR
BEESIRBRS @

Related Section(s)

RE-HEREREE
A2. Use of Resources

A2. EREH

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and
other raw materials.

BERBRERAER (BEER K REAMERME) BB -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RIS IR IEAL BB DM EE R/ KB (NS - fah)
BRE (L TFETEEHE) REE (MASERB - S8R
)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BRERIEFEA22 BFEKERTE (NMABESEM  BERMET

= o
>t

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target set and steps taken
to achieve them.

BASAE IS IRA2.3 AL FTRT LM BERE R M R IR R RERE LR
TRATERER A 25 5% o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target set and steps taken to
achieve them.

BA 5248 IR 1RA2.4 13l SRERE A /KR | °] & (Rl & - PraT SZ#9 A7k
Mk BN AERE L B IEF R R

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BB B RUIEIRA2.5 R m TR BEM M@ E (AREET) & (E M)
BEEEMHE-

16 B = B

Our Environment — Use of Resources

BANERE - BERER

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

RAMIER-F 82 &R

ik

Our Environment — Use of Resources

BARE - EREMN

Our Environment — Use of Resources

BAINERE - BRER

Our Environment — Use of Resources,
Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BMMIRE - BREA  BREZUE

B-E—B5 B
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HE8RERER

EARIMBE - HEREAR
WEESIABRES o

Related Section(s)
B EE

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources

A3. RIER RREIR

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.
ERAZEREZTAERRERRRERENEANZENBUR -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

BB BIEFAS Il EBEHH BB RARABERNERTERD
KREERETENTH-

A4. Climate Change

Ad. TIRZ 1L

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRABRIREESRAGEEHETAELARENEARBGHEEEE
B BUR o

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

BB MIERA MM ER LA @ HETAEETENEARIK
HEASEMEERNERBEHEEENTE-

Part B. Social

(5

B1. Employment

B1. &%

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BERHM R RE BERER TESES - R TSRS Zilk-
RIBRA R EMFERENNER B THRITABERZENEH
ERFOERHE R
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BPRRE-RERRKAER

Our Environment — Focusing on
Climate Change

BFIRIRE - IR RIREE

Our Environment — Focusing on
Climate Change
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Employment Regulations
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HE8RERER

EEBXZFER
mEES W%‘?Eﬂ ()

RE - e NEAWRE

BoHERE

Related Section(s)
B EE

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

BARERIEIEBI R R EFERR
e

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RS A B 1EB1.2 IR R - FheiE Rl Rtz 85
B2. Health and Safety

B2. @ EEZ 2

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

BHRAEE THRARREIED BB EEORE RETYH
AABBEAYZORMARARNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

R AR R S r R B AR

PEVEBIRAKRLL R -

A MIEEB2.1 ATEREML T AB R K-
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BREMIEEB22 AT BRATIERH-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

FRRAMIEEB2.3 Wl IR AW B R R E L 26 HERITRE
R7Ee

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

ARERERE-F 80 HeE

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

BARERETE £ 80 HE

Our People — Protecting Health and
Safety

BFEE - RERREEZ 2

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

B8 4 A IR R — e

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

B A8 RIS — Moy HE

Our People — Protecting Health and
Safety

HAIE R —

/v/x—iilg

REEREEZ 2
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index EBRSRE -HERE
(Continued) ﬁ%iﬁ gl W ‘,ﬁ\'i ‘_Elll (#)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)

RE-HERERER MEEAE &
B3. Development and Training
B3. R K&

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Our People — Improving Talent

duties at work. Description of training activities. Development and Training
ERARTEEBITIEBRENMBLENBE - FIESHM -  RANEE— 127 AL ER KIE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Social

AR RIEIEB3 MR REE SRR (NERERE TREEE) HREMER-F_Ho:41He
ZNMXIMEER

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
gender and employee category. Social

BRERIEEB2 MR REEEANE D BREETKXINTYE HARESER- DiHE

FFE -

B4. Labour Standards

B4. & T %8|

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Our People — Zero Tolerance

that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BEBEMLEETRBHSTHNRRENETHRITABEAZENERZEZ RANEEK—
RIMERNER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Our People — Zero Tolerance
avoid child and forced labour.

RASAERIEIEBAN S EREIINERAREETIRAGSE T RANEK - TR

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Our People — Zero Tolerance
discovered.

BREMIEEBA2 AR B RBEARBREEBEAMRBN LR - HANEE - TBR

D>}

/ N
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HE8RERER

EEBXZFER
mEES W%‘?Eﬂ ()

RE - e NEAWRE

BoHERE

Related Section(s)
B EE

B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. fit fE i E 12

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

BRATEHERENREN T ERMBABR -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

FRENIEEBS R B SN HEREE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

RS A AIEIEB5.2 L A RIS M A B H
HEFEE BHEMNNATRERT A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BA SR AE 15 15B5.3 H il A 0 B B! (R R BB R 1B Mt & Rl
MBBEFNATRERTT A

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

RARAEIE1EB5.4 il AN BUE R R R HESRRER MRENIE
FIARBBEHHORAITRERT A

R EHTTH B HIR

2 18 51 A

Our Customers — Aiming for More
Suppliers Complying with Our Code
of Conduct

BFMEF- S EREEZHER
BT RMTT AT

Key Performance Indicators— Part B.
Social

B8 A U IR — D AE

Our Customers — Aiming for More
Suppliers Complying with Our Code
of Conduct

BN EFP-EEREEZHER
BT RMTT A A
Our Customers — Aiming for More

Suppliers Complying with Our Code
of Conduct

BFMEF - B EREEZHER
BT ERMTT RS A

Our Customers — Aiming for More
Suppliers Complying with Our Code
of Conduct

BFMEF-EEREEZHER
BT RMT AR
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HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index EBRSRE -HERE
(Continued) ﬁ%iﬁ gl W ‘,ﬁ\'i ‘_Elll (#)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)

RE-HEREREE HEES
B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmEE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations Our Customers — Fostering Product
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, Responsibility

advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and method of redress.

ﬁfﬂﬁﬁk(ﬁ%uuﬂﬂ&?ﬁ&mﬁ_ﬁéﬂ*i\ BE BEMLEBEENRAE RANEFP-HEEMEE
HOTENBR N ETHETABEAFENERERZRERNER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

for safety and health reasons. Social

kg xﬂaTﬁBm EEHRCEXERBRTRAREREEHME HBREMER-F_Ho: 41
ARINA D

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
and how they are dealt with. Social

BB WIE1EB6.2 HEMNEM KRR FEB AREEH - BAREBIER -85 HE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Our Customers — Fostering Product
intellectual property rights. Responsibility

BB IEIEB6.3 it i RIREMBEER FNED - BN EF-—BEEMAE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Our Customers — Fostering Product
procedures. Responsibility
FREMIEEBe4 M EERTBENEMGEET - BPNEF-BEEmELE

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, = Our Customers — Protecting Privacy
how they are implemented and monitored. Matters
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HKEx ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HE8RERER

RIE - e MEamE

EBXZARE -HERENR
BEESIRBRS @

Related Section(s)
B EE

B7. Anti-corruption
B7. RE5

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BN PR BFRAERENBERRETHETAGEAZED
B ER AR E R -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

BREMIEEB7 1 RBEMAHBRTAXERERE YD RENE
TSR RAERIHIBIE KA R o

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

FARERIEEB7.2 P BE e B REF HERTRERT A

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

A MIEEBT I iR AEE REIHREITHEII-
B8. Community investment
BS. t B&R&E

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure that its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRANMRSERTHRETAZEMELRFENBREXZZ EHE
ZEALEFSABR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

RREMIEIEBS 1 T ERERE (5  RIREE  SBF R BE-
X{E-8F) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

MREREEB2 A IBBMPAER (M BEHKRE) -

Our Customers — Anti-corruption

BHNEP-RES

Our Customers — Anti-corruption

BANEF—-RES

Our Customers — Whistle-blowing
Procedures

B ER— BWIEF

Our Customers — Anti-corruption

BHNEFP-RES

Our Community

£2 A nl=pk i

Our Community

£> A nl=pE st

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social
BRESEE-F-HD 4=
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEE 2BEE

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R&EE) (“Mr. She”), aged 62, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 25 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Mr. She is also a director of eprint Limited, a company which has
discloseable interests in the shares of the Company under the
provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”).

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 60, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 15
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfilling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Mr. Leung Yat Pang (£ —J§) (“Mr. YP Leung”), aged 60, was
appointed as an executive Director on 21 August 2024. He is a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company and has been
engaged as an executive assistant of the Group since August 2023.
He served as a non-executive Director of the Company from 13
November 2013 to 28 May 2015. Mr. YP Leung has approximately
30 years of experience in the printing industry. He graduated from
Huagiao University with a bachelor’s degree in engineering in July
1987.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (2#&H8) (“Mr. WM Leung”), aged 53, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 15 years of experience in the marketing field.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GE#R &) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 67, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 35 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.

Mr. Fu Chung ({82&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 30 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (EJ7A) (former name: Ma Man Wai (X
&) (“Mr. Ma”), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 December 2016. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business (accountancy) from Queensland University
of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma served as
an independent non-executive director of China Kangda Food
Company Limited (whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 834) from 15 December 2022 to
22 January 2024. He is currently the company secretary of China
Boton Group Company Limited (formerly known as China Flavours
and Fragrances Company Limited) (whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3318). Mr. Ma
had worked in accounting firms and different enterprises. He is a
seasoned professional in accounting with over 20 years of relevant
experience.

EXENREERE 2 EE

EBTES

REBAXE(TREHLE]) > 635 3F
BTEF - RN _ZEZNFMALXEER-
REALEERTIHHEREBLER BI15F

BYFHITES

BRELTE([BEE]) 67T N _F
—ANFNA+RABEZERBILIERTT
EZ-RIAFNZESZIREREREZ
BEehiRRZE@RB KB BAELHE
BE35FENI &5 - % B ERZ M ENR
R RITEM AR RA] -

BREE([BEE]) 56 KNZF
—t+F=AN\BRBEERBIINITE
FRNRREBEEGZERELEZEZER
enFWNEESEEB KB -BEEHER
BOFENRIXLR BN _ZZNEFE
ZE-RFREAURNERNGEE -BE
HR_EBETZFE T =FHBMAW
FE(PFR)ERAAEEHELSE AR
—EE=FE_T-REFHETELH
THE BT -

EXAREE(BAB - BEXR) ([B%
£1) 555 R_E—XNE+ A=+
HEZEABIYIIENTES - BNAEX
ZEGZERF -FAER—NMNL=F%
SRENETHEERERES (g:) 2
TEU-FAEEGTMACEE-=F
T —E+ - RAt+HEBE-ZE-_ME—A
—t+t-H BALEEAHPERERRBRER
AR (EBRMOREXAERET  BHR
SRi834) ZBUIFHITER -HIREFEH
HEEEARAR (ABPEEREERSE
RAR EROARBIER LT &G
R :3B18) 2 RAIME-FEEZER
REMEBAETRLCE  BEFNE
AEEALTREB20FHBELER-

2024/25 4R eprint EEERAT 89



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEE ZEE

Independent Non-executive Directors (continueq)

Ms. Yu Mei Hung (R3E4L) (“Ms. Yu”), aged 61, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 July
2023. She is also a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Ms. Yu obtained a postgraduate
certificate in computing studies from The University of Hong Kong,
School of Professional and Continuing Education in association with
The University of Melbourne in July 1996 and a bachelor’s degree
of economics in business administration from Jinan University
in June 1989. Ms. Yu has been a senior financial planner as an
individual insurance agent since August 2016. Ms. Yu has extensive
experience in the administration field, particularly in dealing with
business operations in China. She worked in (i) Lenovo Group
Limited during March 2001 to August 2013, (i) K. Wah Construction
Materials (Hong Kong) Limited during June 1997 to June 2000, (iii)
K. Wah Management Services Limited during April 1995 to May
1997 and (iv) Wheelock Properties Limited during November 1992
to February 1995.

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (2 E18) (“Ms. Leung”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary with effect from 28 June 2023. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration in
corporate administration at The Open University of Hong Kong
(now known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University) in 2009. She is
a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and
a fellow member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Leung
has more than 10 years’ experience in handling listed company
secretarial and compliance related matters.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management

Mr. Chan Cheung Yuen (FRRJ&E) (“Mr. Chan”) is the Group’s
deputy chief executive officer. Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2004
and he possesses extensive experience in the development and
maintenance of customer information systems and intelligent
operational solutions. Mr. Chan is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s overall operations and driving the Group’s transformation
and reforms in printing processes and operations automation.

Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny (FF & X ) (“Mr. Hui”) has been
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect
from 1 January 2023. He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
business management, financial reporting, capital markets activities
and legal and compliance matters. Prior to join the Group, Mr. Hui
had been worked in investment bank divisions of certain financial
institutions and he has around 20 years’ experience in the fields of
capital markets, strategic management, business development and
financial reporting and involved in a wide range of capital market
transactions including initial public offerings, takeovers, acquisitions
and business restructuring. Mr. Hui was awarded a Bachelor’s
degree of Commerce (Honours) in Accounting at the Hong Kong
Shue Yan University in July 2006. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member and a chartered tax adviser of the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong and a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He is also a Certified Environmental, Social
and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded by The European
Federation of Financial Analysts Societies.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2024/25.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of printing services to
a diversified customer base in Hong Kong. The Group is also
engaged in the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound
books and stationeries as well as yacht financing.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators, future development in the business of the Group and
material events occurred after the reporting period of FY2024/25
are discussed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis”. Such discussion forms
an integrate part of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance
The environmental policies and performance of the Group for

FY2024/25 is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 43 to 87 of this annual report.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Report of the Directors

¥KEOEE e
FERRBETRERZE

Risk Description [ B 4

Reduction of market demand

Aside from traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, today the internet and online media have
become an indispensable tool for marketing.

A wide variety of online advertising media have grown rapidly,
including pay-per-click advertising and online banner advertising
that entails the display of a graphical advertising unit, etc., and
social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter, Facebook,
LinkedIn that are the other type of media to maintain customer
relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
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Risk Response

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had been continuously
exploring and diversifying other possible product lines to broaden
the types of services offered. Examples include variables printing,
promotion gifts and other complementary printing products, etc.

Besides minimizing the operating cost, the Group will continue to
strengthen its leading market position and increase market share
by strengthening the cost efficiency to achieve a competitive
pricing strategy. In addition, the Group continues to improve
its product mix and enhance the value-added services such as
e-print mobile application, online self-service platform and logistics
system, etc., in order to enhance the customer experience to
increase customer loyalty.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Report of the Directors
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Risk Description

Fluctuations of purchase costs for raw materials

Major raw materials used by the Group include paper, zinc printing
plates, and printing ink. Among them, paper costs are the largest
component of raw materials costs. The Group purchases a wide
range of paper products from several suppliers located in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Availability and costs of paper can vary as
a result of natural disasters, general economic conditions, and
changes in government regulations. Furthermore, rising labour
costs and other expenses incurred by suppliers may be passed
on to the Group, resulting in higher raw material costs.

The Group’s business is sensitive to fluctuations in the cost of raw
materials. Such fluctuations may impact its profitability and results.
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Risk Response

As paper is the major printing material, the Group regularly
monitors the trend of paper prices by conducting marketing
research. Vendor comparisons would be conducted before placing
a purchase order of raw materials. The Group signed contract
with suppliers to fix the price, or to change suppliers to keep the
costs down and stabilise the supply for the normal operations for
a certain period of time.

Management will keep monitoring the price trend of raw materials
and strengthening the cost control.

Save as the above operational risks, the Company also identified
“impact of U.S. — China trade tensions on demand for printing
products” and “risk of asset misappropriation by internal and
external parties” as principal risks and will keep monitoring these
risks.
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Business Review (continueq)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 43 to 87 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for FY2024/25 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 126 to
127.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2024/25 (FY2023/24: Nil).

Donations

During FY2024/25, the Group made HK$14,456 charitable and
other donations (FY2023/24: HK$190,811).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2025 AGM will be held on Thursday, 21 August 2025.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM to be held on
Thursday, 21 August 2025, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Friday, 15 August 2025 to Thursday,
21 August 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer of shares
accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 14 August 2025. The record date for ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM is
Thursday, 21 August 2025.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for FY2024/25
are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities (including the sale of
treasury shares) during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies
Act”), amounted to approximately HK$154,638,000. Under the
Companies Act, the share premium account of the Company
of approximately HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2025 is
distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 260.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
Mr. Leung Yat Pang (appointed with effect from 21 August 2024)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung

Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Ms. Yu Mei Hung

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Leung Wai
Ming, Mr. Fu Chung and Ms. Yu Mei Hung shall retire from office at
the 2025 AGM by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Leung Yat Pang
was appointed after the annual general meeting on the Company
held on 21 August 2024, he shall hold office until the 2025 AGM,
and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in

Shares

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of the R ZE_AF=A=+—HBH XRQAlE
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, %M E Z17H A 8 B AR &)=k T ] 48 8%
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any JAB (F&ERZBH MG K EXVE) K
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, 1 -HERHLESFFTHEBREZ SR
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange Hi & & {7l EXVER 57 &85 363 &1 K A 7
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including REEXZFHERI AR (BEREZEASR
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to HIEEHIEBEXMBEEIEXEIEHES
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, IR SK B ) @ IR 5 & K B & 1541
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 352K B B R ZIGFTat A & 2t =X
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model 18 1% 1Z Y& <7 BI| 78 3@ &0 K 2 &) M B <5 AT 9
Code, are set out below: BRIKBWT

Interests and short positions in shares, underlying b NN X
shares and debentures of the Company or its BoREFNEZRKAR
associated corporation

() The Company

Name of Directors

EEnR

Mr. She Siu Kee William
SBERE

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
FEEHELE

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

RERKE Ry EE RS () )
Mr. Leung Yat Pang Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position
R—ErAE REdEBEE (1) )
Notes: B3
1. 313,125,000 shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held 1.

Capacity

4%

Beneficial owner

ERBEBA

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
RyfEE RS (M)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
Ryt EE#ER (1)

Interest of spouse (Note 2)

Ao (MEE2)

Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)

Long position/
short position

A V4
ﬁE// I&

Long position
)
Long position
)

Long position
)
LLong position
S

Long position

as to 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Star Leader
Limited (@ company controlled by Mr. She Siu Kee William), Cheuk
Fei Holding Limited (a company controlled by Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki),
Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael, Mr. Leung Wai Ming and China Leader
International Limited (a company controlled by Mr. Leung Yat Pang)
(collectively, the “Concerted Shareholders”) respectively. Pursuant to the
deed of confirmation dated 6 January 2025 (the “Deed of Confirmation”),
each of the above Concerted Shareholders has agreed to jointly control
their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited
shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint instructions of the
Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of the Concerted Shareholders is
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held by eprint
Limited by virtue of the SFO.
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Approximate

Number percentage of
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"B ;NGBS
EBRHA BABSE
1,584,000 0.29%
313,125,000 56.93%
313,125,000 56.93%
712,000 0.13%
313,125,000 56.93%
313,125,000 56.93%

eprint Limited¥ 5313,125,0004% i 17 °
eprint LimitedfiStar Leader Limited (£
BELEZBNORR) ERERBR
AR GEEHETEEBNRA)  FEK
LA REREEREERBEER AR
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in EERFTETHBRABNRHE

Shares (Continued) E

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying E(‘g B A AE B X [ B % 1HE
El

Shares and debentures of the Company or its B
associated corporation (continued)

() The Company (Continued) (i) &=287#
Notes: (Continued) MizE: (&)
2. Mr Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 shares of the 2. HELEERBEARERBERZIFBAN
Company held by his spouse, Ms. Yip Fei. 712,000 AR & J 10 AP S i ek o
(i) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (i) #*HE% % B —eprint Limited

Number of

ordinary shares Percentage of
held in the shareholding in
associated the associated

Name of Directors Nature of interest corporation corporation
?%ﬁ{fﬁﬁﬁﬁii AAEEEEER
EEHS EaME EZREREE Bk
Mr. She Siu Kee William Interest of controlled corporation 2,162 21.62%
_ (Notes 1 and 4)
RNEBESAE RESEE R (EE1Kk4)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation 2,162 21.62%
_ (Notes 2 and 4) N
HEHLA R EEER (MFE2Kk4)
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Beneficial owner (Note 4) 2,162 21.62%
RERTE EnEB A (H5T4)
Mr. Leung Yat Pang Interest of controlled corporation 1,352 13.52%
) _(Notes3and 4)
R—HgkE ZEHEE R (M FEsKk4)
Notes: B 5
1. These 2,162 shares of eprint Limited were held by Star Leader Limited, 1. % 52,162 %eprint Limitedi% {7 A & AR &
a company controlled by Mr. She Siu Kee William. Fe AP ) A F]Star Leader Limited5 74 ©
2. These 2,162 shares of eprint Limited were held by Cheuk Fei Holding 2. % F2,162/eprint Limitedf% {7 i i £ H
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki. FAEEHN AR ERIERAERAARFAE
3. These 1,352 shares of eprint Limited were held by China Leader 3. % %1,352/%eprint Limitedf% 19 1 2 — &
International Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Leung Yat Pang. SHEESINAREEEEERARREA -
4. The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the 4. FRBEEREREARIZERRE
controlling shareholder of the Company which is held as to 21.62%, eprint Limited#) # %5 © eprint Limited &
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Star Leader Limited (a Star Leader Limited (448 & 5t £ 12 H1H)
company controlled by Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam), Cheuk Fei Holding AR CBERIERBRAR (FEBE
Limited (a company controlled by Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki), Mr. Chow EEHIHATE)  FERELE RERHE
Yuk Kau Michael, Mr. Leung Wai Ming and China Leader International AREEBBRER AR (RIS 4EE
Limited (a company controlled by Mr. Leung Yat Pang). HH AR DRI H21.62% - 21.62%
21.62% ~ 21.62% [ 13.52% 1 25 ©
Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives [ EX AW EEIN R_F—_HF = A
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short =+—H BIEARREE T 2ITHA
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the B N/ SFEHBHEATHR AR A K E
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the — {E{a 48 X B 9 (E {7 & 0 ~ FRRA AR 0 K &
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise %  BEH R F N RIEEF KK 14D
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 53521615 i 7217 B # & it flt W s IR IR AR
Model Code as at 31 March 2025. A 57 A jf“ AT A WNGID Bl ok b
B RE
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Share Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written
resolutions of the then shareholders passed on 13 November 2013.
The Old Share Option Scheme was a share incentive scheme and
was established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of
the eligible participants have had or may have made to the Group.

The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August
2023 (“2023 AGM”). No further options shall be granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme. Outstanding options granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme but not yet exercised shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the Old Share Option
Scheme.

Details of the movement in the share options granted under the Old
Share Option Scheme during FY2024/25 are as follows:

Closing price
per share
immediately
before

the date

of grant
(HKS)

28

EEEE )
SRETE
(Ex)

Date of grant of

Category of participants  share option Exercise Period

e

SRER

BRERLAM

16 December 2022 16 December 2022 to 0.64
16 December 2024
“E--%+-At5BZE

ZEMEFZATRB

Employees in aggregate

EE8Y “E--%+-A+A/H

The share options vests immediately from the date of grant and are
exercisable up to 16 December 2024.

At the 2023 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption of the
new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”).
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during
the year

Outstanding
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2024

Outstanding
as at
31 March
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during
the year
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Share Schemes (Continued)

The principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

1.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group;
to attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable
development of the Group; and to align the interest of the
grantees with those of the Shareholders of the Company to
promote the long-term financial and business performance of
the Company.

The participants of the New Share Option Scheme include any
employees (whether full time or part time), director or officer
of the Group, and any employee, director, chief executive or
officer of the holding company(ies), fellow subsidiary(ies) or
associated company(ies) of the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company as
at 24 August 2023 (the “Adoption Date”), being the date on
which the New Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional,
which was 55,000,000 shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”)
and such limit might be refreshed by Shareholders at general
meeting in accordance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The total number of options available for grant under the
Scheme Mandate Limit at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025
was 55,000,000. As at the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the New Share
Option Scheme is 55,000,000 shares, representing 10% of
the issued shares of the Company.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the Board shall not
grant any options to any participant which, if exercised, would
result in such participant becoming entitled to subscribe for
such number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued or to be issued to him under
all options or awards granted to him (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the Company)
in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
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Share Schemes (Continued)

6.

10.

11.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the Board shall not
grant any options to any independent non-executive Director
or a substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates would result in the shares issued and to
be issued in respect of all options and awards already granted
or to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any
other schemes of the Company (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant
schemes) to such person in the 12-month period exceed
0.1% of the shares in issue.

The option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee and
such period shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the
date of grant.

The vesting period of the options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall not be shorter than 12 months
from the date of acceptance of the offer. The Board may,
however, at its absolute discretion, set any performance
targets that must be achieved before the option can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a grantee.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21
days after the date of making the offer and the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by the way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion but in any event shall be not less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; and (i) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company at general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date, i.e.
24 August 2023.
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Share Schemes (Continued)

Details of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 28 July 2023.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since the Adoption Date.

The Company does not have any other share schemes except for
the New Share Option Scheme. 44,000,000 share options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme were lapsed in December
2024, which represented 8% of the weighted average number of
issued shares of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Schemes”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during FY2024/25.
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company
RZE_RAF=ZRA=+—H BEEFH
MU TALT (FBEARREEREE
THRAB)EARRBIRMD K@K%
BRABRERF MHAE R EXVEBE2K%3

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares

and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be

notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the DM ERAFHDBIE B FH R E K
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept 17l S5336{5& R 7F & 17 A9 & &2} A A2 8% A0 12
under section 336 of the SFO: EmIORE

Interests or short positions in shares and underlying RZAQXATRHARAEBR GO HERR
shares of the Company RE

Number of

ordinary Approximate

Shares/  percentage of

Long position/ underlying shareholding in

Nature of interest short position Shares held the Company

FREBEREE REIIEFER

ERtE #E/ HERH# A BABD

eprint Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
eprint Limited (FffsE1) BEm#EA A HaE

Star Leader Limited (Note 2) Beneficial Owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
Star Leader Limited ( Hf3¥2) EmEAA e

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3) Interest of spouse Long position 314,709,000 57.22%
EE R+ (MF3) eBER e

Cheuk Fei Holding Limited (Note 4) Beneficial Owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BERZERBR AR (ME4) EREBA o=}

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 5) Beneficial owner Long position 712,000 0.13%
ERz L (KsE5) ExREAA o=}

Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
B ER i

Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael (Note 6) Beneﬁqial Owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BERE A (HFE6) EREBA o=}

Ms.)Lo Oi Lin (Note 7) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
EEErt (Mz7) A B &= e}

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 8) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BB+ (HEE8) i (B 2 o=}

China Leader Internatlonal Limited (Note 9) Beneficial Owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
REFHKRAFR AR (M) EnfEBA ey}

Ms. Wang Fang (Note 10) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
E 2+ (HEE10) e BER e
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (continves)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continuea)

Notes:

1.

10.

eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 56.93% of the issued Shares. eprint Limited is held
as to 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Star Leader Limited
(@ company controlled by Mr. She Siu Kee William), Cheuk Fei Holding Limited
(@ company controlled by Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki), Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael,
Mr. Leung Wai Ming and China Leader International Limited (a company
controlled by Mr. Leung Yat Pang) respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of
Confirmation, each of the Concerted Shareholders has agreed to jointly control
their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited shall
be accustomed to act in accordance with joint instructions of the Concerted
Shareholders.

Star Leader Limited is a company controlled by Mr. She Siu Kee William.
Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Star Leader Limited is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She Siu Kee William. Under the SFO, Ms.
Lo Suet Yee is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mr. She Siu Kee William is interested.

Cheuk Fei Holding Limited is a company controlled by Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki.
Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Cheuk Fei Holding Limited is deemed to
be interested in all the shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei
is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Chong
Cheuk Ki is interested.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael is deemed
to be interested in all the shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Lo Oi Lin is the spouse of Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael. Under the SFO, Ms.
Lo Oi Lin is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr.
Chow Yuk Kau Michael is interested.

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. Leung Wai Ming. Under the SFO, Ms.
Chau Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mr. Leung Wai Ming is interested.

China Leader International Limited is a company controlled by Mr. Leung
Yat Pang. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, China Leader International
Limited is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by eprint Limited by
virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Wang Fang is the spouse of Mr. Leung Yat Pang. Under the SFO, Ms.
Wang Fang is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mr. Leung Yat Pang is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were
not aware of any other person who had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be

kept

SFO.

by the Company pursuant to section 336 of Part XV of the
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 26 June 2025 for a further
term of three years commencing from 13 November 2025. Mr.
Chong, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 26 June 2025 for a further term
of three years commencing from 16 August 2025. Mr. YP Leung,
an executive Director, has entered into a service agreement with
the Company on 21 August 2024 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 21 August 2024. Each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong
and Mr. YP Leung may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount
of which will be determined by reference to the recommendations
of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 26 June 2025 for a further term of three years
commencing from 13 November 2025.

Mr. Poon has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 26 June 2025 for a further term of three years
commencing from 15 August 2025.

Mr. Fu has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
commencing from 8 March 2023.

Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 26 June 2025 for a further term of three years
commencing from 30 December 2025.

Ms. Yu has signed a letter of appointment issued by the Company
on 28 June 2023 for an initial term of three years commencing from
1 July 2023.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2025 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements for FY2024/25, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or
at any time during the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all Directors had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the year.

Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons which are effective from 1 April 2023:

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited (“CTP”)

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by Mr.
Chow Yuk Kau Michael (“Mr. Chow”), respectively.

2. Promise Properties Limited ({RE&ERWEFR LA T)
(“Promise Properties™)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by Mr. Chow.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Connected Persons (continued)

3.

VVV Limited (“VVV”)

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by Mr.
WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by Mr.
Chow, respectively.

Profit More Rich Limited (B2 E Z &R 2 8) (“Profit
More”)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CTP.

King Profit International Limited (ZRIE K AR A7)
(“King Profit”)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VVV.

Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. YP Leung and Mr. WM Leung are the
Directors and they are controlling Shareholders. The above
companies are associates of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. YP Leung
and Mr. WM Leung, and hence they are considered as connected
persons of the Company under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements

(a)

(b)

(c)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and e-banner as tenants
and CTP as landlord entered into the tenancy agreements in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W6 on 3rd Floor of Block 1;
Units K2, L2, W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit A3 on
1st Floor of Block 3; Units W1 to W5 and N3 on 2nd Floor of
Block 3; Unit B3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 4th Floor
of Block 3; Unit R4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on 5th
Floor of Block 4; and Units M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor
of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$451,800 for
industrial use.

Tenancy agreements relating to King Profit

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as
tenants and King Profit as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit A3 (including
flat roof appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of Block 3, Unit L4
on 3rd Floor of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No. 36 on
Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$66,700 for
industrial and carparking use.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More
as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in respect of
the tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210 on 3rd
Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1
April 2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$53,500
for industrial use.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements (Continued)

(d) Tenancy agreement relating to Promise Properties

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise
Properties as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of Block 2;
Unit K8 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of Block
3; Unit P4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor
of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$156,200 for
industrial use.

(e) Tenancy agreements relating to VVV

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network
as tenants and VVV as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit J2 on 2nd Floor
of Block 2; Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; and Car Parking
Space No. 78 on Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong and
Workshop No. 1 on Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29
Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$217,100 for
industrial and carparking use.

The rental payment made by Lucky Gainer, Promise Network and
e-banner under the above tenancy agreements were recognised
as right-of-use assets and had been regarded as an acquisition of
assets by the Group for the purpose of the Listing Rules.

The above tenancy agreements, when aggregated, constituted (i) a
discloseable transaction of the Company which was subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but was exempt from
the approval of Shareholders requirement under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules; and (i) a connected transaction on the part of the
Company which was subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but was exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirement in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
January 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 17 February
2023.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for FY2024/25 are
set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, the Group did not carry out connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction that are not exempted under
Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules during FY2024/25.

Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (“Mr.
SK Lam”), Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung (together, the
“Covenantors”) entered into the deed of non-competition in favour
of the Company on 13 November 2013 (the “NCU”), pursuant to
which the Covenantors have undertaken to the Company (for itself
and for the benefit of each of the members of the Group) that,
with effect from the date of listing (i.e. 3 December 2013) and for
as long as the shares of the Company remain so listed on the
Stock Exchange and the controlling Shareholders are individually
or collectively with any of his/its associates interested directly or
indirectly in not less than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital
of the Company, the Covenantors or their respective associates
shall not, () directly or indirectly engage in, participate or hold any
right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise be involved
in any business (whether as owner, director, operator, licensor,
licensee, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, employee, consultant
or otherwise) in competition with or likely to be in competition with
the existing business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted
Business”); and (i) directly or indirectly take any action which
constitutes an interference with or a disruption of the Restricted
Business including, but not limited to, solicitation of the Group’s
customers, suppliers or personnel of any member of the Group.
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Non-Compete Undertakings (continueq)

The Covenantors, except for Mr. SK Lam, have confirmed to the
Company that each of them and their respective associates have
complied with the NCU during FY2024/25.

As Mr. SK Lam transferred all his shares in eprint Limited to Mr.
Chow on 15 October 2024, Mr. Chow became a shareholder of
eprint Limited and executed an acting in concert agreement with
all other shareholders of eprint Limited. Mr. Chow considered
himself should also comply with the NCU as if he is one of the
Covenantors. Mr. Chow confirmed to the Company that he has
complied with the NCU during the period from 15 October 2024 to
31 March 2025.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the NCU
and confirmed the compliance with the NCU by the Covenantors
(except Mr. SK Lam) during FY2024/25 and Mr. Chow during the
period from 15 October 2024 to 31 March 2025.

On 1 April 2025, eprint Limited, Star Leader Limited (a company
controlled by Mr. She), Cheuk Fei Holding Limited (a company
controlled by Mr. Chong), Mr. Chow, Mr. WM Leung and China
Leader International Limited (a company controlled by Mr. YP
Leung) (together, the “New Covenantors”) entered into a deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company. Pursuant to which the
New Covenantors have undertaken to the Company (for itself and
for the benefit of each of the members of the Group) that, as long
as the shares of the Company remain listed on the Stock Exchange
and the New Covenantors are individually or collectively with any
of his/its associates interested directly or indirectly in not less than
30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company, the
Covenantors or their respective associates and/or shareholders
(as the case may be) shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in,
participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services to
or otherwise be involved in any Restricted Business; and (ii) directly
or indirectly take any action which constitutes an interference with
or a disruption of the Restricted Business including, but not limited
to, solicitation of the Group’s customers, suppliers or personnel of
any member of the Group.
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Non-Compete Undertakings (continueq)

As disclosed in 2022/2023 and 2023/2024 annual report, the
Company has reasonable cause to believe Mr. SK Lam was in
breach of and has not complied with the NCU due to his brother’s
interest in a company currently listing on GEM of the Stock
Exchange with principal business activities which are similar to
those of the Group. Notwithstanding that, the Company considered
the non-compliance committed by Mr. SK Lam had not caused any
material financial loss or operation disruption to the Group up until
he ceased to be a member of eprint Limited.

As of the date of this report, save as disclosed above, the Company
is not aware of any other matters regarding the compliance of
the undertakings in the NCU and there has not been any material
change in the terms of the NCU during FY2024/25.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 1.2% and
3.9% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 55.4% and 65.8% of the
total purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.
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Report of the Directors
EoE sy

Subsidiaries, an Associate and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures
of the Company are set out in Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu Kit
(chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai, Mr. Fu Chung and Ms. Yu Mei
Hung. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2024/25.

Competition and Conflict of Interests
During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective

associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 19 to 42 of this annual report.
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Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2025 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2025 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

To the Shareholders of eprint Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 126 to 259, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition from paper printing and banner printing segment.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition from paper printing and banner printing segment

Refer to Notes 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group recognised revenue of HK$287,923,000 on
sales of goods from paper printing and banner printing
segment.

The revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a
point in time when the Group delivers the goods to its
customers.

We focus on this area due to its magnitude and the
high volume of transactions involved. As a result, a
significant amount of effort was spent on auditing this
area.
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We have performed the following procedures to address
this key audit matter:

We understood, evaluated and tested management’s
key internal controls in respect of revenue recognition
on sales of goods.

We tested the revenue transactions on a sample basis
by tracing to supporting documents such as sales
contracts and customer receipts.

We also performed cut-off testing on a sample of
revenue transactions related to individual customers
before and after year end to assess whether the
transactions were recognised in the proper period
by tracing to sales contracts, customer receipts and
deferred revenue calculation, where applicable.

Based on the procedures performed, we considered
that the revenue recognition from paper printing and
banner printing segment were supportable by the
available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Lee Chun Wah, Ryan (practising certificate
number: P07034).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHffRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=-A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_RF —EYF
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Revenue & 5 292,593 316,277
Cost of sales SHEK A 8 (178,375) (197,060)
Gross profit =7 114,218 119,217
Other income BN 6 4,249 5,235
Other gains/(losses) — net Huapyas (E518) — 58 7 443 (6,187)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX 8 (32,620) (32,786)
Administrative expenses ITHRAX 8 (90,760) (92,044)
Provision for impairment losses on TREEREFRBRER
financial assets 3.1(b) (65) (1,972)
Operatingloss _  _______  BEBE®E o ..Bsss) (8,537) _
Finance income BMEKA 10 1,625 4,952
Finance costs Bl & B A 10 (3,522) (3,518)
Finance (costsy/income —net B (KA) JRATFE LIS -1/ I 1434
Share of loss of an associate FEAE — B & ARS8 17 (78) (199)
Share of profits of joint ventures EiEeatERH 18 1,638 1,218
R 1,560 1,019
Loss before income tax BRFTIS TR E 1R (4,872) (6,084)
Income tax expense FristiA 11 (842) (816)
Loss for the year FAEE (5,714) (6,900)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

affmalaER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BHE_Z_RFE=A=1T—HIFE

2025 2024
—EZhHF —TMF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year UTEEEBEFER
attributable to: (E51|) B F:
— Equity holders of the Company —RATFERFEEA (6,130) (8,306)
— Non-controlling interests — IR AR R 2 416 1,406
Loss for the year FRER (5,714) (6,900)
Other comprehensive income/(Ioss): Hira s (BE) -
Item that may be reclassified to AJEEM P B I EE -
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences bE X =& 615 (949)
Total other comprehensive Hibtr & Wz, (E518) 5
income/(loss), net of tax HMBRBIIAE 615 (949)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAIREEEES (5,099) (7,849)
Loss per share attributable EATRERBFEA
to the equity holders of EihEREE:
the Company:
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) & K #58 (A8 1l) 12 (1.11) (1.51)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income L TN&BEEEER

for the year attributable to: e (FE) haEsE:
— Equity holders of the Company —ARREERFEEA (5,557) (9,198)
— Non-controlling interests — IR 458 1,349

(5,099) (7,849)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income it & Gf4r & U35 7= FE B RE B B 55 — 61 59
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHFERRARR R

As at 31 March 2025
RZZEZRF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-REF —ZTHF
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Assets 5E
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB k& 13 175,446 134,589
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 39,110 54,669
Intangible assets mEEE 15 725 725
Loan receivables JE W & 3K 23 7,396 -
Other financial assets at amortised cost H# KX AT R Eb e mEE 24 - 29,576
Investment in an associate E’\ Rt & N AR E 17 1,103 1,181
Investments in joint ventures NEEBEMIRE 18 11,675 11,061
Deferred income tax assets mkﬁﬁ BHEE 31 224 256
Deposits and prepayments e RIERNRIE 22 1,109 21,223
236,788 253,280
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 10,433 5,332
Trade receivables B 5 EWFRIE 21 5,043 5,291
Deposits, prepayments and Be BT RIE R E b e IR
other receivables 22 9,005 5,310
Loan receivables JE U & 3R 23 12,553 =
Other financial assets at amortised cost H#HX AT R S mMEE 24 - -
Financial assets at fair value through ~ FBBRIE AL EBEEIIEZ
profit or loss = ﬁ? 25 1,225 8,994
Amounts due from related companies & U & 28 A 7] 38 38 377 328
Current income tax recoverable GRS 4R ﬁfr % 363 84
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEFEEIRE 26 103,056 100,035
142,055 125,374
Total assets EEH#E 378,843 378,654
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to AR ERFEEARBGEER
the equity holders of the Company N EE
Share capital A& A< 27 5,500 5,500
Share premium AP % 1B 07 132,921 132,021
Other reserves H b {4 1 28 85,871 91,428
224,292 220,849
Non-controlling interests FE 52 R b 2 16(a) 18,952 14,219
Total equity AR 243,244 244,068
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
BHIEIRRE

As at 31 March 2025
RZZE-—RF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RE —EUE
Note HK$ 000 HK$’000
B 5 FHBT FHETT
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 5,291 23,764
Other payables HAth &~ IR 29 2,045 877
Deferred income tax liabilities BREMEHEE 31 4,074 3,836
S 11,410 28477
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B 5 I8 29 5,435 10,734
Accruals and other payables JE & 3R I8 I H fth FE < 5RIB 29 24,176 30,454
Borrowings BE 30 71,128 40,951
Lease liabilities HEARE 14 22,791 23,408
Amounts due to directors B EEFIB 38 407 148
Current income tax payable FEHE BRFTIB R 252 414
e 124,189 106,109
Totalliabiiies  RG#® 195599 13458
Total equity and liabilities ERRkBEEEE 378,843 378,654

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to 259 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2025 and were
signed on its behalf.

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Director

EF

bt & O B 7 AR O 2R R 2B B P 5 — BF B

F126E250H TH A MV ERRENR_F
THEXNA-tHABEEZEESHE T H
THEERRESE -

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
HEBHEL
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SR ER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_T-_RAF=-A=+—HILFE

Share
capital

Bk
$'000
TR

Share
premium

Attributable to equi
7 /7\ T ,;?i

Capital
reserve

AARR
HK$'000

AR

Other
reserve

At
HK$'000
AT

olders of the Company

based
payment

f
HK$'000
Thx

Exchange
reserve

Retained
garnings
gEl
HK$'000

TAT

®

Non-
controlling
interests

IR R
HK$'000

BT

Balance at 1 April 2023 WZE-=£RMA-R&H 5,500 132,921 6,593 1) 17,051 (3,035) 80,038 239,047 12,743 251,790
Comprehensive (loss)/income 54 (FB) ki
(Loss)/profit for the year R (ER) /E7) - - - - - - (8,306) (8,306) 1,406 (6,900)
Other comprehensive loss AthGeER
Currency translation differences EXER

- Group -A£8 - - = S S 81) - (81) (57) (138)

- Joint ventures and an associate ~REDER-ERELT - - - - - (811) - (811) - (811)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income B4 (BB) /hEsE - - - - - (892) (8,306) (9,199) 1,349 (7,849)
Transactions with owners, EERERBING

recognised directly in equity KBRS
Transfer upon lapse of share options REREAMEER - - - - (1,950) - 1,950 - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHHBAR - - - - - - - - 127 121
Total transactions with owners, EERERRINS

recognised directly in equity REANERS - - - - (1,950) - 1,950 - 127 127
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-A

&8 5,500 132,921 6,593 1) 15,101 (8,927) 73,682 229,849 14,219 244,068
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ApHEREBE

For the year ended 31 March 2025

(=T AF=A=T—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRARREEAES

Share

based Non-
payment Exchange  Retained controlling

reserve reserve  earnings interests Total
RER

EAfE HUREE R NERE REEA Nt FERRER g
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000
TER TER TEx TiEn TiEn TiERn TiEn TER TER TER

Share Share
capital  premium

Capital Other

reserve reserve Sub-total

Bx  RHVEE

Balance at 1 April 2024 A=EB-mEMA-REH 5500 132921 6598 @) 15101 (3927) 7368 209849 14219 244068
Comprehensive (loss)/income B4 (BR) /i
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) /57 - - - - - - (6,130  (6,130) 416 (5,714)
Other comprehensive loss b 3
Currency translation differences ERER

- Group -55E - - - - - 34 - 34 42 76

- Joint ventures and an associate ~GELER-RBEAT - - - - - 539 - 539 - 539
Total comprehensive (loss)/income B4 (FB) /hEsE - - - - - 513 (6,130) (5,557) 458 (5,099)
Transactions with owners, EERERBING

recognised directly in equity KBRS
Transfer upon lapse of share options RERER MRS - - - - (15101) - 15101 - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HREAR - - - - - - - - 4,500 4,500
Dividend paid Bk - - - - - - - - (225) (225)
Total transactions with owners, EERERBING

recognised directly in equity EEANERS - - - - (15101) - 15,101 - 4,275 4,275
Balance at 31 March 2025 R-E-HE=A=1-A

&8 5500 132,921 6,593 (21) - (3354) 82653 224292 18952 243244

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be |t it & {3 #8 %5 & Bh 2% /& B2 BB Bt BT 5= — 64 3
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BOEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
ETE - AF=A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities ﬁ“ EEHEENBREERE
Cash generated from operations EEBEELEMR S 33(a) 15,457 28,029
Interest paid Eﬁ A2 (1,939) (1,289)
Income tax (paid)/refunded (1) / EFT1R (891) 752
Net cash generated from operating KEREFERE FE
activities 12,627 27,492
Cash flows from investing activities REGHEEANRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & E 2% - = M &R & (32,565) (30,971)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEYE BEARED
plant and equipment Fr{S k18 33(b) 486 2,188
Proceeds on redemption of other financial ﬁg@ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬁi$§lmﬁz
assets at amortised cost H A& mﬁﬁFZFﬁﬁ KB 8,000 14
Proceeds from disposals of financial HEBBETEAREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss %l ﬁEZi BEEZ
1S 51 9,408 7,212
Interest received B F ‘J/u 1,625 4,952
Acquisition of a subsidiary W BE — KB A A 34 &35 5,380 (28,831)
Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary, HE B AR MEHRIE
net of cash nKrHRe - 3
Dividend received from financial assets at K BB BEDZIE AR BE
fair value through profit or loss IR EREEZ
2 AR B 36 25
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMAR & F (7,630) (45,408)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEERELANESRE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 33(c) 70,711 71,548
Repayments of borrowings EEEE 33(c) (44,674) (53,279)
Payment for lease liabilities THREES ﬁ 33(c) (25,396) (25,264)
Repayment to an non-controlling interest  [A] JE 5 A% # 25 12 3K 33(c) (2,500) =
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests & 15 3 5= A% # %5 B% 33(c) (225) =
Net cash used in financing activities BEEEMARESFE (2,084) (6,995)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HekReFEEIER
cash equivalents B, O ) F58 2,913 (24,911)
Cash and cash equivalents FURe KRB EHEER
at beginning of year 100,035 125,024
Effect of change in exchange rates EXEFHNZE 108 (78)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year F X4 MIE& FEIEH 26 103,056 100,035

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in it & #1384 ik & 7 JE B BE [ Bt 55 — G B

conjunction with the accompanying notes. g
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2013 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, an associate and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards (“HKFRS”) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.
622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

B OB R R AR IRE

—REH

eprintE@ AR AR ([AR2A )R
—E—=ZHFE-A+RAREREH
SERaE(KEIT)RAERET
ML RERRBER ARG - ARRQA]
+F i 3% == Bz th 1k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands °

AKARBREER AR HE X BH
BAR - —HMEBEARRALEDE
ZEBDRENKIFE16 17 k18 °

BRASAN ARRARENEB R
A (% [AEE )W GF B g ®wK
BRABT (BT 28K

mAERE
ARAMAHHBRE D RBE

gtmMog([ER Gt A®])
Mz BBV BHRE LR ST ER
(TEAMBREEN]) RFBXD
F622EF B 1 RGBT AR TR

?'qjo

& BT R R B AR B S K AR
B3R A BB S R E B I8 %
BAAEESRN S BAEN S
fEd BT

BEAA TR RSB A b
B SRR A B T EAGE it
A 7B I B A A PR A R
B 1 ) BT o 3 B B B AR I 4 BT
WHMGES RBRREEHA
PHBBRRABALENEE B
B 34 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 HRRME

2 Basis of preparation continueq)

2 mBEXE ..

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  Amended standards and interpretation adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards
and interpretation for the financial year beginning 1 April

21 BEFBRRBBRKRESTRE

(@)

AL B 2 IR YA NE 5T R K
i

AEEER_T_MFMNA—
BB MBFREERBIATE

2024 and are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to HKAS 1
BERGHEAEIRZBEIR
Amendments to HKAS 1
BERGHEAEIRZBEIR
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BERUBHREERFE165 2 EFT AR
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (Revised)

BEREFRSRZERIA (KIER])

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 17

BB ERETR RBEEMERE
R FEA7IR 2 BET AR

The adoption of these amended standards and
interpretation does not have any significant change to
the accounting policies or any significant effect on the
results and financial position of the Group.
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ERBERE ARALE
ZEBEM:

Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-current

KRB BERRBKIERD

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MERERNIERB AR

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERrHOzHERRE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

MBHREEI - BRAHELERERERERZERERZ
Pal !

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HEEBE 5

R ERETEARREY
BEHEHABRELEEMNERE
BREANEE 2 FE NP B
MERERBRFE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Basis of preparation continue)

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New standards, amended standards and interpretation
which are not yet effective for this financial period and
have not been early adopted by the Group

Certain new standards, amended standards and
interpretation have been published that are not
mandatory for the year ended 31 March 2025 and have
not been early adopted by the Group in preparing the
consolidated financial statements:

B O ERR I T

2 mEEE
21 BEFBHREHRBESETE 2

©)

AR B B i oK 4 5% A A5
(B AE I PR #TETER - A
1EET A Rz FE

HETHTER - KBETEAR
RECHEMBHEREE_Z
“THE=ZA=+—BILFES
FlER  MAEEREEA G

Amendments to HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1
BAECELE21REES
M ELELNEIR BT AR
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
BEAVBRELENEIRRES
MRS ERETR BRI A
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7
BB ELRFE15
BEVBREERETHR
BB RE R FH
BRI EHRELERIFE105 &
BB ERFETHR
HKFRS 18

.

BAMBRERA L1685
HKFRS 19
BAEMGHEEAE195R

Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

FBREESR ZERIA

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28
BEMBRELENFEIORRES
FETAERIE285R 2B FT A

MBHmRE TERERRA:

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after

LT BHAIEL
ZERBEN
SHEEN

Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

R Al Rt —E-RF
—A—H

Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026

Instruments

TRIAZHBEREE TECRFE

—HA—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 1 January 2026
Standards — Volume 11

BEEMBHRERER ST R FREE -—F115 —TRF

—H—H

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

MBHRRET MK E

1 January 2027

—EEF
—A—H
Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosures
EAKBMBEUENME QR KE —Eot+F
—HA—H
Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2027
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
MBHRERNZ2I - ERALHBSFIERERER
BRZEHER 2D
Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
KREEZHABERNAREELENEELENK HEE
T E

—EAF
—H—H
To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR5 HRRME

2 Basis of preparation continueq)

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New standards, amended standards and interpretation
which are not yet effective for this financial period and
have not been early adopted by the Group (Continued)

Management is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above new standards, amended standards
and interpretation that are relevant to the Group upon
initial application. It is not yet in a position to state
whether these new standards, amended standards
and interpretation will have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
function currency. The Group operates in various regions
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily arising
from cash and cash equivalents and deposits and other
receivables which are denominated in Japanese Yen
(“JPY”) and US dollar (“US$") which are held by group
companies whose functional currency is not the same as
the respective foreign currencies. The Group manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular review of
the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures.
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3 Financial risk management continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(@) Market risk (continuead)
() Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025,

receivables.

The currency risk on assets and liabilities denominated

if JPY had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the HK$ with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would not have
a significant impact (2024: HK$533,000 lower/higher),
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of JPY denominated deposits and other

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

3 HMKEKBERE .
3.1 BEBREE »
(@ WEEE )

() SMNERS ()

RZE-RAE=A=+—H 4
HE X BTHEBBE%imFT
EEMEHEFTE FAFA
BEGEFETKR(ZE_mE:
B D18 533,000 ) * T B
MRBEARBEFENZRS R
H b B I R IE 2 A A SN BE S
BT

MRBT B ATEXTEE £ 2

in US$ which were mainly held by Hong Kong group HEEERETHNEAEEH

entities, the functional currency of which is HK$, is
considered to be minimal as HK$ is currently pegged to

USS.

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
mainly arises from cash at banks, other financial assets
at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s bank
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents are carried at
amortised costs with variable rates, which expose the

Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

ERBAZUETTFENEE
T & E R INE R R AR AR o

(i) HzRERAAEEFFER

$$E"]£ﬁuimb§&L\/Lﬁ{gfﬁ
MERBRFERBRTRE
E%%W$ﬂ%2ﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁ
E -EZRBREAARBMEIEK

ZEMEE - RTBERHEE
BfE-

H+

R-ZFB-_AFR-_FT-_NF=
A=+—RH X&EBRTEE
RehBeSEBRE HREH
X 51 BRI 4R % B R R G
SAREEAXBRERENEE

4 o
A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PSRRI

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(a)

Market risk (Continuead)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities at amortised costs, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and lease liabilities
which are of fixed interest rates and are also exposed to
the risk of future changes in market interest rates.

However, the Group’s income and cash flows from
operations were substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates as the significant interest-bearing
assets were either fixed or not expected to fluctuate
significantly.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, financial assets and
liabilities at amortised costs and lease liabilities at fix
rates exposure the Group to insignificant fair value
interest rate risk as the fixed interest rates approximate
market interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before
income tax would have been approximately HK$541,000
higher/lower (2024: HK$410,000 higher/lower). The
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the reporting
date. The 100 basis point increase/decrease represents
management’s assessment of reasonable possible
change in the interest rate which has the most impact on
the Group over the period until the next year end date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(a)

Market risk (Continueq)

(i)

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from
investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 25).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with
the limits set by the Group.

The Group’s investment in securities are publicly traded.
The fair value is determined with reference to quoted
market prices. For the Group’s investment that is not
publicly traded, management is of the opinion that the
fair values of the equity instruments affected by changes
in the market price of the underlying equity instruments is
immaterial (Note 3.3). Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is required.

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively
with all other variables held constant, that all of the
Group’s equity instruments increased or decreased by
HK$61,000 (2024: HK$450,000), that moved in line with
the assumption. The management is of the opinion that
the Group has minimal exposure to the price risk as at
31 March 2025 and 2024.

(b) Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and

cash equivalents, loan and interest receivables, other financial
assets at amortised cost, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and amounts due from related companies. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

(a)

(b)

B O ERR I T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

()

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all the bank deposits
are deposited in the high-quality financial institutions.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank deposits are also subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. Management are of the view
that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in
those banks which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any material
losses from non-performance by these banks as they
have no default history in the past.

Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.
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3 Financial risk management continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

3 HXRABRER .
31 BREKBREE #
b) EERK#)

(i)

Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
COSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost

Management applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance for loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost.

The Group uses three categories for loan receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost which
reflect their credit risk and how the expected credit loss
provision is determined for each of those categories.
The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit loss on a timely basis. To
measure the expected credit losses, management has
considered quantitatively and qualitatively whether there
has been an actual or expected significant increase in
credit risk (i.e. Stage 2 or 3) to the balance since its initial
recognition. Management would base on the credit risk
assessment of the counterparty and adopt the loss rate
with reference from the external credit rating agent. The
loss rate was adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the counterparties to settle the receivables.

(i)
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BEER ARBREEERRK
MRS ENEERREES
BRE - AEEEBERE
HMEEBRELESBE K
HEERBAK RAEEH
SEEER BYBRERIANR &
BEFERTUHEMERT AR
ZEERRE (B1E — % =K
BIREEER KRR KNIEE
meEEERRERSE FH
EERBRFGILSEINRER
AP RABEE -
ERBERXDEHBEARRE
MR EXHE T EERKKA
ENZERBREERZHNE R K
R M EH -
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B PSRRI

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(i) Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised

CoSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s
expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category
Ehl

Stage 1

£

Stage 2

F[BE
Stage 3

FE-FER

Group definition of category

FEERER A TER

Receivables have a low risk of default
and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flows

EHORRRBERENSORSNER
7158 S e WK IR

Receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

B Y] HER A RS B R B K g T+ 6y
JE WK IA

Receivables for which it is credit
impaired since initial recognition

B Y] 27 HE R LA SR ER 155 B RUE &Y FE W
IR
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EERER

31 BIREKBREE #

EERE =)

(i) JENEF R ITEE GG R~
Ao EE (&)

JEY B Rt B35 2K 5| e 2
At MEEZBE (&)

AEEBENEEBEERNR
RELT

Basis for recognition of expected
credit loss provision

BRAAHCESERENEE

12 months expected credit loss. Where
the expected lifetime of an asset is
less than 12 months, expected losses
are measured at its expected lifetime

12 AFEHREEBE - MEENTREFE
HA 1218 A - BIFEEIES BiRTEHF
Hzt 8

Lifetime expected credit loss

THBEBEEEE
Lifetime expected credit loss

E2HBEREEER
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3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

(i)

Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
COSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the loan receivables
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the loan receivables as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° whether the customers have met the contractual
payment obligations;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk;

° any actual or expected significant deterioration
in operating results or financial conditions of
customers;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations; and

B O ERR I T

MEREARER
BERERBREE#

EERE 2)

(i)

JEWE R s BEaH K A S AR .2
A M EZE (#)

JEY B R e B35 2K 5| e 2
At MEZEZBIE (#)

fEE R EEN
R E AR ERAREER

2 B BRER I KBS
RBERHERERELNE
Z’]ﬂﬁﬁéﬂﬁ"%ﬂﬁ%@mbﬁﬁﬁﬂ’éﬂ&

RELNEORRETHLER
ECL‘TT.:HEHT AEEEZEE
EEEEEBENETEREME
B-efstguilEadZFAH
8% Pk NS %5 B R 1S /Y Al
HEMEER -

LTER ReHEERRES

RERNE @ZRATER:
s EFPRABECETAAOMNK
BfE:

e FEERRMINETHIZER
RNIgE =

s XEPWKEFEEXMBEMN
R ER B TE AR
B

e SER i%ﬁiii%»lﬁﬁkﬂﬂ’]

Eﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁfﬂ}\ﬁﬂﬁfﬂ‘*
BEEMREIAE TR &
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AU SRR
3 Financial risk management coninues 3 HMKEKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BIREKBREE #
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERB#)
(i) Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised (i) FEYCE R 1T 5K AR B BR 2

CoSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Definition of default and credit-impaired

The Group determines that a financial instrument is
credit-impaired and in Stage 3 by considering relevant
objective evidence.

The following qualitative factors would also be
considered in determining whether default has occurred:

° The customer is deceased,;
° The customer is insolvent; or

° It is becoming probable that the customer will enter
into bankruptcy.

The factors above have been applied to the loans
to customers of the Group and are consistent with
the definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. Therefore, the definitions of
credit-impaired and default are aligned as far as possible
so that Stage 3 represents all loans that are considered
defaulted or otherwise credit-impaired.
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MRRNERKTBHEX
THES BEHEBAR
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TR o
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AEEEAERANEES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

(i)

Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
CoSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

(a)

Loan receivables

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group
provided for expected credit loss provision against
loan receivables as follows:

Stage 1
F-RR

HK$'000
TRERT

Asat31 March 2025 WZZE-h#E

=A=t—H
Weighted average MEFHEREEER
expected loss rate 0.1%
Gross carrying amount BRI 2 1E 14,596
Loss allowance BEEE 12

B O ERR I T

MEREARER
BERERBREE#

EERE &)

(i) FEMWEZL R I8 155K 72l B~
Atz EE (&)

JEY B R e B35 2K 5| e 2
Hith 2 EEZRIE (%)

(a)

Stage 2
FoER
HK$’000
FET

6.9%
5,762
397

e E K

R-FE-_AFER-_F_N
FZA=T—H Xx&H
RENEFGHIRBEREE
BRBEEHET

Stage 3 Total
FZRR At
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

- 2.0%
- 20,358
- 409

Asat 31 March 2024 RZTZF
ZA=+-H
Weighted average EEHEREREE
expected loss rate -
Gross carrying amount BRI 421 -
Loss allowance BEEE -
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

(i) Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
CoSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

(@) Loan receivables (Continuead)
The closing loss allowance for loan receivables

as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 reconcile to the
opening loss allowance as follows:

Stage 1
F-RR

HK$’000

BERREE -
ﬂjﬁ%@@ R (#&)
EERE &)

(i) JENEF R ITEE GG R~
Ao EE (&)

JEY B Rt B35 2K 5| e 2
At MEEZBE (&)

@ REEER®)

RZE_RFR_ZT M
F=A=+—HBH EWKE
TR oK s 18 R L A X))
EEEBEHENT

Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FRR FZRR #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT

Opening loss allowance R=ZE==%F}
asat1Aprl2023and —ZE-MEMA—H

2024 MENERREE -
Loss allowance for FRRBRERM

impairment of ERERZRE

loan receivables BiEkHE

recognised in profit
and loss during

TERT TERT TERT

the year 12 397 - 409
Closing loss allowance M-Z-HF

asat31 March2025 ZA=+—HH

FREREB 12 397 - 409
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the loss HE-_ZE-_ARAF=A
allowance of approximately HK$409,000 was =+—BHLEFE HiERE
recognised and debited to the profit and loss (2024: & #1409,00078 7T B ¥ R
HKS$nil). YREBRAR(ZE X
FBET)
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3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

(i)

Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised
CoSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

(b)  Other financial assets at amortised cost
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group

provided for expected credit loss provision against
other financial assets at amortised cost as follows:

Stage 1
F-RR

HK$’000

B O ERR I T

BERREE -
MEEREZE 2
EERE &)

(i) FEMWEZL R I8 155K 72l B~
Atz EE (&)

JEY B R e B35 2K 5| e 2
Hith 2 EEZRIE (%)

b) HBERAIRZEMBE
BMEE

R-F-_AFR-F_N
FZA=1T—H A&%H
PR B SR AR DI BR 2 A
ERMEEFIRBHERES
BEEDT

Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FRR FZRR At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT

Asat31 March2025 WZZ_hH#%E
=A=+-H
Weighted average MEFHEREEXR

TERT TERT TERT

expected loss rate - - 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount BRI 421 - - 4,489 4,489
Loss allowance BEEE - - 4,489 4,489
As at 31 March 2024 RZTZF

=R=+—H
Weighted average EEHEREREE

expected loss rate 1.41% - 100% 14.2%
Gross carrying amount BRI 8 1E 30,000 - 4,489 34,489
Loss allowance EREEE 424 - 4,489 4,913
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEAKBEZE
(b) Credit risk (continuea) b) EERK2)
(i) Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised (i) JEYE R I 55K AN F R 2
cost (Continuea) Bt % gt EE (#)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost (Continued)

JEWE R B 5 K FI R 2
Bt &EHE (&)

(o) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (o) IREIEKARTERZEME
BMEE (&)

The closing loss allowance for other financial assets
at amortised cost as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
reconcile to the opening loss allowance as follows:

RZFE_RAFR-_FT N
FZRAZ=Z+—H L#H
MAGNR 2 HMESrmEE
MEREBERGRFEIE
BREYHERNT

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-ER E-BR EZRE @zt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TR TR

Opening loss allowance RZZE==FA[—

as at 1 April 2023 AR EEERE 2,168 1,194 - 3,362
Transfer B - (1,194) 1,194 -
(Reversal of loss FARBRERNEZ

allowance)/loss BENRTIE L

allowance for HiheMEEZ

impairment of RE(ERRER

other financial assets  [) /J{EEE

at amortised costs i

recognised in profit

and loss during

the year (1,744) - 3,295 1,551
Closing loss allowance RZZZF = A

asat 31 March 2024 =+—BHERE

and opening loss BRERR-F

allowance as at “HENA—BH

1 April 2024 FONEEEE 424 - 4,489 4913
Reversal of loss YE—HRBARE

allowance from EZEEREERD

acquisition of

a subsidiary (424) - - (424)
Closing loss allowance R=ZE-RhF=H

asat31 March2025 =+—HWEX

EREG - - 4,489 4,489
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3 Financial risk management continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

(i) Loan receivables and other financial assets at amortised (i)

COSt (Continued)

Impairment of loan receivables and other financial assets

at amortised cost (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

3 HXRABRER .
31 BREKBREE #
b) EERK#)

JEWE R s BEaH K A S AR .2
A M EZE (#)

JEUG B Z0 R I B 35 K K 51 B
Bt &E B E (&)

(o) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (o) HEEKASERZEME
BEE (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the reversal HE-_ZFT_AF=AH

of loss allowance of approximately HK$424,000
was recognised and credited to the profit and loss.
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the provision
of loss allowance of approximately HK$1,551,000
was recognised and debited to the profit and loss.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Risk management

The Group has investments in listed securities. For listed
equity securities, the Group monitors the credit risks
of its investments through evaluation of credit ratings.
Management did not consider there was material
exposure to credit risks as the investments in listed
equity securities were graded as low risk with reference

to at least one major rating agency.

=t+—BHLEFE FBEE
{8 #7424,0007%8 7T B R I
FFAEm - BHE—_ZT N
FZA=+—HILEE"
&5 18 % 155 491,551 ooo;%r_c
BRI R EZNE

(i) FEBRzmEK
BEE

R BEIIRZ &

7R B

AEBHEELTREAFKRE 3
EHRAESFMS AEEE
BAEEEESRAREZERE
ZEERB -K2EEL—R
BEREFLAEE RETEREAE
FIREERBERR ﬁM
EERRTFEEANEER
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B PSRRI

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is calculated
based on days past due from various customer
segments which are grouped with similar patterns.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, internal categorisations
and/or the debtors’ credit history with the Group and
ageing profile as at the end of reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the gross domestic
product and the consumer price index of the countries
in which it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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MERERRER
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EERR #)

(iv)

B BN

REBRME DY REER
FOFKMEMEIL T X ATEH
EEEBTIREHE G ER
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BRI MR

3 Financial risk management coninued) 3 HMBEREBRERE .

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 B¥REKBEE

(b) Credit risk (continued) b) EERK#)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZBEKHIE &)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loss allowance R-T-HF )32 ZEZEFE=
for trade receivables was determined as follows, the A=+—H BSEKRREN
expected credit losses below also incorporated forward- EEBEAEET ZZEI T AR TE HB
looking information. EEBEBITMNARNEEER -

Overdue Overdue
Not yet within 31-60 Overdue
due 30 days LEV 60 days Total

REH 30KA  31Z60% 60K @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THET THT THET

As at 31 March 2025 R-ZB=-R#F
=A=+-H

Paper printing products ~ #EERIER

Weighted average expected Ml 15 B 1B X

loss rate 0.2% 2.0% 8.3% 37.1% 71.3%
Gross carrying amount REZE 1,185 251 12 329 1,777
Loss allowance FEEE 2 5 1 122 130

Overdue Overdue
Not yet within 31-60 Overdue
due 30 days LEV 60 Days Total

KA 30KA  31260K 60K st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TERT TET

As at 31 March 2025 R-B-RF
=A=+-H

Banner printing products & Z 1l & &

Weighted average expected  fl#E 19 B BB X

loss rate 3.3% 3.3% 7.0% 16.5% 10.8%
Gross carrying amount REeE 672 769 273 2,093 3,807
Loss allowance EERE 22 25 19 345 411
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management continuec) 3 HMKEKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BKEKRREZE »)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERB#)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) EBZBENFIE (&)
Overdue Overdue
Not yet within 30 31-60 Overdue
due days days 60 days Total
ekt 8 ki
A 30AA 31260K 60X BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THL FET THL
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ_MF
=A=1+-8

Paper printing products 4 B EN I & &
Weighted average expected  fIiEF 1578 H 518 R

loss rate 0.1% 1.0% 7.7% 45.5% 7.4%
Gross carrying amount REAE 1,342 103 26 275 1,746
Loss allowance EiEEE 2 1 2 125 130

Overdue Overdue

Not yet within 30 31-60 Overdue
due days days 60 Days Total

0 1 pingi
el 30KA  31ZE60X 60K @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL  FAL BT TART AR

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-MF
—A=t+—H

Banner printing products EZEIRIE R
Weighted average expected Ml 1578 H 518 =

loss rate 3.4% 3.3% 7.7% 17.0% 8.3%
Gross carrying amount REZE 1,187 896 705 1,218 4,006
Loss allowance BEEE 40 30 54 207 331
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3 Financial risk management continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March

2025 and 2024 reconcile to the opening loss allowances
as follows:

B O ERR I T

3 HERBERE .«
31 B¥REKBEE

(b) EERB#)

(v)

B EWHIE (&)

RZE-_RHFAR T _NF=
B=Z+—H E5EKRFEE
EREETIEERENEER
N

HK$’000
THETT

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FA—BKNFY]
R 1,166
Loss allowance for impairment of trade FARBRERZE ZRUIK
receivables recognised in profit and VERIEN Sk
loss during the year 42
Written off during the year F A 5 (747)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 and R ZE - F = A =+—HH
opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2024 FREBEBEMNR-_ZT-_UF
A —B8FEYEERE 461
Loss allowance for impairment of FARERBRZE Z RN
trade receivables recognised in profit and BB E B
loss during the year 170
Written off during the year F A8 (90)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_AF=ZA=+—HH
FREBEE 541

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in ‘provision for
impairment losses on financial assets’ in the profit and
loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

P W IR R (B 4 4R Y 4 R e AR
BRESABGEAN[EREE
MEEEEE] - BEROME
B—REFAHATAIKEEINR
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.

Impairment of Other Receivables

Other Receivables are subject to impairment requirement
of HKFRS 9. The credit quality of the Other Receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
would base on the credit risk assessment of the
counterparty and adopt the loss rate with reference
from the external credit rating agent. The loss rate
was adjusted to reflect current and forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the provision of loss
allowance of HK$nil was recognised and debited to the
profit and loss (2024: HK$379,000).
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BTSRRI
3 Financial risk management continuec) 3 HMKEKBERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 3.1 MEREREER #)
(b) Credit risk (continued) b) EERK#)
(v)  Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from () &% EMENTERENKEZE
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables”) walHE (FES) ([AMEK
(Continued) HE]) (&)
Impairment of Other Receivables (Continued) At Y TR A (4)
The closing loss allowance for Other Receivables as at RZE_RFR-ZZT-_MOF=
31 March 2025 and 2024 reconcile to the opening loss A=+—H HMERKRKIEHD
allowance as follows: FREEBRERFYEBRE
HERIT :
HK$’000
FHT
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FMA—B8FH
R 628
Loss allowance for impairment of Other F AR 18 2= TE R Y B b B UK 3R I8
Receivables recognised in profit and VERIEN SE-bE L]
loss during the year 379

Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 and R =Z —F=A=+—HHF XK
opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2024 and B EBELR - —N4F
closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2025 MA—BOFEVBEBBENR
R_E_RAF=ZA=+—HH
FREIERE 1,007
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B ERR MR

3.1

(c)

Financial risk management (continueq)
Financial risk factors (continuea)
Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet
obligations when due and to close out market positions. As at
31 March 2025, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$103,056,000 (2024: HK$100,035,000) that
are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash flows of cash and
cash equivalents generated from the financing activities and
the operating activities, respectively to meet its operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. This is generally
carried out at local level in the operating companies of the
Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the
Group. These limits vary by location considering the liquidity of
the market in which the entity operates.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the directors do not consider
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment after taking into account
the Group’s financial position. The directors believe that such
borrowings and lease liabilities will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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3.1

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)
Financial risk factors (continueq)

Liquidity risk (continuea)

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts of repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket
in which the lender could demand repayment and no interest
payments were included. The maturity analysis for financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay.

3.1

(c)

B O ERR I T

MBERBRERE
B E R EE (#)
RBESERE %)
TR EFE

TEAMAEBERBFREHMERS
BHEHENRTHRE D RAH
MBI ERAE TRAKE
THEARMEAANACRE (B
BEOFERFEOFENR) - WE
R N A < B R A BE A E K
HEREREZGFR HEEXAND
BRERARFR EREE 2R
YTEATEEMNENR - EHEBEN
AN REBEEERA HRK
H-TRABEBESHEARBEAAND
ReREMNAEEA KPR
R HEH-

Between Between
On Within 1 and 2and 5
demand PACE T years Total
BREX —EWFE WERF @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THERT THET THERT THERT THERT
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZT-ARF
ZA=1+—*H
Borrowings e 71,128 - - - 71,128
Lease liabilities and interest HESBRFABHAY
eXPenses - 23,485 3,875 1,598 28,958
Trade payables EC Y ARENE - 5,435 - - 5,435
Accruals and other payables FERTHIB K
H b 508 - 10,623 - 10,623
Amounts due to directors EREEHIE - 407 - - 407
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-mF
=A=+—H
Borrowings & 40,951 - - - 40,951
Lease liabilities and interest HEEERFSHAZ
eXpenses - 24,905 21,635 2,809 49,349
Trade payables BHREMNIE - 10,734 - - 10,734
Accruals and other payables FERTRRIE R
H ft fE 1 50E - 10,220 - - 10,220
Amounts due to directors ERNEEHE - 148 - - 148
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management conined) 3 HMBERBRERE .

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 3.1 BMERAKBEER @

(c) Liquidity risk (continuea) (c) RBELRR 2)
Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued) THEEDE (&)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities TEROWMAEEHNESHREE LR
into relevant maturity groupings based on the scheduled BERGZEMABEEREBHGTE -
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the effect WETAFTMREREERROE
of any repayment on demand clause is ignored. LM RHEBEIEER -

Between Between
Within 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total

—FR —E@MF WELF  EFNUL I
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
TR TER TER TR TER

As at 31 March 2025 RZE-R1F

=A=1—-H
Borrowings and interest expenses B E LA B % 25,514 6,395 19,016 27,724 78,649
Lease liabilities and interest expenses & & & R S5 23,485 3,875 1,598 - 28,958
Trade payables BARNTIE 5,435 - - - 5,435
Accruals and other payables JERTFE R

HbER30R 10,623 - - - 10,623
Amounts due to directors ERNESHE 407 - - - 407
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZME

=A=t-H
Borrowings and interest expenses £ E LA SR Y 4,651 4,477 13,432 24,830 47,390
Lease liabilities and interest expenses & & f& & FIl 85 % 24,905 21,635 2,809 - 49,349
Trade payables B HEMNRIE 10,734 - - - 10,734
Accruals and other payables R RIER

H it BT 3B 10,220 - - - 10,220
Amounts due to directors EREERE 148 - - - 148
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and lease liabilities and total equity is calculated as
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 were as
follows:

3.2

B O ERR I T

MEREARER
EXARBER

AEENEARAERAR BUHE
BEAREERHBESIBAIRE
RATIREEELE BARREMHD
BRASEMBENE SR DA R
EXBEARGER EMERBETK
REE-

ﬁi&hﬁm%‘ﬁzﬁfﬁ*%'zﬁ%ﬁf
HABELKNTRRERZBEEEBEEE
BRRE R BT %ﬁﬂx&ﬁﬁéﬁu
DB o

AEEZTEEN REEERE
O REEER -ZRTIIREBE
BHRARGABTE -EHEBT
REFENHEBEAE MEs
BEREHBMBRARIER ]

=)
Al =

R_E_RAFR-_FT_MF=H
St BEMEERBLXRZINNT :

2025 2024
—E-RF —EHFE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Borrowings (Note 30) &8 (f7E30) 71,128 40,951
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEBE (KHiE14) 28,082 47,172
Total debt B AREE 99,210 88,123
Total equity T ARRE 243,244 244,068
Gearing ratio BEEARLE 41% 36%

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio has increased from
36% to 41% as a result of addition in bank borrowings due to
acquisition of the properties.

R-_ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8B B8R
WEMEEBRRITEEE N X
BELEHIBW EFAEI1% -
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3.3
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Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, loan receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, other financial assets at amortised
costs, amounts due from related companies, trade payables,
accruals and other payables, amounts due to directors, lease
liabilities and borrowings approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities and/or bear interest rate at market. The
nominal value less estimated credit adjustments for financial
assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are
assumed to approximate their fair values.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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3.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

B O ERR I T

Bt 75 L B B B )
A R BE M )

smn

\

TREINAEER T -_AFh_
E_WNF=ZA=1T—HAELAEE
HENERMEE-

7

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-1 E-R H=H @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
31 March 2025 —E-RF=HA=+—-H
Financial assets at fair value BRERRAREBEIER
through profit or loss LERMEE 1,225 - - 1,225
31 March 2024 —T_MFE=A=1+—8H
Financial assets at fair value BRBREAAEESER
through profit or loss LEHEE 8,994 - - 8,994
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the FR F— K= zHLTEE
years. #% o

Financial instrument in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities and debentures classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

F—HEe@mTE

REBRMBEENERTARAE
BT RIEREBRT SR E#E"
WMMEUBEREELTCHER S &
HE KA EBRF EERE

AEERBES HE%—MET&%%/T\
BRAFEEETHNERIEEED

BR5 E'JEZI‘B%@Z%/EE&FH%‘)%
AEBFFEREEMAN TS
i&{gﬁa}m *E{g°ﬁzglﬂuﬂ—)\§ﬁ
CFHAE—HRNIAFTEBRE
PERREFBBERERAAEBEIKZ
%F&Eéﬁ%ﬂ’]imﬂxﬁ 55 MBS
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B ERR MR

Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Impairment of loan receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost

The loss allowances for loan receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note
3.1(b).

(b) Income taxes

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values
in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of
unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised, based
on all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgements regarding the future financial performance of
the particular legal entity or tax group. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is
convincing evidence that it is probable that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised,
such as the existence of taxable temporary differences,
group relief, tax planning strategies and the periods in
which estimated tax losses can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Income taxes (continueaq)

The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets recognised
for certain of the Group’s businesses depends
principally on these businesses maintaining profitability
and generating sufficient taxable profits to utilise the
underlying unused tax losses. It may be necessary
for some or all of the deferred tax assets recognised
to be reduced and charged to the profit and loss if
there is a significant adverse change in the projected
performance and resulting projected taxable profits of
these businesses. Judgement is required to determine
key assumptions adopted in the taxable profit and loss
projections and changes to key assumptions used
can significantly affect these taxable profit and loss
projections.

Purchase price allocation in business
combinations

The Group recognises identifiable assets and liabilities
at fair value at the date of acquisition. In applying the
acquisition method, the Group recognises the goodwill
with the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair
values of the identified net assets of acquirees. The
accounting for business combination involves the use
of significant management judgment and estimates
including identifying assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed and the determination of their corresponding
fair values. Management engages an independent
professional valuer to assist in performing the purchase
price allocation exercise on the fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed as at the acquisition
date, which involves significant management judgement
and estimations in the determination of valuation
parameters including discount rates, long term growth
rate and the assumptions in the operating and financial
performance including revenue growth rates and gross
profit margin.
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B ERR MR

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into three business segments:

(@ paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”);

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”); and

(c) vyacht financing segment.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 consists of
the revenue from paper printing, banner printing and yacht
financing. The Group derives revenue from the sale of goods
at a point in time and yacht financing derives all revenue of
time proportion basis with effective interest method.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 consists of the
revenue from paper printing and banner printing. The Group
derives revenue from the sale of goods at a point in time.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

Segment information (continueq) 5 oHER
Segment revenue and results (a) W= RERE
The following tables present revenue and segment results TROMEINRNEB RS 5 5 &
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years EZET_AFEZFT_MF=A
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 respectively. =t BUEFEZRERDHEE -
For the year ended 31 March 2025: BHE_Z-_AF=A=+—8HL*F
=
Paper Banner
printing printing financing Eliminations
HEOR  EEBOR  EERE g @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T TET TET TER TER
Segment revenue 7 Eh
Revenue from external customers }( BINEE P W
- Sales of goods —HEEm 197,608 90,315 - - 287,923
- Interest income —FEKA - - 4,670 - 4,670
Inter-segment revenue A E RS 769 231 - (1,000) -
Total Bt 198,377 90,546 4,670 (1,000) 292,593
Segment results DEEE (8,297) 2,306 2,019 (3,972)
Unallocated: ROHE
Remeasurement loss on investment A4 & JL%Z& B2
in a joint venture BN ERB (563)
Finance income BERA 1,625
Finance costs BEKAR (3,522)
Share of loss of an associate FEL— B & R A
E# (78)
Share of profits of joint ventures & {f & &1 % 5 7l 1,638
Loss before income tax BRETSRATE R (4,872)
Income tax expense FIERREY (842)
Loss for the year FREE (5,714)
Other information: HhE#:
Reversal of/(provision for) FREERERE
impairment losses on BE/ (#HE)
financial assets 424 (80) (409) - (65)
Depreciation of property, 0¥ BERRENE
plant and equipment (8,797) (3,613) (244) - (12,654)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ BEEENE (14,894) (6,834) - 1,446 (20,282)
Capital expenditures BARX (45,611) (4,144) - - (49,755)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —RMB AR
- Property, plant and equipment  —¥1%  BiE Rk 5 - - (4,203) - (4,203)
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B PSRRI

5 Segment information (continueq)

(@) Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Segment revenue
Revenue from external
customers

7 Bbd R
KEshab%E P

FARENR

HK$'000
AL

(a)

DEE R )
DEWMERFEE #2)

BE-_Z_NF=A=+—BIt#F
E:

X

Banner

printing Eliminations Total
LEE £ @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tk Tk Fib

- Sales of goods —-HEEm 223,565 92,712 - 316,277
Inter-segment revenue R ELE 791 244 (1,035) =
Total st 224,356 92,956 (1,035 316,277
Segment results NEEE (13,830) 5,448 (8,382)
Unallocated: AOBE:

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary H&—F B AR Z B (155)
Finance income BERA 4,952
Finance costs BEKA (3,518)
Share of loss of an associate ~ JEIE—fEt & A A EE (199)
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ FE15 4 & (> &35 7 1,218
Loss before income tax BRATS A0 B 1R (6,084)
Income tax expense FERAX (816)
Loss for the year FNER (6,900)
Other information: Ht g

Provision of impairment losses £ Bl & E R BEEBEE

on financial assets (1,895) (77) - (1,972)
Depreciation of property, ME BELRETE

plant and equipment (7,850) (2,592) - (10,442)
Depreciation of right-of-use FRREENE

assets (17,597 (7,064) 4,071 (20,590)
Capital expenditures BARRY (25,142) (2,332) = (27,474)
Acquisition of a subsidiary M- BT

- Property, plant and o/ EXEL

equipment - (28,887) - (28,887)
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Segment information continueq

Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

5 DEER

Paper Banner Yacht
printing printing financing Total
BRI T & ED Rl HEME @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET AT AT
As at 31 March 2025 RZB-_hF=A=1—H 160,595 78,255 24,159 263,009
As at 31 March 2024 RZB-_MF=A=+—H 182,873 83,504 - 266,377
A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided NEEERREEHRMOT :
as follows:
2025 2024
—E_RHE —E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Segment assets DEBE E 263,009 266,377
Investment in an associate RN—EBERARNKE 1,103 1,181
Investments in joint ventures RELELENKE 11,675 11,061
Cash and cash equivalents HehFLEMBEEE 103,056 100,035
378,843 378,654
Segment liabilities DEEE
Paper Banner Yacht
printing printing financing Total
R & E R i3 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEI THET THET
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_hF=A=1+—H 96,349 33,755 5,495 135,599
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_mN&E=A=+—H 93,038 41,548 - 134,586
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Segment information (continueq

Accounting policies — Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods or services, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.

The Group bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location and the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer. As
receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered
as this is the point that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 Segment information (continue)

Accounting policies — Revenue recognition
(Continued)

(i)

Interest income

Where the loan to customer is originated by the Group,
interest on loan to customer is accrued based on the
contractual interest rates of the loans as earned using
the effective interest method. When a financial asset
at amortised cost is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loans and receivables is recognised
using the original effective interest rate.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
the interest income over the year. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments or receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms
of the financial instrument but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or
received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Accounting policies - Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman and
executive directors of the Group that make strategic decisions.
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B PSRRI

6 Other income

He WA

2025 2024

—E-HE —E_JF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Scrap sales RER & 2,819 3,124
Government grant (Note) BT # B (FMI5E) 853 802
Software licensing income B EF T RA 103 350
Others HAth 474 959
4,249 5,235

Note: There are no unfulfilled condition or other contingencies attaching to
these grants. These amounts mainly represent branding promoting and
upgrading subsidies received from the Hong Kong Government.

7 Other gains/(losses) - net

Gains/(losses) on disposals of property,

PP GE © 5% S 78 BO AL B I A RGE ARV IR (F S EL 4
IRBR-ZEERTERFTARAN

BIRBR IR
HftWz (B1R) 28

2025 2024
—E_RE —E U4
HK$’'000

FAT

HK$’000
FEx

HEWE BFERRERE

plant and equipment (B8) 36 (4,406)
Exchange losses — net fEH e 58 (721) (1,200)
Fair value gains/(losses) on FERBERZABEIESZ

financial assets at fair value TREENAAEE

through profit or loss Wi,/ (E18) 1,674 (414)
Others H (546) (167)

443 (6,187)
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B ISR
Expenses by nature 8 EBEMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution AABEERAN -HERD>HERAIMN
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as RITBAZHRAISTOT
follows:
2025 2024
—E-RHE —ZE_JF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cost of materials MRLE R 54,807 65,312
Remuneration to the Company’s auditor 72 &]4Z # A BN &
— Audit services —EET RS 1,050 1,522
— Non-audit services —JEER R 98 140
Remuneration to the other auditors H iz Eam <
— Audit services — BT R 117 244
— Non-audit services — B RE 79 94
Bank charges RITFER 4,303 4,865
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EERFMEZ (H:F9) 103,143 104,333
Depreciation of property, plant and W BEREZETE
equipment (Note 13) (MI3E13) 12,654 10,442
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE
(Note 14) (MF3E14) 20,282 20,590
Outsourced customer support expenses 9N E P X B X 20,292 18,763
Subcontracting fee "BREH 34,822 43,799
Operating lease for short-term and RHREEEHEZKLERE
low value lease (Note 14) (FIzE14) 4,047 3,409
Repairs and maintenance HIENRIRE 4,343 4,788
Distribution costs 7 AR 14,844 16,030
Utility expenses NARBE T 5,144 4,977
Others HAi 21,730 22,582
Total cost of sales, selling and HEKAS - HERDHAZTIUAR
distribution expenses and THRAX B
administrative expenses 301,755 321,890
Others mainly represent advertising and promotion expenses HthFZREEREHAX LB
and telecommunication expenses. X o
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B ERR MR

9 Employee benefits expense (including

BERAAX (BEEER

——

directors and senior management’s SREEESM)
emoluments)
2025 2024
—E_RSE —EN4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 93,496 89,294
Bonuses and commissions A REE 2,918 8,635
Pension costs — defined contribution RIRES AR — R e FRET 2
plans (Note a) (Ft5Ea) 5,490 5,296
Welfare and other benefits & A & H b F 2% 1,239 1,108
103,143 104,333

Notes:
(@) Pension costs — defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2024: HK$1,500)
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 11% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2024: Same) of their basic salaries,
while the Group contributes approximately 14% to 17% (2024: 14%
to 15%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the amount of the Group’s
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately
HK$5,490,000 (2024: HK$5,296,000). There were no forfeited
contributions to the MPF Scheme (2024: HKS$nil) which has been utilised
for the year ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, contribution
payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to approximately HK$566,000
(2024: HK$608,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continue)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year include three directors (2024: one), whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40. The emoluments payable to
the remaining two (2024: four) individuals are as follows:

9

B O ERR I T

EEEANHZ (BEEER
SREEREEHHN) o

MisE: (&)
) FAEEEFATLT

FA-ARENRERRSHFALERE=
REF(ZZE_F:—%) %ZEES
B B 2 50 B 51402 51 89 D A gk o
ERNBTHEAL(ZE-_MF OF)

BE T

2025

—E_REFE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 2,387 4,655
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 333 695
Pension costs — defined contribution plans B AR & Ak A~ — R A2l 36 72
2,756 5,422

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZENLTOHHN FIATEHE

Number of individuals

N
2025 2024
—E_-REFE —EPOFE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 2 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T £2,000,0007 7T - 1
2 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

AEERENENEERARRSHA
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AU SRR

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continuea)

Accounting policies - Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes for its employees. Contributions are
made based on certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are recognised as employee benefit
expense as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the schemes. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds.

Long service payment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments to its employees upon the termination of their
employment or retirement when the employee fulfills
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their services in the current and
prior periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continuea)

Accounting policies — Employee benefits (continuea)

(d) Long service payment (Continued)

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to present value and reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement
plans that are attributable to contributions made by the
Group. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting
date on high quality corporate bonds which have terms
to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.

Remeasurement are charged or credited to equity in
other comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

(e) Share-based compensation benefits of the
Group

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme, the executive
short-term incentive scheme and share appreciation.
Information relating to the scheme is set out in Note 36.

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

= including any market performance conditions (e.g.
the entity’s share price);

—  excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of
the entity over a specified time period); and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(e.g. the requirement for employees to save or hold
shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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B ERR MR

10 Finance (costs)/income - net

BMEKA

Finance income
— Interest income from other financial

— IR B SHA AR R

10 BE (RAE) A -

2025
—E-hHF

2024
—TMEF
HK$’000
TAET

HK$’000
TEx

ZEM TR

assets at amortised cost BE 7 FBUWA 119 1,829
— Interest income from bank deposits —RITFERF B RA 1,506 3,123
. 1625 4,952
Finance costs BhE R A
— Interest expenses on lease liabilties —fAE&BEFEHX (1,583) (2,205)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —fBEEFMBRAX (1,902) (1,289)
- Others —HEfb (37) (24)
e (8522 (8,518) _
Finance (costs)/income — net BME (KA) WA F58 (1,897) 1,434

Accounting policies - Interest income

Interest income is presented as “financial (costs)/income —
net”, where it is earned from financial assets that are held for
cash management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in “finance (costs)/income — net”.

Accounting policies - Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

176 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25

BRBER-FERA

FEWARTREE (KA) A —
FREINE-EDAEAREEEAM
MBEZEMEERR - EMEAM
FEBWRAGHATRE (KA) K
A—FB| R

ERBER-EERE

EERRBNUNE BEREEARE
Wﬁ%(h%ﬁﬁ—&ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ
EEBRERGRHENEE) N —
BMEBEEBERA MAZEFEE
WERARN BEBEEAR LHZH
HEERGEHHEERL-

ERAREAEREE LI ERE
%Eauﬁﬂxéﬁﬁiﬁﬂxﬁwk &8
BEBRERMEMEER AT -

FEEMEBEERAEELEHANE
J/\I_!/iq:‘ﬁﬁﬂ/b\o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11 Income tax expense

B O ERR I T

11 FiSHAxX

2025 2024
—E-HE —E_pF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET

Current income tax EHIFTEH
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNEB 477 952
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEREE (129) (256)
348 696
Deferred income tax expense (Note 31) iEIEFTIS R B (Ft5E31) 494 120
Income tax expense Frg M 842 816

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
profits tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% (2024: Same).

Subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) is a High and New Technology Enterprise defined by
Shenzhen Finance Bureau, Administrator of Local Taxation of
Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal office of the
State Administration of Taxation, the PRC and therefore was
entitled to 15% preferential tax rate for PRC enterprise income
tax for three years starting from year ended 31 December
2020 and three years starting from year ended 31 December
2023 according to the New PRC Enterprise Income Law. The
PRC enterprise income tax is calculated at 15% preferential
tax rate on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

BIEE BB ™R H F 1SS
E -6EREBEEMNE2,000000
7 TT %8 A 15 12 8.25% MY Bl R T -
i #8 82,000,000 7T &9 & & 15 3%
16.5% K T R BT o T FF & W AR HI F
BHIENSESEETEE TN SEER
g —HE165% B (ZE - MF:
R ) °

PAEARLFE ([HE])EMK
YHKNBRARERBRRITTEE -
FITHFRERRBEREEERD
FITHERARAEAS MM
Eit - RIBEFOPBRPERSR L
SOeETEEBE_ST_ETE+_A
=t HIEFERFA=ZFARER
—E-_=ZF+-_A=Z+—HLFE
B =FRNEZ15%N P EDEFR
SHERBRE -FECEMBRIZ
HE_Z_A1FK_Z_WNF=A
=t+t—HUEFEZHAERBEF
HIS%EEHREGTH -
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B ERR MR

11 Income tax expense (continued)

The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits/losses of the
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows:

11 FIEHAX

MAEBR GBI ATEE M AR
ME R T B R A E AR R B A
EHEENAHEERN S, EIEH

)JD%$¢’]%R+H+”E’JEE &AM
NEREY -

ER UL

2025
—E-REF
HK$’000
FET
Loss before income tax expense T8 FiM S A& (4,872) (6,084)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates ?ﬁxl KmHl,/ (BE)EAZ
applicable to profits/(losses) in B EGTE 2 FIE
the respective countries (734) (996)
Tax effects of: IWTHRENHIESE:
— Share of loss of an associate — G —EEE R REIE 13 33
— Share of profits of joint ventures —ffﬁA &1 A (270) (201)
— Income not subject to tax AW A (548) (796)
— Expenses not deductible for — AR X
tax purposes 875 1,076
— Tax losses and other temporary — I A RIEIE TS A B I8
differences for which no deferred EEREMEREERE
income tax was recognised 1,832 1,957
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised ~— — & f3 i@ R MR T B &5 18
tax losses (197) 1
— Over-provision in prior years —BAEFERBRERE (129) (256)
842 816

Note: The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are
mainly Hong Kong, the PRC, Malaysia with tax rate ranged from 15% to
24%.
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12 Loss per share

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

B O ERR I T

12 BREE
(a) BREXEE

BREAEBDIRBEARAE IR
EAREEBRARUABE T _RHF
E—_Z_ME=ZA=+—HLFE
ERTERBRMETFORE-

Loss attributable to equity holders of

the Company (HK$’000) (F&7T)
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ B #17E &
shares in issue (thousands) (F1)

Basic loss per share attributable to
the equity holders of the Company
(HK cents)

B8 (BL)

ARBIEDRFT A ARIGER

P 0 F 15 8)

ARBESEFAAREESRER

(6,130) (8,306)
550,000 550,000
(1.11) (1.51)

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the diluted loss per share is
the same as the basic loss per share as the share options
outstanding were anti-dilutive. Diluted loss per share is the
same as the basic loss per share for the year ended 31
March 2025 as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding.

(b) SR EEIE

ih%%%%ﬁLﬂﬂW%ﬁE%

ﬁhmm%iﬂﬁuﬁ A% B R P
H%E/E CRARFTE-BHEZT
—ME=ZA=Z+—HLEFE K
BEBFBEEGREAEBEEMRAR
MREMARTEEREEEREEY
B H=x_FT_RAF=ZA=+—H
FtFEE BREEEBEEERER
%%mﬁ PEREE DA 3 B N E Gl
BEEELT AR
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13 Property, plant and equipment 13 W% -BERRE
Computer, Motor
Leasehold Plant and furniture and vehicles
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment and yacht
Bl FE
BT HENEEE RBERES REfE REREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5 FHL FHL FEL FEL
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FmA-A
Cost KA 77,201 16,462 97,175 23528 2,238 216,604
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (14,719) (14,836) (69,277) (19,419) (1,770) (120,015)
Acoumulated impairment RiAME - - (1217) - = (1217)
Net book amount REFE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE-Z-WE=R
=+-BLEEE
Opening net book amount ENERAFE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
Additions HE 18,005 1,747 4,806 1,434 1482 27474
Acquisition of a subsidliary (Note 35) M & — M B 2 &l ( Fi5E35) 28,887 = = = = 28,887
Disposals LE - - (6,542) (52) = (6,594)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-BHERH - 9 (14) (60) = (83)
Depreciation g (3,831) (507) (4,132) (1,748) (224) (10,442)
Currency translation differences EHEH - () (1) (19) - (25)
Closing net book amount EXRETE 105,549 2,852 20,798 3,664 1,726 134,589
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mE=A=+-H
Cost A 130,269 17,999 56,721 24,016 3717 232,722
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (24,720) (15,147) (35,301) (20,352) (1,991) (97,511)
Accumulated impairment 2ERME - - (622) - = (622)
Net book amount REFE 105,549 2,852 20,798 3,664 1,726 134,589
Year ended 31 March 2025 HZ-Z-T1%=AH
“+-ALEE
QOpening net book amount FOREFE 105,549 2,852 20,798 3,664 1,726 134,589
Additions RE 20,281 2,191 25,195 2,088 = 49,755
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34)  IREE — R B2 7l (Fi+34) 3,968 186 - 49 = 4,203
Disposals HE - 97) (322) (31) - (450)
Depreciation Vil (5,415) (1,035) (4.211) (1,594) (399) (12,654)
Currency translation differences EREE - - 2 1 - 3
Closing net book amount EREAFE 124,383 4097 41,462 4177 1,327 175,446
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RF=ZA=1+-H
Cost KA 154,518 19,332 71,072 25,350 3,719 273,991
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (30,135) (15,235) (28,951) (21,179) (2,392) (97,886)
Accumulated impairment 2ETRME - - (659) - S (659)
Net book amount EHFE 124,383 4,097 41,462 41477 1,327 175,446
Note: B 5T
As at 31 March 2025, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately R-ZE_AF=ZA=+—8B EKEEAY
HK$124,383,000 (2024: HK$105,549,000) were pledged to banks to secure 124,383,000/ 7T ( == — I £ : 105,549,000
bank borrowings of approximately HK$50,651,000 (2024: HK$40,779,000) BILT)NEFEERTRIT UEREBAD
(Note 30). 50,651,0005% 7T ( —Z — MU 4F : 40,779,000/ 7T )

MIRTTER (H5E30) °
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13 Property, plant and equipment continueq)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has
been charged to the profit and loss as follows:

B O ERR I T

13 ME--BERRE

AEBNYE BMELRBZINE
ERBamF K ABEBROT:

2025

—EBE-RHEF

HK$’000

FET
Cost of sales $HE KA 6,245 5,115
Selling and distribution expenses HENRDHEMAX 2,778 2,781
Administrative expenses THHRAX 3,631 2,546
12,654 10,442

Accounting policies - Property, plant and
equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the profit and loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30 to 50 years or over lease
term, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements 5 years

Plant and machinery 51to 15 years

Computer, furniture and 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles and yacht 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

EBEER-ME - BERRE

BFIZESMOIE-MEVE K
B R&REBAELKARTEZ75 -
BEERABERKEREEREHRD
P o

= EIR R A B R KA A & A e
MARNEE ANRIBEB KRR SE
ATEE HERRAT @it ABEMRR
HEXERSBLEE (NEH) -
EEA D IR E R AR LR P
FEHEMEERRERXEELHRE
RIBEE P 8 -

FERMBUTHMEE A ERF K
RAREREDBER R EEFE

BF 30E50F 5 7
FAHAR - AE

RAERE

HEMEEE 54
% = M i =2 5% 154
B RERKE 54
RE K AR 54

BEMFGEERTERENES
%5 & BRETIR A BT YR
a%-
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B ERR MR

13

14

(a)

182

Property, plant and equipment continueq

Accounting policies — Property, plant and
equipment continueqd)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit and loss.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group has lease contracts for machinery, equipment and
stores.

Balances recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

13

14

(a)

ME-BERRZE
HBRERE-VE - BRERRXRE

-3
(A& )

fMEEMNREERBEMG A RE
288 A& & /9 R E (E 5 BN B MOR
EHAKROIBEE-

HENBEZASEREERRTEZ
B EZRET UNBEPHER -

EREEEREESE

AEBEORIUH#E RERBEN

HESK-

RE st BN RER 2 E 85

EHVBRARKBRATNEEES
AT

2025 2024
—E-HE —E_JF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHE T FHET
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Machinery and equipment W3S K 3R 1,943 -
Machinery and motor vehicle under BEREE TAKE RTE
finance lease 17,358 18,775
Stores B 19,809 35,894
39,110 54,669
Lease liabilities HEEBRE
Current portion mENE D 22,791 23,408
Non-current portion FEREIL D 5,201 23,764
28,082 47,172

Note:
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the machinery and motor vehicle under

finance lease were secured by personal guarantees provided by directors of
the subsidiaries of the Group. For details, please refer to Note 38(c).

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

B O ERR I T

14 FREEEREEREBE

(b)

EREEENE (MEs)

P18 55 P R RR AV K

2025 2024

=Sl - —ZpueF

HK$’000
TR

HK$’000
FTET

(Note 8) 20,282 20,590
Interest expenses on lease liabilities MEAEMNEREZ (K:E10)

(Note 10) 1,583 2,205
Operating lease rental for short-term and RHA M KEBEHEZ KEHE

low value leases (Note 8) He (K1zEs) 4,047 3,409

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended 31
March 2025 was approximately HK$29,443,000 (2024:
HK$28,673,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2025, depreciation of
approximately HK$14,014,000 (2024: HK$13,588,000) has
been charged in ‘cost of sales’, approximately HK$5,208,000
(2024: HK$5,423,000) in ‘seling and distribution expenses’
and approximately HK$1,060,000 (2024: HK$1,579,000) in
‘administrative expenses’ respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various stores, machineries, and office
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 4 years but may have extension options as
described in (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

(c)

= A
iﬁaﬂ EReREBELN A
29,443,000/ Tt (— & — PO 4 :
28,673,000 7T ) °

BHE_ZE_RAF=ZA=Z+—81
FEFEH14,014,0008 ¢ (=
T P4 13,588,000 L)
#15,208,0008 7t (— & — 0 & :
5,423,000/ 7t ) & #31,060,000/%8 7T
(ZZ - /M4 :1,579,000/ 7T) % Bl
RIEERA] [HERD#HR X
RITERAL] A

AEBzHERBRAEARS

=

AEEHEZHRBE SEERER
PARB - RELH R BIEAF
BB E HARR - ME R A N X (d) R A At
HRE RIE R

HEGRDRENEEER 25
& & AR %R ,TJMSU\;MCF HE =L
EmEMNRZE EEEAFAN
MEEETWERESAEKRIN -
EEETAAERERENER-
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14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(d)

(Continued)

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.

Accounting policies - Leases
The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(d)

(Continued)
Extension options (continued)

Accounting policies - Leases (Continuead)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit and loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture.

B O ERR I T

14 FREEEREEREBE

(d) ERZRE® 2

SITHE-HE @)
FEFBAHA (8)

HENZTRAE MNP BRA 2 HIE
HoB- B AEHEENENA
@SB BUASTEHRMNBERE
M EIE A R — %

EREEEERATE BEAT

=

e HMEREWYKIESZE K

o FIMAHNKZAI XN EME
ENREECD REAEEES -

ERAREE-—RREEANERFH
FEHEH (AREERE)RERE
EFETE-MAKBSEEELT
EREEEZEZ AERAEEERH
MEENAERFHATURTE

HRHHEHERENNTRUERER
HI2EAXATHHEHE-KEBEE
ERRNDERAEHRE-
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15 Intangible assets

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and

BILEE

R-ZE-_=FMA—H"

Goodwill
L

HK$’000
TAET

31 March 2025 :%?_mi A=+—8B~k
—E-RAF=ZA=+—H
Cost DN 725
Accumulated amortisation s §i -
Net book amount BREFE 725
Impairment test for goodwill EERENR
() Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner (i) UWiBe-bannerELXWEE

Management reviews the business performance of
the Group based on the products and services the
respective business provided. Goodwill is monitored
by management at the operating segment level. The
Group’s goodwill was arisen from the acquisition of
additional 11% equity interests in e-banner Limited on
1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the banner printing
operating segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying
amount consisted of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period with an average
five year growth rate of 2% (2024: 5%). Gross profit
margin are assumed to be 43% — 45% (2024: 45% -
47%) for the forecast period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rate of 2% (2024: 3%) and pre-tax discount rate
of 11.2% (2024: 11.1%).
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15 Intangible assets (continueq

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

(i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner
(Continued)

Management determined the revenue growth rate based
on past performance and expectations on market and
operational development. The discount rate applied by
the Group is rate that reflect current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
CGU.

Management assumes the cash flows under VIU
calculation would be more or less the same but the
FVLCTD would be approximately lower than the VIU as
“discount for lack of marketability” and “cost to disposal”
will be deducted under FVLCTD calculation. Based on
the VIU result (the higher in value), there are sufficient
headroom for the CGUs with no impairment noted. As
the recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCTD and
VIU, we considered there would have no impact to our
conclusion when FVLCTD is either higher or lower than
VIU calculation and therefore, concur with management
of the selection of VIU calculation.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amount calculated based on the value-in-use
calculation exceeded carrying amount by approximately
HK$4,862,000 (the headroom) as at 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$23,822,000). As a result, no impairment loss
was charged for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$nil).

B O ERR I T

156 BREE

7B R AR )

(i)

W BBe-bannerE £ E (&)

EEEERTSREEERZ
NEEENHEEE WRER
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16 Subsidiaries 16 MIEB QA
The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 RZEZRAFERZZTE_MOF= A
and 2024: =+—H WBATIBENT:

Proportion of ordinary
Proportion of shares held by Principal
Place of incorporation Particulars of ordinary shares held non-controlling activities and
Name of company and kind of legal entity issued share capital by the Group (%) interest (%) place of operation

FERERER TEEREBR
INGIER MR B ERLEERER ERTRAFE AEBEASERILA(%) Bl (%) BEY
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-RnE -—T-NE —B-RE —EofE

Directly held:
EERA:
Promise Network Holding ~ The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI), 2,887 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited limited liability company US$1 each in Hong Kong
ReR@EARBERAR  EZBRRHEA ((RBRIES]) 2887RERAEIZTH ERRERR
BREARR Lak
eprint Digital Holding Limited  The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ABRAKE AREMLA each in Hong Kong
REREEIETHERR BERARR
E-print Group Limited The BV, limited liability company 50,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ABRAKE AREMLA US$1 each in Hong Kong
50,000 & REE1ETH BARERR
eprint Holdings Limited The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERAHE AREMELA each in Hong Kong
RERABIETNE AR EEREARR
e-print Trading Limited The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERAHE AREMELA gach in Hong Kong
RERABIZTNE AR EERARR
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16 Subsidiaries (continueq) 16 KMIE A 8l e

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling

interest (%)
FERERRR
BB R B1(%)

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEEREBR
EXHE

Particulars of
issued share capital

Place of incorporation

Name of company and kind of legal entity

NEER AR SR AERRER BRITRAHE

AEEEREBRLHI%)

Indirectly held:
BEEg:

Promise Network Printing
Limited
RaRBLIORBERAR

Invoice Limited

ERERARAT

Kimley Technology (HK)
Limited
SRR (BR)ERAR

Kimley Development Limited

ERBRARAT

Kimley Trading Limited
EREHERAF

Dajinlai Technology
(Shenzhen) Limited" 2

RERBHE (RII)
BRAE"2

Lucky Gainer Limited
EZARAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
A BREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
R BREARA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BB BREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BB BREALA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
R BREMARA

The PRC, limited liability company
BE BREELT

Hong Kong, limited liability company
BB BREALA

2,886 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2,886 B EE1 AT
A

1,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

1,000k & REEETE)
LR

2,775 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

2,775l BREE AT
A

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,000 GREE1E T
A

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

10,000 B HREE1ETH
LR

1,000,000 ordinary shares of
RMB1 each

1,000,000k 8 REE
AREATRLER

2 ordinary shares of HK$1
each

WrEREEIATHERR

2025
—B-RF

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2024
“E-pE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2024/25 3 eprint EEERAT

2025
—B-RF

2024
“E-pE

Provision of printing
services in Hong
Kong

EEBREDR
TR

Provision of money
lending business
in Hong Kong

ERBRENE
#%

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
EERAER

Dormant

TEXH

Property investment
in Hong Kong
BENERE

Provision of I.T.
services in the
PRC

EREREER
R R%

Provision of
management
services in Hong
Kong

EBRRRMER
fR%
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Name of company

NEER

Indirectly held: (Continueq)
BEss: (8)

Design Easy Limited
#it 5 (FR)ERRA

eprint Investments Limited

eprint Property Investments
Limited

e-banner Limited

Digital Printing Centre
Limited
HEDRTLERAR

Ebanner Solution Sdn. Bhd.

E-Boss Co., Limited
(‘E-Boss’)

EHRERAT
([£@B4)])

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

ERIEARE PO § b

Hong Kong, limited liability company
A BREALA

The BV, limited liability company

RERARE ARAALHA

The BVI, limited liability company
RERARE ARAALH

Hong Kong, limited liability company

R BERARLATA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
A BREALA

Malaysia, limited liability company

BREE ARALAF

Hong Kong, limited liability company
& BREMARA
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16 i B D7) )

Proportion of

Particulars of
issued share capital

ERTREFHE
2025
b -

2,775 ordinary shares of 100%
HK$1 each

2,775 BREE AT
£

1 ordinary share of US$1 100%
each
REREEIZTHEBRR
1 ordinary share of US$1 100%
each
REREEIETHLER
40,133,000 ordinary shares 51%
of HK$1 each
40,133,000k B R EE
1BTHERER

10,000 ordinary shares of 51%
HK$1 each
10,000 R EE1 AT
£
400,000 ordinary shares of 51%
RM1 each
400,000 B REEILEL
LRk

1 ordinary shares of HK$1 100%
each

RERAEIETHERR

ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

AEEEREBRLAI%)

2024
—TopRE

100%

100%

100%

51%

51%

51%

100%

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling

interest (%)
FERERRR
TR L (%)

2025
—B-RF

49%

49%

49%

2024
“E-pE

49%

49%

49%

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEEBEDR
EXUE

Provision of printing
services in Hong
Kong

EEBREDR
TR

Property investment
in Hong Kong
EANERE

Property investment
in Hong Kong
BENERE

Provision of digital
printing services
in Hong Kong

ERBREEZ
ENRIRR 5

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
EERERR

Provision of printing
services in
Malaysia

ESRAERHE
AR5

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
BRREIMR



Name of company

NEER

Indirectly held: (Continueq)
BEsE: (8)

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

AR SR AERRER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRITRAHE

16 i B D7) )

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling

interest (%)
FERERRR
BB R B1(%)
2025 2024
“E-RE —Z-NF

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

AEEEREBRLHI%)

2025
—B-RF

2024
“E-pE

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEEREBR
EXHE

Dormant

LEXH

Property investment
in Hong Kong
EANZERE

Trading of goods

EmES

Investment holding
in Hong Kong
EERARR

Property investment
in Hong Kong
EANFERE

Yacht financing in
Hong Kong
EREERE

TTTH Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%
BB BREMAT HK$1 each
10,000k GREETETH
EEk
WAB2 Group (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%
BE BREEAH HK$1 each
10,000 GREE1E T
LiEk
e-gabuy Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%
EFh BREARA HK$1 each
10,000 BREE1ETTH)
LRk
Top Success Investment The BV, limited liability company 400,000 ordinary shares of 71.5% 50% 22.5% 50%
Group Limited (“Top ABRAEE BREMAA HK$50 each
Success BVI')? 400,000 B R EES0%E T
EFREREERERAH Vg ER
([RERE])?
Top Success Investment Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 71.5% 50% 22.5% 50%
(Hong Kong) Limited B HREFAH HK$1 each
(“Top Success HK')® 10,000 S REE BTN
It hSERE () Liak
ERAR ([REEE])
Yacht Easy International Hong Kong, limited liability company 1,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ 77.5% 50% 22.5% 50%
Limited (‘Yacht Easy’® &% EREADA HK$1 each
MASEBERAR 1,000,000R 8 REE1A T
(MR Vg ER
English translation is for identification purpose only 1 B2 E SR
Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law 5 BERE RS AIEBEDE
Top Success BVI, Top Success HK and Yacht Easy were acquired on 5

30 May 2024.

REREE SBREBERMAZIN=-F

“ERA=+BHRKE-
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16 Subsidiaries (continueo 16 I A 8 )
(a) Material non-controlling interests (a) EXRFERES
The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2025 RZZE_RAF=ZA=+—H k&
is HK$18,952,000 (2024: HK$14,219,000), in which the fi% 7 %5 42 %8 518,952,000/8 7T ( —
amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries T PUF :14,219,0008 t) * B
(“e-banner Group”) and Top Success BVI and its subsidiaries MRe-banner Limited X H i B A 7]
(“Top Success Group”). (l[e-bannerEB@ ) A KB BRTE R
HMBRAR ([REEE]) -
Summarised consolidated financial information on BEEEARFEREZNHEARZ
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests SO BEERBRE
()  Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial () TXHRINHAEEmMSBEBEK
information for the e-banner Group that have non- W ¥E B IE 15 IR #E 2= MYe-banner
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The SECAEHUBEERBE -5t
amounts disclosed for e-banner Group are before inter- e-bannerSE B ATHEMN B A
company eliminations. ARIAEEA R R -
Summarised consolidated statement of financial position BB AR E

e-banner Group
e-banner&

2025 2024
—E_REF —E U4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FATT
Current mE

Assets BE 18,218 22,200
Liabilities A& (36,138) (43,765)
Net current liabilities mEEE (17,920) (21,565)

Non-current JER B
Assets BE 52,177 59,048
Liabilities BfE (3,840) (7,544)
Net non-current assets ERBEEFR 48,337 51,504
Net assets BEFHE 30,417 29,939
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries continued) 16 I 2 8 =)

(a) Material non-controlling interests (continueq) (a) EXFEERER o)
Summarised consolidated financial information on BREERFEZEREZNHBARZ
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests EHUBEREE »)

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive B E N ZHE

income

e-banner Group
e-banner& B

2025 2024

—E_RE —ZE_pF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAEIT

Revenue e 90,546 92,956

Profit before income tax bR PTSBE A& 7 885 3,737

Income tax expense Frig M (494) (450)

Profit for the year F A A 391 3,287
(i)  Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial (i) TXHIEGAEEMEBEK
information for the Top Success Group that have non- WIEBIEEREENREERE
controlling interests that are material to the Group. The ZEHNBEERNRE -RERE
amounts disclosed for Top Success Group are before BB A REKIE

inter-company eliminations. AIH) R RE ©
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B O TSR M =t
16 Subsidiaries (contineo) 16 MIBRQF @)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (continued) (a) ERFERER &)

Summarised consolidated financial information on
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

BREERFERESZNHEARZ
SO BERBE 2)

BHIBFERIEZHE

Top Success

Group
REREH
2025
—E_RE
HK$'000
FH&T
Current mED

Assets BE 28,585
Liabilities =L (20,495)
Net current assets MENVEEFRE 8,090

Non-current JEmED
Assets BE 11,579
Net assets BEFE 19,669

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive
income

Revenue Uz

Profit before income tax bR BT 15 B0 B % A
Income tax expense Fristif X
Profit for the year F N m A

Top Success
Group
REREE
2025

—E_RE
HK$’'000
FHET

4,670
883
(214)
669
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When
necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.

() Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. |dentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

B O ERR I T

16 B D =)«
SHHRER-HERQT

(a)

2024/25 3R eprint EEERAT

&t

B /B8 R A 45 A B [ HOA 1
BNER (EREBIEER) -
EAEEAEAESZFELE
EBRERMEZAZO%HNME
BRAEN VEEEBHEAEZE
BHNENFEZSFO®H DA
SEHOZERAEBEHH#E-K
BRAHEHEBEEASEL
REAH AR - EHERILY
BEEAFARR-

SEARBIZENR S &R
RAEERAMzZRH 2 KE
BT AEH REHRERE
NTUHE - MEFE WERQ
ARE 2SR HAREUR
EAREBZEFHEE-

() RBEEO

AREERB BB EGEB
BHAR-BE —RHMNEB
NEIEEONKE  BF
BREE - HBKRBITH
HITBEARMEENERENR
AEBBETHRAER N
NABE - FEENNKE
BRIANELFELN
THEEXRBENAAE
BE-REXGEHEMBE
A R BB NPT AR
BELRKREE IFR
R BB QA EER

=
EENS
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (continued)

(@) Consolidation (continued)

()

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit and loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit and loss
or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (continuea)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

()

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit and
loss.

Changes in ownership interests

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

B O ERR I T

16 KMIE A 8l e
S BRE-HMEBAT @)

(a)

S/t )

(0

(i)

EELOF(8)

PrEgiE REKRER
ZEMFEEEERSER
{E fa] 55 AT 70 4% U BB 75 2 BX
AEENEERA#MZ AR
EBEBEMEBEAEHE
EFEzAAEBE HE
BUABEBI R - MEZEE
BANBRT FAEEA
BRI s
ERIFIS R mAT B 2 8
BERFAKEBHEAREE
FEZAREE HES
EERAEBRGRER -

FrB

ZNE SRR E i g F
AT D EBUR S E 42
MRXHANERERR S
PNEP B A RIPTA & AR
ERIAIEEFNETHXR
oMM EMRENRD
{8 (B 5240 B 8 15 P UL B
B ARFEERBEN
EEMIR DR [ IFE
P #E 1 Y B2 B O &2 5 O RC
SRR RS o
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16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

Consolidation (continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
are reclassified to consolidated statements of profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified or permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
reclassified to consolidated statements of profit or
loss where appropriate.
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BRI MR

16 KMIE A 8l e
S BRE-HMEBAT @)

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (continuea)

(a) Consolidation (continued) (@) &6t
(i) Closure of subsidiaries (i) EETHTE L A

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity B ALK KEESIEM
account for an investment because of a loss THEBREEHARIK
of control, any retained interest in the entity is IFERYE EEENME
re-measured to its fair value at the date when AR B w0 R Rl i
control is lost, with the change in carrying EREFFEELIAE
amount recognised in profit and loss. The fair B - REHENEHEER
value becomes the initial carrying amount for RRERBLE R AKRYIE
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the BEQA - AELEXS
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or MEENRBERMS -
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously EAAREBERBYBER
recognised in other comprehensive income in 1B o bt 9 - 55 BT RS H b 47
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Gl EEREZEREEHA
Group had directly disposed of the related assets MAERSE RBENAESE
or liabilities. It means that amounts previously EEERERBEEE
recognised in other comprehensive income are BEMNAAAKR-EER
reclassified to retained earnings as permitted by ERBIREMERS KR
applicable HKFRSs. RONSERERABEBINB

REEFAATRER D

HERBAERM-

(b) Separate financial statements (b) BILMBEHRE

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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17 Investment in an associate 17 A—EHELATNRE
2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT

At beginning of year REH] 1,181 1,380

Share of loss of an associate FEG — B E QR EE (78) (199)

At end of year RER 1,103 1,181

Details of the Group’s investment in an associate are as AEER—HEHEARANKTEFE

follows: N

Place of business/
country of Effective interest held Measurement
Name of company incorporation as at 31 March Principal activities method Carrying amount
£%mE/ R=A=t+-H
NGRS FMRLER FEERER FTEXKEY TEAE BREE
2025 2025 2024
—BIERE : “E-RE —ZTQNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET BT
Step Wise Limited Hong Kong 15% 15%  Provision of premium car Equity 1,103 1,181
REERRA 2% wrap service Ry
REBEELERSE

Notes: Mt 5E

0] There are no commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the (i) VWEEBAASER —HEEEAFERN
Group’s interest in an associate. EERIAREE-

(ii) Although the Group owns not more than 20% interest in Step Wise (ii) BEAEBEEBRSBERAA ([REF])
Limited (“Step Wise”), it is able to exercise its voting rights by virtue of THBB0% MR AR RE=FEFT
the fact that 1 out of 3 directors of Step Wise are elected by the Group W—EHAEEER A AREEET
and the Group is able to influence the activities of Step Wise which FEEERE AESENTETERENY
significantly affect the returns. WHEEBEATENEREE-
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8 REELENRE

—h

18 Investments in joint ventures

2025 2024
—E-HF —ZTmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET AT
At beginning of year REH] 11,061 10,654
Share of profits of joint ventures il %fﬁ%xmﬂ 1,638 1,218
Transfer to a subsidiary % W B (1,563) =
Currency translation differences fE X ZERE 539 (811)
At end of year RER 11,675 11,061
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBZEELEFBOT:
Place of business/
country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
¥%uy/
AR BB A LB R FERREREDL TEXKEH HEAE BREE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-Rf —ToNF “E-RE —ToWF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER AT
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 11,675 9,536
BRAED services BRE
RALEDRIBR
Top Success Investment The BVI N/A 50%  Provision of finance Equity - 1,625
Group Limited RBELEE TER leasing of yacht Bat
EFREREERERAR REGEHEREEE
Note: Mt 5E
[0} As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has no commitments and 0] R-E-_RAFN T -_WNF=ZA=+—
no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. H AEBTEFERAEERAERE

BamEAERIREAE-
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18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq)

Accounting policies - Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of
the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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BRI MR

19 REHETHEMTA

19 Financial instruments by category

Financial
asset Financial
at amortised assets at
costs - fair value
loans and through
receivables profit or loss
S8Rz & Bt EBRERE
BE-ERE 2AREEYER
FE W 3R 18 ZEBMEE et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABTT FET FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2025 MRZZE_RF
=A=+—8
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H th & U 3018
(excluding prepayments) (T BEEMANFRIE) 12,073 - 12,073
Loan receivables e U & 19,949 - 19,949
Amounts due from related JE UK B8 3 1~ B 5B
companies 377 - 377
Financial assets at fair value ~ FBEFIZ AR BEDIE
through profit or loss CERMEE - 1,225 1,225
Cash and cash equivalents Re kB2 FMEER 103,056 - 103,056
135,455 1,225 136,680
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2024 NR-ZE-FE
=A=+—8
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H th & U 318
(excluding prepayments) (TBRIETERMRIA) 15,194 - 15,194
Amounts due from related JE Uk B8 A B IR
companies 328 - 328
Other financial assets at RESEK AT BR 2
amortised cost HEthemEE 29,576 = 29,576
Financial assets at fair value  FBEHRIE AL EBE
through profit or loss VIR EREE - 8,994 8,994
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSEFEEIEE 100,035 = 100,035
145,133 8,994 154,127
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19 Financial instruments by category conives 19 RIERIEI W EM T A o)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RE R A
SRR Z
cHas
HK$’000
FET
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_RF=A=+—H
Amounts due to directors B EEFIE 407
Borrowings B 71,128
Trade payables, accruals and other payables 2 S EMNRIE - BETRIE R
(excluding contract liabilities) HEMEMNRE(TBREEHEE) 16,058
Lease liabilities HESRE 28,082
115,675
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WF=ZA=+—H
Amounts due to directors JEEEFIE 148
Borrowings i 40,951
Trade payables, accruals and other payables B S ENFIE B HUIAR
(excluding contract liabilities) HMEMNREBE(TBRENEE) 20,954
Lease liabilities HEAE 47,172
109,225
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20 Inventories

21

B O ERR I T

20 78

2025 2024

—E-HF —EMF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Raw materials R R 9,560 5,108
Work-in-progress E&m 524 123
Finished goods 2P o 349 101
10,433 5,332

The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$54,807,000
for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$65,312,000).

Accounting policies - Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade receivables

HE_T_AF=-A=+—HLItHF
B -BRAERIILH A K K]
B MR A %) B54,807,00078 7T ( —
T P4 : 65,312,000 7T ) °

B BE-FE

FEDEKARAER FEME 2
BRIEEZ5 - RATIIZ K AL HA
BE-FEXANBREREHRSK
BHEBZME -FEXRATBEE
EWK°D@%%@EEH%%%
BERNZEFEE BERZE
& RS AR

21 EZREWFIE

2025
— S

HK$’000
T

B 5 W RIR
B IR

Trade receivables
Less: loss allowance

5,752
(461)

5,584
(541)

H 5 PR E —

Trade receivables — net

ik

5,043 5,291
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21 Trade receivables (continueq)

Notes:

(i) The directors of the Company apply the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on firstly shared credit risk characteristics and then
aging from billing.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables and information about how impairment
losses are calculated. Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for
impairment of trade receivables are detailed in Note 3.1(b).

(ii) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the Group does not hold
any collateral as security.

(iii) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, due to the short-term nature of trade
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

(iv) As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges from
30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

21 EFEWRFIE »
B

i) ARBEERBEETEHREEYHB
BREEYFRRENBEREERBE &
BB ELERE 2 FHE D EUGK
BEERPEREERRE - R EED
EEER ZERERECELREHR
AEERBERSE RERERELE
TIRRER DA

FREERRMAORE S EKKENTE
HEEEBEBUREBEEBEBENGTEE
B BLEMESIb) - ERAEEE S
FENGRIB R BB B R A Z B ¥ i
5E3.1(b)

(ii) R-E-_RAER-_ZTE_NE=A=+—
A &ZHEREERBRIE S ERK
BEREREEAERASE Y EFE T KR
mIEER

iy R-ZBE-_AER_T-_ME=ZA=+—
H BARESERFEBNEHEED  AQ
REERAEIRERRENERERL
AREERE -

vy R-ZE-_RAFER-_ZT_MF=ZAF=1+-—
H ESRBRFRENEBREEZZUSET
BEER

AEFPREHONRERERZ/EE
MR EEREFIHEEHN FI0H
E60H -REZRAHEAOINE SR
WRIBERREDTMT :

2025

HK$’000

FER
0-30 days 0Z30H 2,243 2,747
31-60 days 31£60H 708 1,150
Over 60 days #8860 H 2,633 1,855
5,584 5,752

206 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2024/25



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

21 Trade receivables (conined 21 E5EWFIE
Accounting policies - Trade receivables SR -BESERNRE
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good BEORWFIEBERTEHREKBRER
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. REEERIRHEBRBEKES®
If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or KRB - WEESHEWRRIERHAR —
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), FR—FUA(KOBREFERH - Al
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented N—REBKEERBAAE) B H
as non-current assets. WORABRBDEE TAHZIA
ERBEE-
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and R HRIEZNRAABEER
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective Hig B AER A SRR 8 8 N5
interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 41.5 BEUVHBRBERE EEAEEE
for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade SERRBRFESTREECEMERR
receivables and description of the Group’s impairment policies. ERAEBEFERR WML FR
BtsE41.5 ©
22 Deposits, prepayments and other 22 BE -FEANFEREMER
receivables MIE
2025
—EBE-REF
HK$’000
FET
Deposits and prepayments (Note (i) e RIBAFIE (M) ) 8,152 25,210
Other receivables H h FE WRIE 1,962 1,323
10,114 26,533
Less: non-current portion B IEMBER S
Deposits and prepayments e A RIE (1,109) (21,223
Deposits, prepayments and e FBNFEREMEY
other receivables — current portion RIE-RBEHH 9,005 5,310
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22 Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables (continueq

Notes:

0

(i)

(iii)

(v)

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments for utility,
prepayments for machineries, insurance expenses and sub-contracting
fee.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for deposits, and other receivables and the information about
how impairment losses are calculated.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, management considered that the
expected credit loss for deposits and other receivables was immaterial,
thus no loss allowance was made.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables as the Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s deposits, prepayments and other receivables are
mainly denominated in the following currencies:

22 RE - FANFREREMER

FRIE )
B -

(i) ZeHIBEEERS R ARRBIERN
FIE EBENKRE RREXESEE
e

(i) BEESREMEEKREANS NEERK
AEBMBREERNESE —RITEE
EHEEEE ERA-BRENGE
BIRRE-

BRR S & E i AR 5 B R O
REHEEERBHBUAREBIAFE
HEEENER  F2HME3.10)

RZEZAFRZF_NF=A=1+—
A EEERAES REMEREN
BHEEBBETEX AL RS
B

iy RZBE-_RAER_T-_ME=ZA=+—
B RNEBE W KA TR R IEER
EAZHMEREERRIES RE AR
RIARBRFME ©

vy R-E-_RFER-_T_MF=ZRF=1+—
H RNAREERA 1Ze REMEUK
BEHWEEEEEA L BEMES-

RZEBE_RAFR_FE_WNF=A
—+t—H A£EE%RE FERNZKER
HEEWRIENEREEZIZEUNTIE
WA

2025 2024

—E_RSE —EPUF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THIT

HK$ BT 9,588 11,861
JPY H - 12,925
Euro BT - 1,206
Others Eith 526 541
10,114 26,533

Accounting policies — Other receivables

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 41.5
for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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23 Loan receivables

B O ERR I T

23 BWREM

2025 2024

—E_RSE =Syt f==

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT TBTT

Loan receivables B U & 20,358 =

Less: loss allowance B EEIE R (409) -

19,949 -

Less: current portion BB ER D (12,553) =

Non-current portion IERENE D 7,396 =
Notes: et

As at 31 March 2025, the loan receivables from customers are secured by the
yacht charged, interest-bearing and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with
customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts of
loan receivables.

The ageing analysis of loan receivables based on whether individual customer
balance has become overdue is as follows:

RZZE-_AF=ZA=+—H BREFPEFRMN
S ERFERR FERARETPHEN
Bl E R EE -RAEERRKASEKER
HOBR (5 -

ERNERNERFE 4R T BHNERERERD
M

2025 2024

—E-EHF —ZopE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHBT

Current Bl R 14,596 =
Overdue 1-90 days #HEI1E90A 5,762 =
20,358 -
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B PSRRI

23 Loan receivables (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The aging analysis of loan receivables based on contractual due date of
instalments is as follows:

23 BEWERK «»

BfE: (&)

Az

D

SHN A D EIEE R E A IR A
mﬁwr-

=
N}

2025 2024
—E-RF —T-OF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAET

Current BN HA

Overdue 1-30 days #EI1E30R
Overdue 31-60 days i #A31%260H
Overdue 61-90 days # 8361290 H

20,061 =
929 =
99 =
929 =

20,358 S

As at 31 March 2025, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure expected credit losses which uses a 3-stage model to measure loss
allowance for loan receivables.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss provision
for loan receivables and the information about how impairment losses are
calculated.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has provision for impairment of loan
receivables of HK$409,000.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of loan receivables are dominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

See Note 41.5 for further information about the Group’s accounting for loan
receivables.
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24 Other financial assets at amortised cost 24 R#EEREFEZ2EM#E

2025 2024

—E-RHE —EF - NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Loan and interest receivables (Note a)  FEUWE X M FI & (FizEa) 4,489 34,489

Less: loss allowance (Note b) B EBERE (MDb) (4,489) (4,913)

- 29,576

Less: current portion B R BER Y - =

Non-current portion SEMENEL - 29,576
(a) Movement of loan and interest receivables (a) ERERRFNENEE

2025 2024

—E-RHE —E N4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHT

At beginning of the year G 34,489 34,503

Accrued interest FEETH B 119 1,829

Transfer to amount due from a subsidiary ¥ 5 Z= & Ug — &5 i B A 7 Z08 (22,000) =

Settlement for the year FEHHE (8,119) (1,843)

At end of the year RER 4,489 34,489

As at reporting date, the balance mainly composed of: RREBH S8 EaE:

()  On 17 March 2020, the Group entered into a loan () RZZTEZTF=-A++tH &
arrangement with the subsidiary of a joint venture — Top ER-KEEEX - REREN
Success BVI at a principal amount of HK$30,000,000, MBARLERTZH A&8
which was interest bearing at 6% per annum and /£30,000,000/%8 7T ' & F F E6%
repayable in 2025. During the year ended 31 March FFENRAR_Z_AFEE-R
2025, additional interest in Top Success BVI was BE-_Z-_RAFE=A=+—8H
acquired by the Group (see Note 34) and thereafter, LEFE AEERBEREEEN
Top Success BVI became a subsidiary and the loan RIMED (RHIRE34) - Hig 8
was transferred to an amount due from a subsidiary BRIEENAEMB AR HZER
accordingly. MEREEW—FEME QRN

8o

(i) A loan arrangement with the then associate — E-Post i)y "EBEBR_ZT_FTFMA
Limited entered by the Group on 22 April 2020. The Tt REER—RBEAR -
principal amount of the loan amounted to approximately E-Post Limitedz] 37 B9 & ;X &k ©
HK$4,991,000, with interest bearing at 5% per annum B % 454,991,000/ 7T 0 1%
and repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025. FHES%TE - EREEZS

“THE=ZA=1+-HIEFEE
% o
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B PSRRI

24 Other financial assets at amortised cost

(b)

(Continued)

Loss allowance

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a 3-stage model to measure loss allowance for other
financial assets at amortised cost.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit
loss provision for other financial assets at amortised cost and
the information about how impairment losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of
other financial assets at amortised cost are detailed in Note
3.1(b).

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is the carrying amounts of other financial assets at
amortised cost as the Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the carrying amount of other
financial assets at amortised costs are dominated in Hong
Kong dollar.
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24 BBERATIRZEME

(b)

BB E
BiERE

RZE_RAFR-_Z_MFE=A
=+—HB AEBEREEVERS
ZRES —M A A EEREER
B ERA-BEBREMNGTSREHEK
KIEZHM e mEENEBEE-

EREERRM O M8 HK A R
ZEHMSRMEENTEREEHBRE
UREBOAEREBENER
EEIIEXRIVE

REBIRBHXA R Eib S @

EEREEERBZEZHFBHERN
B 5E3.1(b) °
RZE_RAFR_ZT_MNFE=A

_+ E mﬁ$ﬁllﬂhﬁﬁﬂﬁ

HREER WEaEERRAIREE
FX B BR ZE@iﬂéFm%ﬁﬁ
RZE_RAFER_Z_WNFE=H4
=+ —B REEKANERZ Et e
REEMNBREENETE
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25 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Debentures and equity investments

Bz MR E

B O ERR I T

25 EBRBRHERAAEEIK

ZEMEE

2025
—E-REF

2024
—ZpuF
HK$’000
FATT

HK$’000
FERT

1,225 8,994

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

)

The fair values of the debentures and equity investments are based on
quoted prices in active markets and are classified within level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented within
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the consolidated profit
and loss (Note 7).

Information about the relevant accounting policy and fair value
estimation is provided in Note 41 and Note 3.3, respectively. For an
analysis of the Group’s exposure to the price risk and credit risk, please
refer to Notes 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

(i

(i)

(v)

BHEEBRARENDARBETIIRERE
BTSOBREAHEERERAIAEES

BEE—RA-

ERBREARBEIGZEREES
JIRNAHRERBRZRERHA-

BBRBRGEAABEINKZEREEDN
DRBEEZBHHNAHER [Htkas
(BR) —F8] (7)) -

FARBEETRERAABEMITHNE
B2 R ER 41 R 3.3 - BASE
EEGOHERRRIEERBRS N &
23 M 5£3.1(@) %3.1(b)
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26 Cash and cash equivalents

26 e RBEEEERE

2025 2024

—E_RE —TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FET

Cash at banks and on hand RITREeNFHERS 60,547 74,095
Short-term bank deposits (Note (i) RRHARTTE R (MIEEG) ) 42,509 25,940
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&EEIEE 103,056 100,035

Notes:

(i) It represents short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition.

(ii) Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

(i) Cash at banks and on hand of approximately HK$1,229,000 (2024:
HK$1,051,000) are denominated in Renminbi. The conversion of
Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances and
cash out of PRC are subject to the relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

B i

() HERAKBRSE RIBAR=EA
HARZ B HRITIF R

(ii) fﬁmfﬁémﬁ%taﬁﬁﬂﬁ RS
) S BRER A 2

iy WITRFHEES41,229,0008 T (=F
— P94 1,051,000 7T) Jh A A R ¥ &t
B LEARBENGE R LIBERINE
R ZEINETENRITEMR IR SE
H A B 788 <7 B BUT A A R AR
HNEE E I 37 Rl ROE AR o

HekReFERENE@ENRT
5 G EHE -

2025

—E-REF

HK$’000

FET
HK$ BT 86,111 81,707
Renminbi AR 1,229 1,051
uss$ ETT 14,916 16,102
Others Eith 800 1,175
103,056 100,035

Accounting policies — Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.
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27 Share capital and share premium

Authorised capital — ordinary iiiﬂﬁzﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ
shares of HK$0.01 each 0.01 8T E B

At 1 April 2023, 31 March

2024, 1 April 2024 and —E-NE=A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

27 RARKRGIRE

Nominal
value
of ordinary

Share
premium
% 43 % (B

HK$’'000

FET

Number of
shares
RGEE
(thousands)

(FB)

shares
EZEREE
HK$’000
AT

B/\—7—_£|EP;E‘H H -

31 March 2025 =t+—HB - -NF
MA—BE-ZZE_AF
=A=+—H 10,000,000 100,000 =
Issued and fully paid: E?ééﬁ&%(/% :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March E/\_ Z_=FMA—A/-
2024, 1 April 2024 and —E-NE=A
31 March 2025 =t+—HB - -MmF
WMA—BE-Z_h%F
=A=+—H 550,000 5,500 132,921
Notes: (b=

(i) The ordinary shares entitle the holders to participate in dividends, and (i)

TR TREAZERS SRR

to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The ordinary shares
entitle the holders to one vote per share at meetings in person or by

proxy.
(i) Share premium represents the excess of the issuance price of the
Company'’s shares over its nominal value.

Accounting policies — Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

WHAHERNBERI N SR
ERARBERABHRE-EBEBTHR
ABERZERREFEEH ARER
BN -

(i  BOEETEARR R RN FETERBR
HEfE-

B BE-RE
] B REDR - BEEFBN
53

5N e
B ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬂ%l&%i%ﬁi‘ﬁxzt-iﬁ
ES A ABFRTSREZ RS (B
) o

~

=
£
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28 Other reserves

Capital

reserve Other
(Note i) reserve

EXfife

(Wak) Atk
HK$'000  HK§'000

28 Hittf&E

Share
based
payment
reserve
iy
ARG E
HK$'000

Exchange
reserve Retained
(Note i) earnings

HNER
(Witii)  RERA
HK$'000  HK$'000

TERL BT

TER

gt gt
BJL BJL

At 1 April 2023 WZE-=FENA-AH 6,593 (1) 17,051 (3,035) 80,038 100,626
Loss for the year FREER - - - - (8,306) (8,306)
Currency translation differences ERZER
- Group S ] - - S (81) S (81)
- Joint ventures and an associate  —AERER
L UNG = - - (811) - (811)
Transfer upon lapse of share options B AR 2K AR B 85 1% = = (1,950) S 1,950 S
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R=Z-&E
ZA=+-BR
“E-MENRA-H 6,593 (1) 15,101 (3,927) 73,682 91,428
Loss for the year FREER - - - - (6,130) (6,130)
Currency translation differences ERZER
- Group K& - - = 34 S 34
- Joint ventures and an associate AL RER
—HBE LN = = = 539 = 539
Transfer upon lapse of share options ~ FABERRIE & MBS & - - (15,101) - 15,101 =
At 31 March 2025 RZZ_0#F
“R=t-H 6,593 1) - (3,354) 82,653 85,871
Notes: BT 5T
0] Capital reserve (i) B G

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, capital reserve of the Group represents
the aggregate values of share capital and share premium of certain
subsidiaries comprising the Group.

(ii) Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign
controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income as
described in Note 41 and accumulated in a separate reserve within
equity. The cumulative amount is to be transferred to profit and loss
when the respective foreign controlled entities are disposed.
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29 Trade payables, accruals and other 20 ESEMNFIE BitRER
=
payables H{th fE 3 ;R 1E
2025 2024
—E-RHE = Vit =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Fax Fx
Trade payables 2 5 e IA 5,435 10,734
Accruals and other payables: FERT FRIA N H M FE A 5RIA
Accrued expenses FEETR S 17,925 25,430
Contract liabilities BHEE 6,407 5,029
Other payables H A JE T IE 1,889 872
Accruals and other payables JE & 3R I8 N H Ath FE < SRR 26,221 31,331
Less: non-current portion B IEMBER D (2,045) 877)
Accruals and other payables JE &1 RRIE I H th & < 5RIB
— current portion —mENEB > 24,176 30,454
Notes: M EE
0] Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The credit i) HEBRENIRIAEEERE =
period ranges from 30 to 90 days. EHNT30HEQ90H °
(i)  For the year ended 31 March 2025, HK$5,029,000 (2024: i) REBEE-T-AF=-A=+—HLFE"
HK$5,419,000) of revenue recognised was included in the contract TR H U1555,029,0008 7T ( ZF U4 -
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period. 5,419,000/ 7T ) st AEA¥N & M B B4 -
@iy As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all trade payables, accruals and other (iii) R -ZAFR-ZIF-_NF=A=+—
payables of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their carrying A AEBMEESEMNKE B E
amounts approximated their fair values due to short maturities. REMEMFESEMNS -AREEBAA

B RENFEREEEALBEES -

(iv)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals and other vy AEBEHESEMRE ERERE
payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. b FEAS SRIBER R EE X ZLAETAHE -
The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice EORNREENEZHHMNE
date was as follows: DWW
2025
—E-HF
HK$’000
FET
0-30 days 0&30H 4,826 5,769
31-60 days 31£260H 378 4,604
61-90 days 61290H 226 -
Over 90 days H@90H 5 361
5,435 10,734
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29 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (Continued))

30

Accounting policies - Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that

have

been acquired in the ordinary course of business from

suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

29

EZEMNRE EFRER
H b BT RIE )

%ﬁﬁ%—%%&ﬁf&@ﬁ%ﬁ
I/

BEHRMNRIBZEFEBBREDR
HERBEERIEXREMES
BN REE W E S R E AR
BE-—FH—FARNINE (LB
RERRHE AL -—REBLERN
RE) DB ARBEE TRAIH
2IRFERBEE-

B FEMENREBERVNRAAE
BER UERREERMNE A RE

Borrowings 30 BE
2025
—E_-RF
HK$’000
FHT
Bank loans RITE R 71,128 40,951
Notes: B E

0

(i)

(i)

The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial covenants and
the Group is in compliance with the financial covenants as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

As at 31 March 2025, the borrowings of the Group were secured by
personal guarantees provided by directors of the subsidiaries of the
Group disclosed in Note 38(c). Included in bank loans to the extent of
approximately HK$50,651,000 (2024: HK$40,779,000) are mortgage
loans which are secured by properties of the Group with carrying
amount of approximately HK$124,383,000 (2024: HK$105,549,000).

The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximated their fair value
as the interest payable on these borrowings is either close to current
market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings are set
out in Note 3.1(c).

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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[0) RZBE-_RAFER-_ZT-_NMFEF=A=1+—
B AEENEEELSRBRELHNRG
BAEE-—HETERMRALY -

(ii) R-EBE-_RAE=ZA=+—H K&£EH
BETHAESEHRBARESRENE
AERIERBEIR (K E38(C) &) »
RITE KT B3 450,651,000/ 7T (=
T~ PU4F : 40,779,000 7T ) A AN £ B BR
T {8 49124,383,000/8 7L (= F M 4 :
105,549,000/ 7T ) & ¥) ¥ (B3 1 A9 1238

1 £
HTA°

(i) SRITEEMEEEREQAARBERE"
TTHRNZEBENRMMEEIRITH
BRIRREEBEIILE -

(vv AEEAEEMHEBENRRKDFESR
RETFES.1(0) °

vy RIEZAFEZT-_MF=A=+-—
A EEMERABENS T E
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30 Borrowings (continueq)

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

B O ERR I T

30 BE

TRARNEBERBEERGHAMERA
FEIE B B E R B HIAE B8l o H
EEN WEFAEMIRERE
BHRRNTE:

2025

—EBE-RHEF

HK$’000

FET
Within 1 year —FR 24,053 3,534
Between 1 and 2 years —EWFE 5,092 3,460
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 16,043 11,005
Over 5 years FFE 25,940 22,952
71,128 40,951

Note:

Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause which enables
the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was
classified under current liabilities.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were

B e

RITEERSRTAUENBITEIIRERE
BIEFR-RiL 2M&HRIBARBAE:

MHEFHERFENZMAT :

as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZpuF
Bank loans RITE K 3.94% 3.57%
Note: B sE -

The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2025 and 2024 as all the borrowings carry interests which are
benchmarked against Hong Kong Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).

Accounting policies - Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

RZBE-_RAFR-_ZE-_NF=A=+—H {&
BEMNAABESAEEERERS RARMAHE
BEN2BRATREENERABEARITAZERE
R ([BEBRITAFEREEX]FE-

BRBE-EE

BENEAABE(HMREELED
RHRR)NLHER - BEHERRE
BARAIER IR HRAZE
MBS HRENEREELREIME
HOAREERAUNERFNBER
B AR -

BIFAEEEREGRHEBETRER

AHRE=sREHREEL12EA
GHEESH Y BARSEE-
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EXp etk
31 Deferred income tax 31 EEMBBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary BEEMESMIIBIBEEEEENRE
differences under the liability method using the tax rates HEIEEMHHE 'féfﬁﬁﬁﬁ W R
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. RUEEZE2ETE
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there g B A& LR BT HE A A] A% BN EA
is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against MEEEANHBHEARENE A
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes BEREMEH Y RE— B #EA - Al
related to the same fiscal authority. RSB EERBELAKE-
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities ELERBEEMELCHRBAED W
is as follows: m
2025 2024
—E_RE —TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE E
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered ~ —Hi@+ 1@ A& K FUEH
after more than 12 months BEREBIREE 224 256
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFHIEAR
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered —iBia+ — 1@ A% # T UG HY
after more than 12 months BEEBIEAE (4,074) (3,836)
Deferred tax liabilities — net EERBAE-F5 (3,850) (3,580)
The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are RIEFTISTIBR B @M T
as follows:
2025
—E-HEF
HK$’000
FET
At beginning of year G (3,580) (3,460)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE— B AR 224 =
Charged to the consolidated profit and & #1825 ?EI (Mf5E11)
loss (Note 11) (494) (120)
At end of year RER (3,850) (3,580)
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BRI MR

31 Deferred income tax (coniinueq 31 EEFTBHR =
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEMEMEERBERAMTFE
for the years, without taking into consideration the offsetting of (RERR—BBRERAERENR)
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: HEINT

Accelerated tax depreciation

DB E T
2025 2024
—E"RHE —E O
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAR
At beginning of year G (4,290) (4,626)
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated WM& HFEZEH (FK) A
profit and loss (4,427) 336
At end of year RER (8,717) (4,290)

Set-off of deferred tax assets pursuant to R E K 5 BE K ET TR BE &
set-off provisions 4,643 454

(4,074) (3,836)

Fair value change of fixed
assets Tax losses Total
EEEEANEBERD HEFA @t
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

=®-BF _TCMF ZRCEF CF-CRE Z¥CRf 3R
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
TERL AL TERL AL TERL

Deferred tax assets ERHELE
At beginning of year REH] - = 710 1,166 710 1,166
Acquisition of a subsidiary KE-FMBA 224 - - - 224 =
Credited/(charged) to REFRETRFA/

the consolidated profit and loss (k) - - 3,933 (456) 3,933 (456)
At end of year RER 224 - 4,643 710 4,867 710

Set-off of deferred tax liabilties REBHBERHEL
pursuant to set-off provisions REAE - 5 (4,643) (454) (4,643) (454)

224 = - 256 224 256

2024/25 3 eprint EEARAT 221



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ERR MR

31 Deferred income tax (continueq)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Tax
losses in the PRC can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable profits for 10 years and tax losses in Hong Kong
and Malaysia can be carried forward to offset against future
taxable profits without expiry date.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had the following
recognised and unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Unrecognised tax losses expiring:

31 BEEMEBH o

EFEFTSBE & Y AR B B R A
BHEE BRI ERTE N E IR
B2 HBEBRELER P
B 1) 5% 7R /B9 18 AT A% B A 85 R 2R 10
FE) RPN R BB E KA E
BY 0 TR 5 18 A] A 8 DA K 3 R R B R
Rt F) - 4 e B o

RZE_RAFR_Z_MF=A
=+—H AXEEBEULNTEER
REROMBEBETAREBERK
JE SR A

2025
— S

2024
el
HK$'000
TET

HK$’000
FTET

AR TERR ) B HA T IR B 18

— Within 10 years —R10F R 24,098 18,951
— Unlimited —mHE R 15,556 10,618
39,654 29,569
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of AEBYEBEREYEE ?
HK$9,042,000 (2024: HK$6,829,000) in respect of tax losses 39,654,000t (Z& = Iy
amounting to HK$39,654,000 (2024: HK$29,569,000). Tax 29,569,0005% 7% ) 75 [ 01 £ F 15 B
losses in Hong Kong can be carried forward to offset against EFEQ,042,0008 T (ZE Y F :
future assessable profits and have no expiry date in 2025 6,829,000 L) R _ZE R F >

(2024: Same). Tax losses in PRC can be carried forward to
offset against future taxable profits for 10 years (2024: Same).

32 Dividends

No dividend in respect of the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024 has been declared as of the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.
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33 Notes to the consolidated statement of 33 SR EHRERKF

cash flows
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EEEENES
2025
—EBE_REF
HK$’000
FERT
Loss before income tax BRETISHLRIER (4,872) (6,084)
Adjustments for: AT EBEETHAE:
Depreciation of property, M- WERKRBITE
plant and equipment 13 12,654 10,442
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f§ F#EEEFTE 14 20,282 20,590
(Gains)/losses on disposals of HEME KB KZED
property, plant and equipment (Wzs) /&8 33(b) (36) 4,406
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary & — W B A 5 &Y E 18 - 155
Remeasurement loss on REEREZREZENE
investment in a joint venture &5 18 34 563 -
Impairment loss on financial assets % &t & 2§ (B &5 18 3.1(b) 65 1,972
Fair value (gains)/losses on FRBRBEAABEIEKZ SR
financial assets at fair value BEMNAAMBE (KR
through profit or loss &5 18 7 (1,674) 414
Dividend income A% B A (36) (25)
Gain on early termination of lease 1ZRATAR IEFH E UL S - (56)
Finance income BE WA 10 (1,625) (4,952)
Finance costs ELEZD N 10 3,522 3,518
Share of loss of an associate FEG— R N E EE 17 78 199
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ E(E & &% 2% 7 18 (1,638) 1,218)
Changes in working capital LEESE
- Inventories =& (5,101) 2,282
— Trade receivables —B ZRWHIA 168 (909)
— Loan receivables —EWER 5,923 =
- Deposit, prepayments and — iR AT FIE K E At FE UK
other receivables IR (747) 2,328
- Trade payables — B S ENKIE (5,299) (1,215)
- Accruals and other payables — FEET R IE N H &~ 5RIE (6,980) (3,883)
- Amounts due to directors —ENESKIE 259 16
— Amounts due from related — e 8 3 75 ;RIE
parties (49) 49
Cash generated from operations 2EE4LMIRE 15,457 28,029
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33 Notes to the consolidated statementof 33 SR ERERMET «»
cash flows continueq)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REHBREREXRDP HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and X BERIENAESRESR
equipment comprise: &

—ENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Net book amount (Note 13) BREFE (M5E13) 450 6,594
Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEME - ME M &

plant and equipment (Note 7) W/ (EBE) (ME7) 36 (4,4006)

Proceeds from disposals &S IE 486 2,188
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cash flows (continveq)

(c) Net cash reconciliation

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33 Notes to the consolidated statement of

B O ERR I T

33 EHBEERERHMT »

(c) REFHEHEK

Amount
due to
non-
Lease controlling
Borrowings liabilities interests
PE 13 E 42 H"
B8 HEAE ERFIE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#E T FHET FET
As at 1 April 2023 R-E-=#mA—H (22,682) (46,399) -
Cash movements: Ho&E):
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITIEEFT ?% RIA (71,548) = =
Repayment for bank borrowings EBIRITIEE 53,279 = =
Payment for lease liabilities SNAEEE - 25,264 =
Payment for interest expenses XNFMERZ (235
(presented as operating cash flows) #&E&RERE) 1,289 - -
Non-cash movements: HHLEE
Termination of leases BB A - 4,437 -
Addition of leases N A9 - (28,288) =
Interest expenses FEBRAX (1,289) (2,205) -
Foreign exchange adjustments SINPEE B - 19 =
As at 31 March 2024 RZZTZMF
=A=+—H (40,951) (47,172) =
Cash movements: He#E):
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEEFERIE (70,711) - -
Repayment for bank borrowings EgIRTT 1ﬁ“ 44,674 - -
Repayment to a non-controlling M) FE1EE AR M 2 08 5K
interest - - 2,500
Payment for lease liabilities THHEEaE - 25,396 -
Dividend paid to non-controlling B IEERERR S
interests - - 225
Payment for interest expenses SHMERX (235
(presented as operating cash flows) &ZBEERE) 1,902 - 37
Non-cash movements: FEH & &
Termination of leases ®IEFRAY - 1,407 -
Addition of leases #ANFE 4 - (6,128) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) Y& — BB A 7
(FH7E34) (4,140) - (2,500)
Dividend declared EEIRRKE - - (225)
Interest expenses MEF X (1,902) (1,583) (37)
Foreign exchange adjustments HINPE B B - 2) -
As at 31 March 2025 RN-ZE-AE
=A=+-8H (71,128) (28,082) -
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33 Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows continueq)

(d) Significant non-cash transactions:

Except for the non-cash transactions disclosed above, there
were no other significant non-cash transactions during the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

34 Business combination

On 17 May 2024, E-Boss Co., Limited (‘E-Boss”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
shareholder agreement with other two shareholders of Top
Success BVI, pursuant to which the Group and other two
shareholders agreed to subscribe for 290,000 and 70,000
new shares in Top Success BVI at the consideration of
HK$14,500,000 and HK$3,500,000, respectively. Upon
completion of the share subscription, Top Success BVI is held
as to 77.5% by the Group and Top Success BVI becomes
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Step
Acquisition”).

As at the completion date of the Step Acquisition, the
Group remeasured its previously held equity interest in Top
Success BVI to its fair value and recognised a resulting loss
of approximately HK$563,000, which has been recognised
to the profit or loss under “Other gains/(losses) — net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Details of the carrying value and fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interest in Top Success BVI at the
completion date of the Step Acquisition were summarised as
follows:

33

(d)

34

EHEERERMHE »

EXFREXRS:

REBEE T _AFRE_ZT_NF=
A=+—BIFE B EXM#HE
2B HI - BMEHMEKNIE
BERH -

EBKEo

R_ZE_MFEFRA++LH EZEH
BERAR ([ZEB] BXRRRHME
E2EMBAR) BREKEMNEM
FEL S HIVE SRR Sl N S
EREMREBRERZ D BIARE
14,500,000/ 7t 53,500,000/ JT 72
B£290,000/% }.70,0000% & 2% % & 5
H&{ﬁ"ﬁ/\\\ﬁXﬂuu\EﬁEWTé 'r‘H-JrERitX
MALBEFET75% R vﬂhwﬁ&
BRAANRIEEZENBAR ([H
WUWEE]) -

Ko WEEK B8 AEBIZAA
BEEVTEEATNERERER
A w iz R - A it 1% 3R 85 18 £9563,000
E%T_E'HEEQ\%H? AR THA

Wz (BE) —5$§5JIETZTE/\
R e

R FWBTK B RAEERER
MERERENERREZRAERLA
REEFEHANT

HK$’000
T

B{E

Fair value of previously held equity interest in

BERBREEFANREZ LA

Top Success BVI 1,000
Carrying value of previously held equity interest in R FZWHEBRIBERRBERLEEFAEN

Top Success BVI before the Step Acquisition A& #E 2 BRE A (1,563)
Remeasurement loss on investment in NEBRLEZREZENGTEERE

a joint venture (563)
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34 Business combination coninueq)

(i)

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Top
Success as at the date of Step Acquisition were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

34 ¥(¥KE6t

BEENRRABZAR

SREERS FUE R 2 &7
BEHT:

HK$’000
THETT

Property, plant and equipment Y BB R 4,203
Loan and other receivables JE WS B R I EL At FE R IR 26,305
Deferred tax assets BEREBIREE 224
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEFEEIEE 19,880
Accruals and other payables JE &t 5RIE I EL fth FE - 5K I8 (1,870)
Bank borrowings RITEE (4,140)
Loans from shareholders KREER (24,500)
Tax payables JE 1~ 3518 (102)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRARBEIIKRZAIBRNEEFER 20,000
Less: Non-controlling interest initially recognised & : FAUKBE B BB 4 0 3R 2 FE4E iR i 25
as at acquisition date (4,500)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AEEEGERARBESIRZTHER
attributable to the Group B EFEA 15,500
Satisfied by: AT 5 2 T
Cash consideration ReERE 14,500
Fair value of previously held equity interest in BERERRERBNREZAREER
Top Success BVI 1,000
15,500
Accounting policy choice for non-controlling (i) FEBEZNEFTHRRE

interests

The Group recognises non-controlling interests in an acquired
entity either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets. See note 16 for the Group’s accounting policies for

business combinations.

MM sE16 -

REBRAABEIFERERE
1 15 U B B B8 AT B Rl O% B EE L 1)
REWBEER I ERES AR
AEEXBEHMNETHR T2
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34 (S 6t
(ii) Y3 & Fm = A

34 Business combination continueq)

(i) Revenue and profit contribution

The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$4,670,000
and net profit of HK$669,000 to the Group from date of Step
Acquisition to 31 March 2025.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2024, consolidated
revenue and loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 would
have been HK$293,088,000 and HK$5,591,000 respectively.
These amounts have been calculated using the subsidiaries’
results and adjusting them for:

U differences in the accounting policies between the Group
and the subsidiaries, and

o the decrease on depreciation and amortisation
that would have been charged assuming the fair
value adjustments to property, plant and equipment
had applied from 1 April 2024, together with the
consequential tax effects.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition was
as follows:

Hﬂz%%% BadRBRREE—

—hEZAZT-HERALXSE
l H B U 254,670,000 7T K 48
669,000/ 7T °

WMKER _ZT_MFEMA—B %
£ RBE_E_RAF=ZA=1+—
HIEFERNEG W= REEK D 5
/293,088,000 Jt &5,591,000/%8
7E°-2$/i\%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ“<LATﬂ*&1§E’]W
NRIEEFESEL:

 AKBEANBARZMOEE
BEZE K

e BERR-_FT_NWFEHWA—HE
BME -BERRBETAR
EEFE AR ITER
BH - ARMERHHIWEE -

WEERzRERESTMOT:

HK$’000
TATT

Cash consideration BERE 14,500
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrikigiRe IR e EEIEB (19,880)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included T AREFEFFISRETEZRE N

in cash flows from investing activities ReEEEBEERAFE (5,380)
Acquisition-related costs W &% A8 B8 K A<
Acquisition-related costs of HK$208,000 that were not FFEEFERETR MO UERSB

directly attributable to the issue of shares are included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and in operating cash flows in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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35 Asset acquisitions through acquisition of

a subsidiary

On 1 June 2023, e-banner Limited (“e-banner”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
share purchase agreement with Mr. Li Cham Kuen (‘Mr. Li")
and Mr. Lee Wut Chuen (“the Vendors”), pursuant to which
the Vendors agreed to sell and e-banner agreed to purchase
10,000 issued ordinary shares in the share capital of WAB2
Group (HK) Limited (“WAB2"), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong, presently legally and beneficiary
held by the Vendors, representing 100% of the existing
issued shares of WAB2, and a loan due to Mr. Li at a total
consideration of HK$28,861,000.

The transaction was identified as acquisition of assets and
liabilities which required the cost of acquisition to be allocated
to individual identifiable assets and liabilities of WAB2 on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of acquisition as
summarised below:

B O ERR I T

35 EBRWE—BKNELQRE

TEEWRE

RZBEZ=FA—H ARFAZH
% 3E 2 &Kt B A Ale-banner Limited
([e-banner ] ) B ZFERELE ([
EENDRFFREE(TERI)F]
VYERBE B BEARELEM
e-banner[d E R HEWAB2 Group (HK)
Limited ([WAB2]) (—HR BB
MKZ2BRAR)RAFERBE
FEEEmEAN10,000RE #1T
TR (HHERWAB2IE BB %7K
MZ1I00% ) RERZREER 8B
K & 528,861,000/8 7T °

ZERZEHNSEERBENR
BARBKRBARARNKEBR SN
BE R A BED K EWAB2#H) {E 5l 7]
Bl EEMBE BEMEL

HK$’000
THTT

Property, plant and equipment Y B R 28,887
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRLEFEEIRE 30
Other payables H A F& ;I8 (56)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value acquired B UWEEIZ AR BEFERN SR EE
HEBRE 28,861

PNV ES-SEE
RefE 28,861

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration

WEERzREREDTMOT:

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition are

as follows:
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration BeRE 28,861
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FritigiRe R IE&EEIEE (30)

AARBERBGHREREZRER
ReFERBRLFA 28,831

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
included in cash flows from investing activities
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36 ERERE

36 Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of
the then Shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The
Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recoghise and acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible
Participants (as defined in the prospectus of the Company
dated 20 November 2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may
have made to the Group. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe of
new Shares in aggregate not exceeding 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time.

Pursuant to the Scheme, options were granted by the Group
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company,
to subscribe for shares of the company at pre-determined
exercise price during the exercisable period, as a part of their
remunerations.

49,500,000 share options were granted to the employees
of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023. The
fair value of share options granted was determined using
the Binomial option pricing model. The fair value of the
share options were approximately HK$17,051,000, and
the Group recognised a share based payment expenses of
HK$17,051,000 during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Zig EEgURNBEREBERE
UREBHED RETBBETEHD
BITIRD A930% °

REZTE AEERNEEREER
(BRARBES) RHBBREUR
ATEHEARAEBEE 2TEE
REARRRD FREFFHHN

— 55 -

 E_T_=F=A=+—B1
[ 49,500,00017 FE L C & T
rEBEE-EREBEBRENRA
BEDEA_EABERETEE
AFUBF-BHE_T_=ZF=A
S+ HLFE - BRENAAE
8 £17,051,0007 JT © &K £ B # R
R% 4 ~F FR B9 X 4917,051,000/8 7T °
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36 BARETTE »
RESTEREERENAAEBER

36 Share option scheme (continveq)

The assumptions used in estimating the fair value of share

options granted were as follows: FrRREZWT:
As at
the grant date
REHBEH
Share price I&(E HK$0.79
0.79% 7T
Exercise price TEE®R HK$0.79
0.79% 7T
Expected volatility T8 B R 1R 103.58%
Risk-free interest rate 12 | B A1) = 4.3%
Expected option term (life) TEHAME AR AE HAMR (S HA) 2
Early exercise behavior RATETA 2.2-2.8
Post-vesting exit rate FEERAX 15%
Fair value per share option FhEREL BE HK$0.332-0.355
0.332%&TTE
0.355/% 7T

The exercise price of the options was determined by the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date,
which must be a trading day; (i) the average closing prices of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the 5 consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares. The risk-free rate was determined with reference to
the vyield rate of the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes with a
similar to the expected life of the options. The expected life of
the options was the contractual life to maturity of the options.
The expected volatility of the underlying security of the options
was determined based on the historical volatility of the share
prices the Group. The post-vesting exit rate was determined
based on the historical record provided by the management of
the Group.

The Scheme was terminated by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2023
(“2023 AGM”). No further options shall be granted under the
Scheme. Outstanding options granted under the Scheme but
not yet exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Scheme.

BRENTEERBATSRZ&
SEEE: (BROHRBHAHR(AR
RPA)RBREBRARERPH
M HE: (NROHNEZREZELHAH
FISEEERZANBIMERRE
R TRT IR U (B ¢ (i) B £
MEE ERARNET2EERK
RENFHEECEENEESE
SR amErBEE - BRERHBFHS
EEBERENIHANANFS-
BREREEZOEBKEDRIE
75 B BB /O JE LR IR T B 5B
BERREDIREASEEEEM
RENELCHETAETE -

ZiER T _=FNA=Z+=H
BONARABRRBFRE ([=F
“=FRRBFAE]) LARRK
ko ZFETHERTERE - REZ
At BB H B R R 1T (6 O BB AR o A
BEY WA RIBEZTEITT(E-
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36 BRERTE

36 Share option scheme (continveq)

The following table summarises the movements during the TERBAMBE _—_ZT _HAF=A
years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024: =t+t—BRZZFEZMF=ZRA=+—
HIEFEHNES:
2025
bt 7R3
Exercise price No. of share  Exercise price No. of share
per share HK$ options  per share HK$ options
gR 5k
TEER I E®
BT BREXE BT BlREZE
Employees E&
At 1 April RN A—H 0.79 44,000,000 0.79 49,500,000
Granted BERE - - - _
Lapsed BEX 0.79  (44,000,000) 0.79 (5,500,000)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H - - 0.79 44,000,000

PR R 1T A BB AR RO JE
HEARITEEBIT

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Closing price

per share
immediately Exercise
before the price
date of grant per share

EEgd

No. of share

Grant date Expiry date options

B HA AT B = Bk
W E

HK$

BT

REBAH

&% B 8

16 December 2022
B2 —F+=ZA+H

16 December 2024 0.64
—E-pFE+=—A+XH

FR
TEER
HK$
BT

BREHE

0.79 49,500,000

At 31st March 2025
R-ZE-_RF=A=1+—H

At 31st March 2024
R-ZE-_WNFEF=A=+—H

44,000,000
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36 Share option scheme (continveq)

37

At the 2023 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption
of the new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group; to attract and retain personnel to promote
the sustainable development of the Group; and to align the
interest of the grantees with those of the shareholders of the
Company to promote the long-term financial and business
performance of the Company. The New Share Option Scheme
was adopted on 24 August 2023, being the date on which
the New Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional, and
the number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate is 55,000,000 new shares.

Commitments

Capital commitment

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

B O ERR I T

36 BRESTE

37

RZE_ZFRERBFRE L K
R ERMFTERERE ([FER
EEE]) SAEBATRAEERZ
HERIBRE FARSHASE
EFTEERIA BN Sk D 3R LA IR 5]
KBEBAS REAEBHAFE
BEURFABRANFZEAD
FIRENNZE B RBEARADTHN
RH B R EBHRIE -FTERE
R —_E-_=FNA=-+mWIAB (A
MEREFIRAEKGZA)R
Mo RBEEIRET R DA R R
# B 5A55,000,000 0 # I 1D -

A

BEXREE

ERBITHBMRELNERDX
m -

2025
—E_REF

HK$’000
T

Property, plant and equipment Y% BB REHE

280 9,625
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38 Related party transactions 38 BEAIRS
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party WE— A EESEEEEDTEK
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or EEERKRBEPHARNEEITEIE
significant influence over the Group in making financial and 1l T%_Eﬁji cE N A& EAR
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be SEBEME R2NDA-BEAAR
individuals (being members of key management personnel, BEA(BIETEEREAE TERRE
significant shareholders and/or their close family members) &/‘E?&?E’]Lﬁ%fﬁi ) S H A
or other entities and include entities which are under the ER BEIXGBMEAMN $ SE#A
significant influence of related parties of the Group where BEHEARYENE ’&% o 5 2k [A] 4% #
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be B &7 IR R A

related if they are subject to common control.

E=ZRAAK TIHEAARRAFR

The directors of the Company are of the view that the

KA A
following individuals and companies were related parties that =l =W\ % B 1T R 5 Sk 7 7 4 o
had transactions or balances with the Group: R 2 &

Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BRESER B EBER

Mr. She Siu Kee William Executive Director and chairman
REAEKLE WITEFREF

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Executive Director
HEHEE WITEF

Mr. Leung Yat Pang Executive Director

-5t WITEF

Mr. Leung Wai Ming Non-executive Director
REAEE FERITES

Mr. Poon Chun Wai Non-executive Director

IR LT FERITEE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit Non-executive Director

BN EE FERITEE

Mr. Fu Chung Non-executive Director
BALE FERITEE

Ms. Yu Mei Hung Non-executive Director
REALT FERITEE
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38 Related party transactions (continueq)

Name of related party

RER &R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

38 BEITRS =

Relationship with the Group
B 7K £R B BA 1R

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PSR B 7 52 A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
BT E

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok
BEERE

Mr. Cheng Hiu Man, Elliott
BEs L

Mr. Ma Lok Kan
BHRELEE

CTP Limited

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

eprint Limited

King Profit International Limited
ZHEEREBRAR]

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited

BEZHBRAF

Promise Properties Limited

KRB WEFRQF

VVV Limited

The then non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REERBERRERIFZERERITEA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REBEMBERRFFIERERIEE A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REBEMBRRFIERERIER A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REBEERRFFIERERIER A

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
REBEERRFFIERERER A

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR R ESES

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
ARENBRRAINAERE

Ultimate holding company (Note i)
R AT (MEE)

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A E S

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HASESEPEES

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A& FE

Controlled by the directors of the Company
HARR A E S

Controlled by the directors of the Company
HARR A E L
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38 Related party transactions (continueq 38 BMELRS

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

BELER AR E R 1R

Top Success BVI Subsidiary (2024: Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group)

REKRE MBAR (ZE-_MF: AKEMNBARNEERE)

Top Success HK Subsidiary (2024: Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group)

REREE MBAR (ZE-_MF: AKEMNBARNEERE)

Step Wise Limited Associate of the subsidiary of the Group

REFRAA & B [T B A R AV B & A A

Kimley (HK) Limited Controlled by the spouse of a director of the Company

REXR(HE)ERAF] MR R ES AR B

Note: Bt st

The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns approximately i A feprint Limited$s fl] o /A —F — 1Y
56.9% of the Company’s shares as at 31 March 2024, and is F£=FA=+—8eprint LimitedfE B A
beneficially owned by Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, R AI56.9%M 1 - WEHRMBEFLE L
Mr. Lam Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. On WA MEELEE  RERAEERR—
15 October 2024, Mr. Lam Shing Kai transferred all his shares in eprint MrEBERER - RZE-_MF+A+H
Limited to Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael. Since then and as at 31 March B MR fE L £ B E eprint Limited#Y
2025, eprint Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. She Siu Kee William, E2HBRNEFTREREE-BRER
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, Mr. Leung Yat Pang and ZEZRAF=HA=+—H eprint Limited
Mr. Chow Yuk Kau Michael. The directors consider eprint Limited, a ARBESLLE  FaHiE  RERALE
company incorporated in the BVI, being the immediate and the ultimate R-—BAERAEREEEREE &
holding company. ER Aeprint Limited (AR B R 2B S5t

MLz RB]) BE K R REERAE -
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BTSRRI
38 Related party transactions continueq) 38 BEIRS »
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HBREFNRS
The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with AREBEEBETGHETUTRS
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, ARAEERL BMELTRXHNIE
the related party transactions were carried out in the normal BEBBREPEASEESHER
course of business and at terms negotiated between the P BR KT ©

Group and the respective related parties.

—E-RF

HK$’000

FHET

Rental expense of plants and machinery, fEft s 2R EBHBE K&

premises, stores and carparks in

W2 BEPT - BE RIFES

Hong Kong payable or paid Hemz
— CTP Limited — CTP Limited 5,453 5,429
- Profit More Rich Limited —BEEZBRRAA 642 642
— Promise Properties Limited *1% ERMERRA 1,875 1,875
- VVV Limited — VVV Limited 2,605 2,605
— King Profit International Limited —ZEFEEFRARA 800 800
11,375 11,351
Emolument payable or paid JFE AT 3 2 1 357 B
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — PR U HE 52 A - 535
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan — (B LA 1,480 1,799
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok —BRELE 923 875
— Mr. Cheng Hiu Man, Elliott — ERRE B ST A 920 N/AZ i A
- Mr. Ma Lok Kan S bt 564 N/AT 38 A
3,887 3,209
|.T. license fee income receivable or ERHEREAREFERTIE
received WA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. — e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 103 102
Subcontracting fee payable or paid ERZENSERER
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 21 10
Revenue from sales of goods and FEY S E B E E M R WS
services receivable or received
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 2,206 2,013
Interest income from other financial assets/& U sk 2 U 1% # $5 5k AN 51 BR 2
at amortised costs receivable or Bt mEE 2 EBWA
received
— Top Success HK —REEE 119 1,800
Purchase of property, BEWE BERZHE
plant and equipment
- Kimley (HK) Limited —ReER (BEH)BRAT - 1,000
Interest expenses payable or paid R HKENFERX
- Mr. Cheng Hiu Man, Elliott —EBEEUE L 37 N/AA~ 5@
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38 Related party transactions (continueq 38 BMELRS =

(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEBASFHH
Key management includes the directors and senior TEERBABBEASEBREEZRS
management of the Group. BRERE -
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group, AEEBFZEBAEHM (BEMH
including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in Note 40, are HAOFTEBECESEHM) T
as follows:

2025 2024
—E-REF —Z UL

HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THETT

Salaries, discretionary bonus, allowances ¥ & « BII5 L 4T « =88 &

and benefit in kind BEWEH 10,878 9,481
Retirement benefit scheme contribution & 7K 18 F1 51 21 £t 7% 108 90
10,986 9,571

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by related (c) BMERFIEMAERMNIKR

parties

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for BESREE (ME30) RHEHEAE
borrowings (Note 30) and lease liabilities (Note 14) were as (PFE&E14) FRIR L IERAE RO T -
follows:

2025 2024
—E_RE —T-F

HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx TAT

Guarantees provided by directors of AAEEE A AR ESE
subsidiaries of the Group RHEER 37,876 35,500
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38 Related party transactions continueq) 38 BEIRS »

(d) Balances with related parties (d) BEEBER &t

2025 2024
—_E_RE —E 4

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TATT

Amounts due from related companies:  FEYF8:8E N &) 7KIA ¢

(Notes i, ii and iii) (B i i Kiii )
eprint Limited eprint Limited 19 -
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 44 16
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 314 312
377 328
Other financial assets at amortised costs: 1% #5551 B 2
(Note 24) Hitv e &E: (Mizk24)
Top Success HK BEEER N/ATER 29,576
Amounts due to directors: ENEEFHIE:
Mr. She Siu Kee, William KNIPBEEE 27 28
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki R AEAL 100 20
Mr. Leung Yat Pang R—EEE 100 =
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REFRLE 100 20
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & IR B A 20 20
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRAREE 20 20
Mr. Fu Chung EREAE 20 20
Ms.Yu Mei Hung REA L L 20 20
407 148
Lease liabilities: MERME:
CTP Limited CTP Limited 5,523 10,244
Profit More Rich Limited BEZHRAA 628 1,230
Promise Properties Limited RERBEMERR A A 1,834 3,593
VWV Limited VVV Limited 2,214 4,993
King Profit International Limited EHN R ER DA 783 1,534
10,982 21,594
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38 Related party transactions (continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties (continuea)

Notes:

(0

(i

(i)

(v)

The above balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate their fair values.

For amounts due from related parties, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, management considered that the
expected credit loss for intercompany receivables was immaterial, thus
no loss allowance was made.

The amounts due from related companies do not contain impaired
assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security.

The above related party balances with related parties are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.
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39 ARNAUBMRRKRE FHE
2E

R4 B BB AR R

39 Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

Statement of financial position of the Company

2025 2024
—E_RE —E 4
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 2 FET FATT
Assets BE
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  MMEARMEE 73378 73897
Current assets REBEE

Prepayments and other receivables 815 2k I8 K £ 4th & U 5718 186 187
Current income tax receivable JEU & HERPT IS Y 188 =
Financial assets at fair value BRETEARBEIEZ

through profit or loss TREE - 6,336
Amounts due from subsidiaries N NGBS 158,632 151,945
Cash and cash equivalents BehIBRE&EEER 2,109 2,514
... 161,115 = 160,982
Total assets EEHAT 234,493 234,879
Equity E
Equity attributable to owners of RAFHAE AR

the Company
Share capital & 7 5,500 5,500
Share premium & mE 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H G a 95,225 95,638
Totalequity __ %M=®® 233646 234,059
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities MEARE
Accruals FESHFIB 439 454
Amounts due to directors BT EE IR 408 148
Current income tax payable FEHE BIFTIS | - 218
Total liabilites ~~ ~~~ &f®#® 847 820
Total equity and liabilities EERaEHEEE 234,493 234,879
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39 Statement of financial position and 39 AREBBMRRREHEE
reserve movement of the Company B8
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AR BNRREK 2
(Continued)
Note: B 5T
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (8 AARHEER

Share based
Capital payment Retained
reserve reserve earnings

BEXRRE RECSKHES R E & F
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THBTT THT BT

At 1 April 2023 R-ZZTE-_=ZFWA—H 73,508 17,051 3,807 94,366
Profit for the year F A F - = 1,272 1,272
Transfer upon lapse of T IR A O A B
share options - (1,950) 1,950 -
At 31 March 2024 and R _—M4F
1 April 2024 =A=+—HAK
—E-MFmMA—H 73,508 15,101 7,029 95,638
Loss for the year FREIE - = (413) (413)
Transfer upon lapse of T B A AR O ok By B
share options - (15,101) 15,101 -
At 31 March 2025 RZZE_RF
ZA=+—H 73,508 = 21,717 95,225
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40 Benefits and interests of directors 40 ESFE R ER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=F
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam is the chief executive officer of the RBELTERAKRENTRAE
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for ARRHE_ZE_AF=ZA=+—
the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out as below. HIEFESES2HMEINBAT -
Other
emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer’s of the affairs of
Allowances contribution to the Company
Performance and benefits a retirement Share-hased  or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses inkind  benefit scheme payments undertaking
REZER
LCERL] |
ek EEL]
BEWER LR
He e RREA  REREUEN BAHEMHR REMR  EUNEHEHE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén ThR TER TET TR Thx TEr TR
Executive Directors #i7Es
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam SERE 330 3,755 335 - 18 - - 4438
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HegisE 640 480 40 - 18 - - 1,178
Mr. Leung Yat Pang (note ) 2Rk (W) 0 480 4 - 18 - - 1,248
Non-executive Director FUES
Mr. Leung Wai Ming PERLE 640 480 4 - 18 - - 1,178

Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EREEE 20 - - - - - - 240
Mr. Ma Siu Kit SkALE 240 - - - - - - 240
Mr. Fu Chung Btk 20 - - - - - - 20
M. Yu Mei Hung 4211+ 2% - - - - - - 240

3,280 5,195 455 - 7 - - 9,002
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40 Benefits and interests of directors coniniesy 40 EEBFZ R EZS =

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEHM »)
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam is the chief executive officer of the RBEERERTNEBNITHRAR-
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_T_NF=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEINDAT-

Qther
emoluments paid

the management
Employer's of the affairs of
Allowances contribution to the Company or
Performance and benefits aretirement re-based its subsidlary
Salaries bonuses inkind benefit scheme

e 4 2R j J e

HK$'000 HK$'000 > 00 HK$'000
T T AT Thn T
Executive Directors #nEs
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam fRELE 330 4020 3% - 18 - - 4,703
M. Chong Chetk Ki LT o0 70 100 - 18 . . 1078
Non-executive Director F9ES
Mr. Leung Wai Ming PEREE 20 720 % - 18 - - 1,003

Independent Non-executve ~ BUFUTES

Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai ERELE 240 - - - = o S 20

Mr. Ma Siu Kit Sknks 240 S = = = = S 240

Mr. Fu Chung fBRks 240 - - - - - - 240

Hs. Yu el Hung #2014 180 - - - - - - 180
1,710 5,460 460 - 54 - - 7,684

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in HE_ZT-_AFRER-_ZT_MF=A

any of the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. “St+—HBULEERNEFE - HMEEENK

EXREREEMAME -
Note: B sk -
0] Mr. Leung Yat Pang was appointed as executive director of the (i) R—BAER-_ZT_MENA=-+—H
Company on 21 August 2024, BEEARATNITES
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Benefits and interests of directors continueq)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 38(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2024: Nil).

40

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

B O ERR I T

BN RES

ESRRBARESRILERS
&

BE-_T-_AFR-_T-_ME=A
St HLEFE - HEINEME
SERRBAHRESKIEREEN -

RRUHEERBAF=SxH
KRB

BE_ZE_AFE_ZE-_NF=A
=t+—HILEFEE XQBILEFIRE

HEERBEAE=H X MHEARE-
ES-XZASEEEHRMNEA
ERERZEEENHETRZ
%%ﬂ\—%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁf@f&%Zﬁ

[ Py EE38(d) AT 32 B & Sh - RO AR ok

A=+T—BLEFEREMRMER I
BEMEF XZAFEFEFNEA
BREMZEESTNRETE Tmf £
MEFR EERMELEMBR

EERXZ REFASHLTH
EXER

ARRMEFT L FRIF RN AEF
MAES WS RAEEZEBMA
NEEESHESMBEEETHBEE
AR ZEARG THREH (=
T POF4E) o
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41

411

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are
for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit and loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit and loss where appropriate.
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41

411

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of loss of an
associate’ in the profit and loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AU SRR

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.2 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the Group
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the profit and loss. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in profit and loss within ‘other
gains/(losses) — net’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.2 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit and loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate. Current translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Closure of foreign operation

On the closure of a foreign operation that involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation, all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PRSI EE
41 Summary of other potentially material

41.3

accounting policies (continueq)
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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41

41.4

41.5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in
the following categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
be recorded in profit and loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ERR MR

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit and loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit and loss and presented in “other
gains/(losses) — net” together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
in profit and loss and presented net within “other
gains/(losses) — net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in “other gains/
(losses) — net” in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AU SRR

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(d)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including
cash and cash equivalents, loan receivables, deposits
and other receivables, other financial assets at amortised
cost, and amounts due from related companies, the
Group applies general approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which uses 3-stage expected credit loss model to
recognise the loss allowance from initial recognition. See
Note 3.1(b) for details.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are
not subject to review for impairment as the impairment
losses would include in the fair value changes and
recognised in “other gains/(losses) — net” in the profit
and loss.
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41

41.6

.7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
year end date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B ERR MR

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.7 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.7 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

41.8 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future

operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be

small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of

time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PRSI EE
41 Summary of other potentially material

41.9

accounting policies (continueq)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of an
associate are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

41,10 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.11 Loss per share

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic loss per share to take into
account the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

41.12 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit and loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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Five-year Financial Summary

FFEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—ERFE —EoNNFE —_E_=F —_FE_—
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET AT FAT FETT T
Results E
Year ended 31 March &HBZE=A=+—H
IEFEE
(Loss)/profit attributable AR Az IFE A
to equity holders fEfh (E518)
of the Company ekl (6,130) (8,306)  (14,243) 2,007 19,009
Assets and liabilites ZEREE
As at 31 March R=B=+—H
Total assets BEE 378,843 378,654 372,608 335,568 331,152
Total liabilities me s (135,599)  (134,586) (120,818)  (85,300)  (80,497)
Net assets BEFRE 243,244 244,068 251,790 250,268 250,655
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